ANTI-NOCICEPTIVE PROPERTIES OF THE ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF FRUITS OF XYLOPIA AETHIOPICA (DUNAL) A. RICH (ANNONACEAE) AND ITS MAJOR CONSTITUENT, XYLOPIC ACID.

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

In the

Department of Pharmacology,

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences

By

Elvis Ofori Ameyaw

KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY,

KUMASI

JANUARY, 2012

DECLARATION

The experimental work described in this thesis was carried out at the Department of Pharmacology, KNUST. This work has not been submitted for any other degree.

.....

Elvis Ofori Ameyaw (Candidate)

.....

Prof. Eric Woode (Supervisor)

.....

Rev. Prof. Charles Ansah (Head of Department)

ABSTRACT

The fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* are traditionally used to treat malaria, fibroid (uterine), fungal infection, rheumatism, arthritis, amenorrhea, boil, haemorrhoids and flatulence whilst the crushed seeds are applied topically on the forehead in the treatment of headache and neuralgia.

TLC and HPLC analyses of the extract revealed the presence of several compounds. The isolated xylopic acid produced a single spot in a number of solvent systems including petroleum ether: ethyl acetate (1:9) and hexane: ethyl acetate (1:9) and a single peak in HPLC analysis certifying the level of purity of the compound

The extract and xylopic acid exhibited antinociception in all the pain models used. In the acetic acid-induced writhing test, the extract $(30 - 300 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ ($F_{3,28}=14.37$, P<0.0001) and xylopic acid $(10 - 100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ ($F_{3,28}=20.56$, P<0.0001) significantly reduced abdominal writhes induced with acetic acid in mice with the highest dose of the extract inhibiting visceral nociception by 98.8 ± 0.8%. The highest dose of xylopic acid also inhibited visceral nociception by 93.8 ± 1.4%. Morphine $(1 - 10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ ($F_{3,28}=9.77$, P=0.00016) and diclofenac $(1 - 10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ ($F_{3,28}=4.04$, P=0.0165) used as controls in this model similarly exhibited significant antinociceptive activities in this test.

The extract $(30 - 300 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ ($F_{3,28}=6.93$, P=0.0012) significantly attenuated mechanical hyperalgesia in the Randall-Selitto test with maximum possible effect of $110 \pm 16.17\%$ at the highest dose used. Similarly xylopic acid ($10 - 100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$) significantly ($F_{3,28}=4.86$, P=0.0076) attenuated mechanical hyperalgesia with a maximum possible effect of 94.58 ± 21.6% at the highest dose in the same test.

The extract and xylopic acid were both relatively more effective in the Hargreaves thermal paw withdrawal test, (extract: $F_{3,64}$ = 8.10, P=0.0338, xylopic acid: $F_{3,64}$ = 7.11, P=0.03) compared to the tail flick test (extract: $F_{3,64}$ = 6.47, P=0.045, xylopic acid: $F_{3,64}$ = 19.5, P<0.0001).

For the acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain tests morphine was most efficacious. The extract was also more efficacious than xylopic acid. Xylopic acid was however more potent in reducing both the chronic muscle and knee pain whereas the extract was more efficacious in the chronic skeletal pain model.

The extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin ameliorated vincristine-induced neuropathic pain. Common symptoms experienced by patients with neuropathic pain such as mechanical hyperalgesia, tactile and cold allodynia were measured using Von Frey filaments and cold water. The extract ($F_{3,28}$ =5.12, P=0.006), xylopic acid ($F_{3,28}$ =3.72, P=0.0229) and pregabalin ($F_{3,28}$ =5.92, P=0.0029) produced tactile anti-allodynia. Similar effects were observed in the Von Frey intermediate and mechanical hyperalgesia as well as cold allodynia tests.

In the formalin test the extract and xylopic acid inhibited both neurogenic and inflammatory phases of pain. The antinociception of the extract, xylopic acid and morphine involved the inhibition of opioid, NO-cGMP, 5-HT₃, adenosine and muscarinic pathways Further determination of the mechanism of antinociception of xylopic acid carried using binding assay revealed the binding of xylopic acid to μ -opioid receptors with an enhancement of endogenous opioid binding. Capsaicin-sensitive C-fibres-glutamatergic-nociceptive pathway was found to participate in the antinociception of extract and xylopic acid.

Tolerance to morphine antinociception on the opioid receptors developed after chronic treatment for eight days but failed to develop to the extract and xylopic acid. Also morphine tolerance did not cross-generalize to the extract and xylopic acid. In order to elucidate the drug—drug interaction between xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac in combination administrations, isobolographic analysis was performed. The experimental ED_{50} 's (Z_{mix}) of xylopic/morphine combination were smaller than their corresponding theoretical ED_{50} 's (Z_{add}) in both phases of the formalin test indicating synergism. Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/diclofenac combination carried out also indicated potentiation of the combination as the experimental ED_{50} lay below the line of additivity.

The degree of potentiation calculated as interaction index indicated that the combination synergized to produce antinociception.

In summary these findings provide scientific data for the use of the fruit of *X. aethiopica* in the treatment of painful conditions and co- administration of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac may be said to be beneficial as their various side effects may be reduced due to lower doses used with potentiation of their therapeutic effects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I thank the Almighty God for bringing me this far (Isaiah 55, KJV). I am especially thankful to Prof. E. Woode, my supervisor for his fatherly guidance, support and assistance, Prof. R.K. Adosraku, Mr James Oppong and Dr. Kofi Annan for helping with the TLC and HPLC analysis, and Rev. Prof. Charles Ansah for his encouragement.

My deepest gratitude goes to Mr. George Ainooson who performed the binding studies for me when he had the opportunity to work in University of Michigan. Finally I thank all the lecturers, post graduate students of the Pharmacology Department.

Special thanks to my family for the support, encouragement and love provided during my studies which helped in making my study a pleasant one.

Special thanks to all the Laboratory Technicians, workers of animal house and general office of the department especially Mr. T. Ansah.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ANTI-NO	CICEPTIVE PROPERTIES OF THE ETHANOLIC EXTRACT OF	
FRUITS O	F XYLOPIA AETHIOPICA (DUNAL) A. RICH (ANNONACEAE) AND)
ITS MAJC	OR CONSTITUENT, XYLOPIC ACID	. 1
DECLARA	ATION	I
ABSTRAC	CT	Π
ACKNOW	LEDGEMENT	.v
TABLE O	F CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF F	FIGURESX	V
LIST OF P	PLATESX	Х
ABBREVI	ATIONSX	XI
СНАРТЕВ	R 1	. 1
1.1 GE	NERAL INTRODUCTION	. 1
XYLC	OPIA AETHIOPICA	. 2
1.1.1	Plant description	. 2
1.1.2	Geographical distribution	. 3
1.1.3	Uses of Xylopia aethiopica	. 3
1.1.4	Some identified compounds in the fruits of X. aethiopica	. 5
1.1.5	Bioactivities of fruit extracts of Xylopia aethiopica and xylopic acid	. 5
1.2 P	Pain	. 6
1.2.1	Classifications of pain	. 7
1.2.2	Nociceptive pain	. 8

1.2.2	2.1 Acute Pain	8
1.2.2	2.2 Chronic Pain	8
1.2.3	Mechanism of nociception	9
1.2.	3.1 Peripheral transmission of pain and wind-up	9
1.2.3	3.2 Central transmission of pain	9
1.2.4	Modulation of nociceptive processing	10
1.2.4	4.1 Descending Facilitation	10
1.2.5	Descending inhibition	11
1.2.6	Models of nociceptive pain	11
1.2.7	Non nociceptive pain	12
1.2.8	Models of neuropathic pain	13
1.2.9	Cross talk between the immune system and pain states	14
1.2.10	Management of pain	17
1.3 Jus ⁴	TIFICATION OF THE STUDY	18
1.3.1	Aim of the study	20
1.3.2	Specific objectives of the study	20
CHAPTER	2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
2.1 PLA	ANT COLLECTION AND EXTRACTION	21
2.1.1	Preparation of 70% ethanolic extract of Xylopia aethiopica (XAE)	21
2.1.2	Extraction of xylopic acid (15β-Acetoxy-(-) - kaur-16-en-19-oic Acid)	21
2.2 RES	SULTS	22
2.2.1	Thin layer chromatography	22

2	.2.2	High performance liquid chromatography and determination of some	
р	roper	ties of xylopic acid	. 23
2	.3 D	DISCUSSION	. 24
2	.3.1	CONCLUSION	. 24
CHAI	PTER	3 ANTI-NOCICEPTIVE EFFECTS OF THE EXTRACT AND	
XYLO	OPIC	ACID	. 25
3.1	INT	RODUCTION	. 25
3.2	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	. 25
3	.2.1	Animals	. 25
3	.2.2	Drugs and chemicals	. 26
3	.2.3	Acetic acid-induced writhing test	. 26
3	.2.4	Formalin- induced nociception	. 27
3	.2.5	Carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia	. 27
3	.2.6	Evaluation of the analgesic effect of extract and xylopic acid in Hargreaves	
tł	nerma	ll hyperalgesia test	. 28
	3.2.	6.1 Thermal paw withdrawal test	. 28
	3.2.	6.2 Tail-flick test	. 29
3	.2.7	Skeletal hyperalgesia	. 29
	3.2.	7.1 The effect of the extract and xylopic acid in acute skeletal pain	. 29
	3.2.	7.2 The effect of extract and xylopic acid in chronic skeletal pain	. 30
3	.2.8	Muscle hyperalgesia	. 30
	3.2.	8.1 The effect of extract and xylopic acid in acute muscle pain	. 30
	3.2.	8.2 The effects of the extract and xylopic acid in chronic muscle pain	. 31
3	.2.9	Tolerance test	. 31

3.2.10	Test for catalepsy	32
3.2.11	Rota-rod	33
3.3 stat	istical analysis	34
3.4 Res	SULTS	35
3.4.1	Acetic acid-induced writhing assay	35
3.4.2	Formalin-induced nociception	38
3.4.3	Carrageenan-Induced Mechanical Hyperalgesia using Randall- Selitto	39
3.4.4	Hargreaves Thermal hyperalgesia	41
3.4.	4.1 Paw withdrawal test	41
3.4.	4.2 Tail flick test	42
3.4.5	Skeletal hyperalgesia	45
3.4.	5.1 Acute skeletal hyperalgesia	45
3.4.	5.2 Chronic skeletal hyperalgesia	46
3.4.6	Muscle hyperalgesia	50
3.4.	6.1 Acute muscle hyperalgesia	50
3.4.	6.2 Chronic muscle pain	51
3.4.7	Tolerance Studies	56
3.4.8	Effect of extract and xylopic acid on motor coordination on the Rota-rod	56
3.4.9	Test for catalepsy and Grip strength assay	59
3.5 Dis	CUSSION	61
3.6 (CONCLUSION	66
СНАРТЕВ	A 4 EFFECT OF EXTRACT AND XYLOPIC ACID ON NEUROPATH	[C
PAIN		67

4.1	I INT	RODUCTION	67
4.2	2 MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	68
	4.2.1	Animals	68
	4.2.2	Drugs and chemicals	68
	4.2.3	Vincristine-induced neuropathic pain	68
	4.2.	3.1 Assessment of tactile allodynia and mechanical hyperalgesia	69
	4.2.	3.2 Cold allodynia	69
	4.2.	3.3 Mechanical hyperalgesia in the Randall-Selitto test	70
	4.3 S	tatistical analysis	70
4. 4	A Res	SULTS	71
	4.4.1	Assessment of vincristine-induced cytotoxicity	71
	4.4.2	Measurement of Tactile allodynia using Von Frey filaments of 4 g	72
	4.4.3	Measurement of intermediate hyperalgesia using Von Frey 8 g filament	72
	4.4.4	Measurement of Mechanical hyperalgesia using Von Frey 15 g filament	77
	4.4.5	Mechanical hyperalgesia in the Randall-Selitto test	79
	4.4.6	Cold allodynia	80
4.5	5 Dis	CUSSION	84
4.6	6 Co	NCLUSION	85
СНА	PTEI	R 5 MECHANISM OF ANTINOCICEPTION OF FRUIT EXTRACT O)F
XYL	OPIA	AETHIOPICA AND XYLOPIC ACID	86
5.1	INT	RODUCTION	86
5.2	2 MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	87
	5.2.1	Drugs and chemicals	87

5.2.2	Animals	87
5.2.3	Assessment of the mechanism of antinociception of extract and xylopic acid	in
the form	nalin test	87
5.2.3	3.1 Participation of the adenosinergic system	88
5.2.3	3.2 Involvement of the ATP sensitive K ⁺ channels	88
5.2.3	3.3 Participation of the nitric oxide system	88
5.2.3	3.4 Involvement of serotoninergic system	89
5.2.3	3.5 Participation of the muscarinic system	89
5.2.3	6.6 Involvement of the adrenergic system	89
5.2.3	3.7 Assessment of the opioid pathway	89
5.2.4	Radioligand binding assay	90
5.2.5	Glutamate-induced neurogenic pain	91
5.2.5	5.1 Capsaicin-induced nociception	91
5.2.5	5.2 Bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia	92
5.2.5	5.3 Prostaglandin E ₂ - induced hyperalgesia	92
5.2.5	5.4 Epinephrine-induced hyperalgesia	92
5.3 STAT	FISTICAL ANALYSIS	93
5.4 R	esults	94
5.4.1	Analysis of mechanism of action of extract and xylopic acid in the formalin	
test		94
5.4.2	Radioligand binding assay	98
5.4.3	Glutamate-induced nociception	99
5.4.4	Capsaicin-induced neurogenic pain1	02
5.4.5	Bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia1	.03

	5.4.6	Prostaglandin E ₂ -induced mechanical hyperalgesia	107
	5.4.7	Epinephrine-induced hyperalgesia	107
5.5	5 D	SCUSSION	112
5.0	6 C	ONCLUSION	116
CHA	PTF	CR 6 ISOBOLOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF THE ANTINOCICEPTIC	ON OF
XYL	.OPI	C ACID, MORPHINE AND DICLOFENAC COMBINATIONS	117
6.	1 In	TRODUCTION	117
6.2	2 M	ATERIALS AND METHODS	119
	6.2.1	Animals	119
	6.2.2	Drugs and chemicals	119
6.3	3 Is	obolographic analysis of xylopic acid/morphine, xylopic acid/diclofenac	
co	mbin	ations	119
6.4	4 St	atistical analysis	122
6.	5 R	ESULTS	123
	6.5.1	Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid and morphine	123
	6.5.2	Isobologram of xylopic acid and morphine	125
	6.5.3	Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/diclofenac combination	127
	6.	5.3.1 Acetic acid-induced writhing assay	127
	6.5.4	Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/ diclofenac and their fractions	127
	6.5.5	Isobologram of xylopic acid and diclofenac	129
6.	6 D	SCUSSION	130
6.7	7 C	ONCLUSION	132
CHA	APTH	CR 7	133
GEN	IER A	AL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	133

CONCLUSION	
7.1 RECOMMENDATIONS	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 ED ₅₀ values of drugs in the nociceptive tests. 45
Table 3.2 Effect of XAE (30-300 mg kg ⁻¹), XA (10-100 mg kg ⁻¹) and morphine (40 mg kg ⁻¹)
¹) on grip strength measurement before (B) and after (A) XAE, XA and morphine administration 59
Table 3.3 Effect of XAE (30-300 mg kg ⁻¹), XA (10-100 mg kg ⁻¹) and morphine (40 mg kg
¹) on the total time (in seconds) spent on the bar in the Bar test of catalepsy before
(B) and after (A) XAE, XA and morphine administration
Table 3.4 Effect of XAE and XA on motor coordination measured as time spent on the rota-
rod60
Table 5.1 IC50 values from the competitive binding studies 100
Table 6.1 $ED_{50} \pm S.E.M.$ of morphine and xylopic acid for both phases of the formalin test.
Table 6.2 Theoretical and experimental ED50 \pm S.E.M. of morphine and xylopic acid for both
phases of the formalin test with their computed interaction indices125
Table 6.3 $ED_{50} \pm S.E.M.$ of diclofenac and xylopic acid in the acetic acid-induced writhing
test

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Dried Fruits of Xylopia aethiopica
Figure 1.2 Structure of Xylopic acid
Figure 1.3 Summary of pain states and animal models14
Figure 2.1 HPLC finger print of extract and xylopic acid
Figure 3.1 Effect of Extract and xylopic acid in the acetic acid- induced writhing test in mice
Figure 3.2 shows the effect of morphine and diclofenac in the acetic acid induced - writhing test in mice
Figure 3.3 Effect of extract, xylopic acid and morphine in the formalin-induced nociception in mice
Figure 3.4 illustrates the effect of extract and xylopic acid on carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rat in the Randall- Selitto model model
Figure 3.5 Effect of morphine and diclofenac on carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rat in the Randall- Selitto model
Figure 3.6 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on Hargreaves thermal paw withdrawal test
Figure 3.7 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on the tail withdrawal test
Figure 3.8 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on the paw withdrawal latency in the Randall-Selitto test
Figure 3.9 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of XAE, XA and morphine in acute knee pain in rats
Figure 3.10 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on the ipsilateral and contralateral paw (insets) withdrawal latency in the Randall-Selitto test

Figure 3.11 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of XAE, XA and morphine chronic knee pain in rats
Figure 3.12 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on grip strength test in acute muscle pain.52
Figure 3.13 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of XAE, XA and morphine in the acute muscle pain in rats
Figure 3.14 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on the ipsilateral and contralateral (insets) paw withdrawal latency in chronic muscle pain the Randall-Selitto test
Figure 3.15 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of XAE, XA and morphine in chronic muscle pain in the Randall-Selitto test
Figure 3.16 Effect of extract, xylopic acid and morphine challenge on the time course curve of the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking of mice chronically treated with vehicle, extract, xylopic acid or morphine for 9 days
Figure 3.17 Effect of extract, xylopic acid and morphine challenge on mice chronically treated with vehicle, extract and xylopic acid or morphine for 9 days on the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test in mice AUC for phase 1 and phase 2 of formalin-induced pain
Figure 4.1illustrates daily weights and survival curve for groups of rats receiving vincristine
Figure 4.2 Effect of XAE, XA and pregabalin on the vincristine- induced neuropathic pain (tactile allodynia, 4 g) in rats73
Figure 4.3 Dose–response curves for the tactile anti-allodynic effect of XAE, XA and pregabalin in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain74
Figure 4.4 Effect of XAE, XA and pregabalin on vincristine- induced neuropathic pain (8 g) in rats
Figure 4.5 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effects of XAE, XA and pregabalin in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain (8 g)

- Figure 4.10 Effect of XAE, XA and pregabalin on vincristine-induced cold allodynia83

- Figure 5.5 Competition binding curve of $[^{3}H]$ Diprenorphine binding to the μ -opioid receptor in the presence of various concentrations of xylopic acid or DAMGO..100

Figure 5.6 Effect of extract, xylopic acid and ketamine on the glutamate-induced neurogenic pain
Figure 5.7 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of extract, xylopic acid and ketamine in the glutamate-induced neurogenic pain assay in mice102
Figure 5.8 Effect of extract and xylopic acid on capsaicin-induced nociception104
Figure 5.9 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of XAE and XA in the capsaicin-induced neurogenic pain assay in mice
Figure 5.10 Effect XAE and XA on Bradykinin-induced mechanical hyperalgesia105
Figure 5.11 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of XAE and XA in the bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia in rats
Figure 5.12 Effect of XAE, XA and morphine on the time course curve of Prostaglandin E ₂ -induced mechanical hyperalgesia
Figure 5.13 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of XAE, XA and morphine in the prostaglandin E ₂ -induced hyperalgesia in rats
Figure 5.14 Effect of XAE, XA and propranolol on epinephrine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia
Figure 5.15 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of XAE, XA and propranolol in the epinephrine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rats
Figure 6.1 Effect of xylopic acid, morphine and fractions of their combination on formalin- induced licking test
Figure 6.2 Dose response curves for xylopic acid and morphine and fractions of their combination for phase 1 and phase 2 of the formalin-induced licking test and Isobologram for the combination of morphine and xylopic acid in phase I and inphase II of formalin test in mice
Figure 6.3 Effect of (a) xylopic acid, diclofenac and fractions on acetic acid- induced writhing test in mice

LIST OF PLATES

Plate 1 TLC results of extract and xylopic acid	
---	--

ABBREVIATIONS

5 – HT	5-hydroxytryptamine
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AMPA	α-Amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methylsoxazole-4- propionic acid
COX	Cyclooxygenase
C RP	C – reactive protein
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ED ₅₀	Dose of drug which elicits 50% of the maximum response
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulate
Extract/XAE	70% ethanolic extract of <i>Xylopia aethiopica</i>
GAFCO	Ghana agro food company
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
1CR	Imprinting control region

IASP	International association for the study of pain
IKK	IkB kinase
IL	Interleukin
KNUST	Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein
L-NAME	N ^G -nitro-arginine methyl ester
MOR	Mu opioid receptor
MPE	Maximum possible effect
NE	Norepinephrine
NIK	NF-κB-inducing kinase
NMDA	N-methyl D-aspartate
NO	Nitric oxide
NSAID	Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs
p.o	Per os
PG	Prostaglandin

PWT	Paw withdrawal threshold
SERT	Serotonin transporter
SNRI	Serotonin and noradrenaline reuptake inhibitors
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
TNF	Tissue necrosis factor
WHO	World health organization
XA	Xylopic acid
Zadd	Theoretical ED ₅₀

Chapter 1

1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The use of herbs for the treatment of diseases can be dated to pre-historic times. Medicinal application of natural products can be traced back to at least 5000 years. Traditional medicine has been practiced throughout the world well before the introduction of western medicine. Herbs have been used for healing over centuries, while Western medicine has a relatively short history of a few hundred years (Goldman, 2001). Records show that ancient Egyptian medicine in 1000 B.C. cultivated garlic, opium, castor oil, coriander, mint, indigo, and other herbs for medicine. The Old Testament also mentions the cultivation and use of herb including mandrake, vetch, caraway, wheat, barley, and rye (Girish and Shridhar, 2007). At present, there are more than 85,000 plant species that have been acknowledged for medical use globally (Balunas and Kinghorn, 2005). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that almost 75% of the world's population has therapeutic experience with herbal remedies (Liu and Wang, 2007). This is principally because of a belief that herbal remedies may have fewer side effects and can enhance the effects of conventional agents or be an alternative treatment, (Desai and Grossberg, 2003). In Ghana, it is anticipated that there is one traditional doctor to approximately four hundred (400) people as opposed to one allopathic or orthodox doctor to every twelve thousand (12,000) people. The fruit of *Xylopia aethiopica* are used to treat several human diseases including pain (Igwe *et al.*, 2003). Plants have served as sources of therapeutic agents. Several compounds such as aspirin (from Salix alba), morphine (from Papaver somniferum) used to treat pain were derived from plants (Balunas and Kinghorn, 2005). The fruits of Xylopia aethiopica are used to treat various painful conditions. The fruits contain among several compounds kaurenoic acid and xylopic acid (fig. 1.2). Kaurenoic acid has been reported to possess antiinflammatory as well as analgesic properties (Block et al., 1998). Interestingly there is no scientific report on the analgesic properties of xylopic acid although it is closely related to kaurenoic acid. In the light of the above, ethanolic fruit extract of *Xylopia aethiopica* and its major constituent xylopic acid were investigated for their anti-nociceptive properties.

XYLOPIA AETHIOPICA



Figure 1.1 Dried Fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* Botanical source: from dried fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* of family Annonaceae.

Local names; Twi----- Hwenteaa (slender nose)

Hausa –Kimba Ewe-----Etso

Fante ---Hwentia

1.1.1 Plant description

Xylopia aethiopica is a composite name derived from the Greek word 'xylon pikron' meaning 'bitter wood' and aethiopica refers to its Ethiopian origin. It is a slim, tall, evergreen, aromatic tree 15–30 m high and about 60–70 cm in diameter with straight stem. It has grey-brown, smooth or finely vertically fissured and peeling easily bark.

The leaves are simple, elliptical, alternate, oblong to ovate, cuneate or slightly rounded at the base, measuring 4-10 cm long and 2-4 cm broad with lateral nerves and entire margin (Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

The tree bears fruit of about a dozen narrow carpels which are stalkless with white to paleyellowish brown wood. The fruit appear greenish with 20-30 capsules which turn red when ripe and black when dried. In West Africa, fruiting occurs in December-March and June-September and harvesting time runs from February to May and again from August to October. The fruits are harvested with the inflorescence. Typical fruit yields are about two to three metric tons per annum per hectare (Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

The plant grows rapidly during the first three years. The trees are planted eight meters apart. In Ghana, it has been successfully intercropped with other staple food items in the first four years (Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

1.1.2 Geographical distribution

The plant occurs as fringing and deciduous in forests and sometimes cultivated in homes and gardens. The plant is widely distributed in Ghana, Democratic Republic of Congo, Ethiopia, Kenya, Mozambique, Nigeria, Senegal, Tanzania and Uganda (Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

1.1.3 Uses of Xylopia aethiopica

Various parts of *Xylopia aethiopica* are used to treat diverse diseases which can be grouped as follows:

Fruits: The fruits are used to treat malaria, fibroid (uterine), fungal infection, amenorrhea, syphilis, rheumatism, arthritis, boil, haemorrhoids, flatulence, bronchitis, hypertension, diabetes, dysentery (Sofowara, 1978; Iwu *et al.*, 1992; Nnodim *et al.*, 2011) and female infertility (primary and secondary) (Igwe *et al.*, 2003; Tatsadjieu *et al.*, 2003; Ghana Herbal

Pharmacopoeia, 2007). The fruits are smoked and inhaled to treat cough, stomach ache, dizziness, amenorrhoea, bulimia (eating disorder), lumbago and neuralgia. It is also used a calmative, purgative, repulsive to pain, and in the treatment of boils and skin eruptions. The crushed, powdered fruit mixed with shea butter and coconut oil is used as creams, cosmetic products and perfumes (Tatsadjieu *et al.*, 2003; Ghana Herbal Pharmacopoeia, 2007; Orwa *et al.*, 2009). The dried fruits are also important as flavourings to prepare local soups in West Africa.

Seeds: The crushed seeds are applied topically on the forehead to treat headache and neuralgia. Again the seeds are taken as a decoction or concoction or chewed and swallowed in the treatment of haemorrhoids' numbress, epilepsy and anaemia (Igwe *et al.*, 2003).

The seeds were used by traditional medicine practitioners and traditional birth attendants to induce placental discharge postpartum. Due to its (*X. aethiopica*) traditional usefulness after child birth, it was employed in government hospitals in Ghana for its abortifacient properties (Igwe *et al.*, 2003).

Leaves: The leaves are used to treat dyspepsia, laryngitis, splenomegaly and headache (Igwe *et al.*, 2003).

Stem bark: The stem bark is used for dysentery and female infertility (primary and secondary). The stem serves as a good source of firewood. The wood is used as a general purpose timber in tool handles, beds, oxen yokes, knife sheaths and spear handles (Tatsadjieu *et al.*, 2003; Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

Roots: The odoriferous roots of the plant are employed in tinctures, administered orally to expel worms and other parasitic animals from the intestines or in teeth rinsing and mouth wash extracts against toothaches and as dressing for the treatment of cancer (Asekun and Adeniyi, 2004; Orwa *et al.*, 2009).

1.1.4 Some identified compounds in the fruits of X. aethiopica

The fruits of *X. aethiopica* have been shown to contain about 98 compounds (Konan *et al.*, 2009) and among them are essential oil, volatile oil, resin, arocene, rutheroside fat, bitter principles, alkaloids, glycosides, saponins, tannins, mucilages, xylopic acid (fig. 1.2) and kaurenoic acid. Carbohydrate, protein and free fatty acid have been identified in the fruit and these confer on the fruit some nutritional values (Igwe *et al.*, 2003).



Molecular weight: 360.487 g/mol Molecular formula: C₂₂H₃₂O₄

Figure 1.2 Structure of Xylopic acid

1.1.5 Bioactivities of fruit extracts of Xylopia aethiopica and xylopic acid

Antimicrobial properties

• Xylopic acid and other diterpene isolates have been reported to exhibit antimicrobial action against gram positive and negative bacteria and *Candida albicans* (Boakye-Yiadom *et al.*, 1977).

• Antimicrobial and antifungal activity of ethanolic extract of the fruits hve also been demonstrated (Boakye-Yiadom *et al.*, 1977)

• Xylopic acid and acetylgrandifloric acid (ent-kaur-16-en-15 alpha-acetyloxy-19-oic) an epimer of xylopic acid (ent-kaur-16-en-15 beta-acetyloxy-19-oic) are reported to exhibit antibacterial activity (Davino *et al.*, 1989).

Insecticidal

Hexane and alcoholic extracts of *X. aethiopica* have been shown to posses termite antifeedant activity (Lajide *et al.*, 1995).

Cardiovascular effects

Extract of the fruits, xylopic acid and kaurenoic acid have been reported to posses diuretic and vasorelaxant properties in rodents (Somova *et al.*, 2001).

Analgesic and Anti inflammatory effects

- Kaurenoic acid from the extract has been reported to exhibit analgesic and antiinflammatory activities in rodents (Ekong and Ogan, 1968; Ogan 1971; Block *et al.*, 1998).
- The fruit of *Xylopia aethiopica* has been shown to possess antioxidant properties (Nnodim *et al.*, 2011).

Ocular and hypoglycaemic effects

The fruit of *Xylopia aethiopica* has been demonstrated to act as hypolipidemic and hypoglycaemic agent (Nnodim *et al.*, 2011).

Aqueous fruit extract of *Xylopia aethiopica* has been shown to reduce intraocular pressure in human subjects (Uzodike and Onuoha, 2010). In the light of the above the fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* were screened for possible effects against pain

1.2 Pain

Pain is an unpleasant experience that is primarily associated with tissue damage or described in terms of tissue damage or both (Merskey, 1994). It forms part of most diseases and it is usually the major factor of the disease that alerts the patient to seek medical treatment (Schim and Stang, 2004). Pain is subjective and that makes the patient the only one to describe the intensity and quality of the pain (Clancy and Mcvicar, 1992). Pain impacts negatively on quality of life affecting several aspects of health and well-being

including relationships, cognitive abilities and the capacity to work (Wilhelm *et al.*, 2009). Despite the frequency of pain symptoms, individuals often do not obtain satisfactory relief of pain and the reason for this is attributable to inappropriate or insufficient use of existing therapies (Mcmahon and Koltzenburg, 2006; Chen and Tang, 2011). Pain experienced by patients may be due to the demand for the activation of recuperative motivational system needed for restoration of one's health (Mcnally, 1999). The result of this is the activation of recuperative motivational system by pain that leads to promoting rest and body care at the same time inhibiting other types of motivation such as hunger, thirst, and exploration. The behavioural changes produced by sickness are similar to those produced by pain. Indeed there is a clear parallel between the functional significance of pain and febrile illness. Thus, just as analgesia may be an important component of an animal's recuperative behavioural repertoire. In fact pain is now considered the fifth vital sign, thus making pain assessment equally important as obtaining a patient's temperature, pulse, blood pressure, and respiratory rate (Chapman, 2005).

1.2.1 Classifications of pain

Pain can be classified as Nociceptive or Non Nociceptive pain (Kamal and Abdulrahman, 2002). Nociceptive pain can further be divided into Somatic and Visceral pain while non nociceptive pain can be divided into neuropathic pain and sympathetic pain. Nociception is defined as the neural processes of encoding and processing noxious stimuli. This activity is initiated by nociceptors, (also called pain receptors), that can detect mechanical, thermal or chemical changes, above a set threshold. Once stimulated, a nociceptor transmits a signal along the spinal cord to the brain (Loeser and Treede, 2008).

1.2.2 Nociceptive pain

Nociceptive pain is the type of pain that arises from stimulation of nociceptors from somatic (body wall) and visceral (internal organs) structures. Nociceptive pain, similar to neuropathic pain can occur both in the acute and chronic form. The sensory input is mediated via nociceptors such as 5-HT₃, bradykinin and vanilloid receptors coupled to excitatory, cation-permeable ion channels. This causes sensitization of nocisponsive peripheral afferent fibres by the engagement of intracellular transduction systems including the activation of adynylyl cyclase and phospholipase C leading to a further increase in the intensity and duration of nociceptive impulse discharges (Mcnally, 1999). Higher brain centres such as periaqueductal gray matter, raphe nucleus and anterior cingulated cortex have been associated with nociception (Millan, 1999; Loeser and Treede, 2008).

1.2.2.1 Acute Pain

Acute pain is short lasting and usually manifests in ways that can be easily described and observed. It can be described as fulfilling physiological roles by its inherent protective nature (Millan, 1999). The alerting function of acute pain reflects the phasic activation of sensors (nociceptors) by potentially dangerous stimuli exceeding the physiological range but just below tissue damaging threshold. The response to this alert may manifest as sweating or increased heart rate. The sensation of pain of acute form is one of the vital functions of the nervous system. If the causes are not eliminated, it persists and becomes chronic generating fear and anxiety (Ito *et al.*, 2001). Intensity of acute pain is from mild to severe and lasts less than 3 to 6 months (Calvino *et al.*, 1992; Schim and Stang, 2004; Abdel-Salam and El-Batran, 2005).

1.2.2.2 Chronic Pain

Chronic pain is defined as pain lasting for more than 6 months. It is much more subjective and not as easily described as acute pain. It persists beyond the point at which healing should occur and effectively treating this type of pain poses a great challenge for physicians (Deleo, 2006). This type of pain is described as pathological (Millan, 1999) and arises from several disease states such as musculoskeletal pain and cancer pain. Chronic, unremitting pain in deep tissues that results from cancer, cancer chemotherapy or musculoskeletal disorders adversely affects a disproportionately large portion of the population. Approximately 14 million people have cancer worldwide (Kehl *et al.*, 2003). More than 70% of patients in advanced stages of this disease experience chronic pain (World Health Organization, 1996) and more than 36% of patients with cancer experience pain sufficiently severe to interfere with normal function (Kehl *et al.*, 2003). Non-malignant musculoskeletal pain relatively affects even larger share of the population and is one of the most frequent symptoms for which medical assistance is sought (Kehl *et al.*, 2003).

1.2.3 Mechanism of nociception

1.2.3.1 Peripheral transmission of pain and wind-up

Tissue or nerve injury leads to the production and release of a number of chemical mediators including bradykinin, serotonin and prostaglandins, which can originate locally or from cells that infiltrate the site of injury. A mixture of these agents known as inflammatory 'soup' contributes to changes in vascular permeability, resulting in erythema and oedema. The inflammatory 'soup' also sensitizes peripheral nociceptors primarily C-fibres by initiating a cascade of events that change ionic conductance of the peripheral nociceptor terminal. The nociceptive input is further processed spinally (Millan, 1999; Ito *et al.*, 2001).

1.2.3.2 Central transmission of pain

The central analgesia system is mediated by 3 major components: the periaqueductal grey matter, the nucleus raphe magnus and the nociception inhibitory neurons within the dorsal horns of the spinal cord, which act to inhibit nociception-transmitting neurons also located

in the spinal dorsal horn. Pain transmission through the spinal cord involves the lateral spinothalamic tract pathway. The lateral spinothalamic tract has two pathways for nociceptive information to reach the brain: the neospinothalamic tract for "fast spontaneous pain" and the paleospinothalamic tract for "slow increasing pain". The neospinothalamic tract is responsible for fast pain which travels via type A δ fibers to terminate on the dorsal horn of the spinal cord where they synapse with the dendrites of the neospinothalamic tract. The axons of these neurons travel up the spine to the brain and cross the midline through the anterior white commissure, passing upwards in the contralateral anterolateral columns and then terminate on the ventrobasal complex of the thalamus and synapse with the dendrites of the somatosensory cortex. The paleospinothalamic tract is involved in slow pain transmission via slower type C fibers to laminae II and III of the dorsal horns, together known as the substantia gelatinosa. Impulses are then transmitted to nerve fibers that terminate in lamina V, also in the dorsal horn, synapsing with neurons that join fibres from the fast pathway, crossing to the opposite side via the anterior white commissure, and travelling upwards through the anterolateral pathway. These neurons terminate throughout the brain stem, with one tenth of fibres stopping in the thalamus and the rest stopping in the medulla, pons and periaqueductal grey of the midbrain tectum (Millan, 1997; Millan, 2002; Kivell and Prisinzano, 2010).

1.2.4 Modulation of nociceptive processing

1.2.4.1 Descending Facilitation

Descending pathways exerts both inhibitory and facilitator actions in the dorsal horn. The neurotransmitters found in the spinal cord may exert multiple actions in the dorsal horn as a function of the type of neurone targeted and the receptor activated. In chronic pain states, impairment of the descending pain inhibitory system gives rise to an enhanced descending pain facilitatory system. This is chiefly mediated via the glutamatergic pain system. Moreover, descending inhibitory and facilitatory pathways to the dorsal horn may even be derived from the same structure. There is evidence that descending facilitatory mechanisms

exert excitatory actions both on the terminals of nociponsive peripheral afferent neurons, as well as on intrinsic dorsal horn neurones (Jones, 1992; Millan, 1997).

1.2.5 Descending inhibition

Descending pathways originating in the brainstem and other cerebral structures play an important role in the modulation and integration of nociceptive messages in the dorsal horn. Serotoninergic, noradrenergic and, to a lesser extent, dopaminergic networks comprise major components of these descending mechanisms. The descending pathways generally inhibit nociception by modulating the release of neurotransmitters from nociceptive terminals. Further activation of descending pathways directly and indirectly inhibits nocisponsive peripheral nerve. This action is mediated through the inhibition of excitatory interneurones and the excitations of inhibitory interneurones (Fields and Basbaum, 1994; Lopez-Garcia and King, 1996).

1.2.6 Models of nociceptive pain

To gain deeper insight and understanding into the mechanism of pain in order to develop safer and more effective analgesics, various animal models have been developed to elucidate the mechanisms of these painful states and to evaluate analgesics for exploring effective treatment. These animal models have been often extended to behavioural analyses of knockout mice in combination with the evaluation of pro- and anti-nociceptive agents (Millan, 1999). The models can be grouped into acute, inflammatory, persistent and neuropathic pain models. Some acute models of animal nociceptive test discussed below are the hot plate test, Tail flick test and acetic acid-induced writhing test.

The hot plate test employs heat source of stimulus in pain induction. The paw of the animal is heated by contact with a hot plate (50–56 $^{\circ}$ C) and the latency time to paw licking or withdrawal is measured. This test is similar to the Tail flick or Tail withdrawal thermal test of nociception. In this test the distal portion of the tail is heated by a radiant heat source and the latency to tail flick is recorded (Kamal and Abdulrahman, 2002).

The Randall–Selitto test employs the application of linearly increasing pressure (range: 0-450 g) between the third and fourth metatarsals of the hind paw via a blunt perspex cone until the rat vocalises or withdraws the paw. This value is recorded as the threshold for withdrawal from a mechanical stimulus (Ito *et al.*, 2001).

The Acetic acid writhing test also considered as a visceral pain model employs the intraperitoneal injection of 0.9% acetic acid into rodents and the frequency and/or duration of stretch responses is counted for 30 min (Ito *et al.*, 2001).

Animal models of inflammatory pain use agents capable of inducing inflammatory response. Intraplantar injection of carrageenan or complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) model is such model. Chronic inflammatory conditions produce a state of hyperalgesia that is evident from a few hours to days after peripheral injection of chemical irritants such as carrageenan, dextran, formalin, yeast, turpentine, CFA, and mustard oil (Shivkar and Kumar, 203; Northover and Subramanian, 1962; Di Rosa *et al.*, 1971). Carrageenan is also often used for production of the hyperalgesic state in the animal following intraplantar injection (Winter and Risley, 1962; Ito *et al.*, 2001). The hyperalgesic state is assessed by applying thermal or mechanical stimulus to the inflamed and normal paws.

The Formalin test also considered as a persistent model of animal nociception employs injection of a dilute solution of formalin (1-5%) into the hind paw. This produces two distinct phases of pain-like behaviour. The first results from activation of primary afferent fibres, while the second is believed to represent both inflammation-evoked sensory activity and facilitatory processes in the spinal cord resembling prolonged injury-induced hyperalgesia states (Millan, 1999; Ito *et al.*, 2001; Kamal and Abdulrahman, 2002).

1.2.7 Non nociceptive pain

Neuropathic pain refers to the pain caused by damage to nervous tissue. Pain elicited by peripheral nerve injury is sometimes used synonymously with `neuropathic' pain although it also incorporates the `central' pain associated with damage to the CNS (Millan, 1999).
Patients with neuropathic pain frequently report sensory abnormalities including burning sensations, exaggerated responses to noxious stimuli, pain sensations resulting from innocuous stimuli (allodynia) and spontaneous pain episodes (dysesthesia). Neuropathic pain can also alter the patient's quality of life by interfering with emotional well-being (Benbouzid *et al.*, 2008). Because of its severity, chronicity and resistance to some classical analgesics neuropathic pain is a challenge in clinical practice (Backonja and Stacey, 2004; Irving, 2005; Martin *et al.*, 2007). Of the symptoms of this pain type mechanical allodynia comprises the most striking perturbation of sensation. Also allodynia to cold may be pronounced, in particular in sympathetically maintained painful states. This pattern of altered sensitivity in neuropathic pain clearly differs to the primary (heat) hyperalgesia of nociceptive pain, in which cooling of the site of injury may even reduce pain, and more closely resembles the secondary hyperalgesia which accompanies tissue damage in stroke (Millan, 1999).

1.2.8 Models of neuropathic pain

Several chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy models have been developed and are used to study the underlying mechanisms of neuropathic pain. Although all of these models feature some degree of direct neuronal damage, they differ in the time course and pathomechanisms that are associated with the development of hyperalgesia. Examples include pain associated with traumatic injury—phantom limb pain after amputation (Bennett and Xie, 1988; Seltzer *et al.*, 1990; Kim and Chung, 1992; Decosterd and Woolf, 2000), chemically induced nerve damage—neuropathy caused by cancer chemotherapies. An example of the chemotherapy-induced neuropathic pain is vincristine-induced neuropathy. The development of vincristine-induced neuropathy is a formidable clinical problem as it is stubbornly resistant to existing pharmacotherapy, such as the NSAIDs, opioids and steroids (Higuera and Luo, 2004).

Other experimental animal models for neuropathic pain, such as diabetic neuropathy, inflammatory neuropathy, nerve-injured neuropathy and neuropathic herpes pain share

common characteristics with vincristine-induced neuropathy. For experimental animal models for diabetic neuropathy, streptozotocin-induced diabetic animals are used as well as spontaneous diabetic BB/Wor rat rodents (Courteix *et al.*, 1998; Zhang *et al.*, 2002). There are three major experimental animal models for the nerve-injured neuropathy, Seltzer model, Bennett model and Chung model. In Seltzer model also known as the partial ligation model, the half of sciatic nerve is tightly ligated, while the whole sciatic nerve is loosely and constrictively ligated in Bennett model also known as the chronic constriction injury model. In contrast, the segmental spinal nerve (especially L5 or L6) is ligated in the Chung model (Mizoguchi *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 1.3 Summary of pain states and animal models.

1.2.9 Cross talk between the immune system and pain states

Most of the ongoing immune surveillance in healthy peripheral nerves is performed by immune cells that reside within the nerve itself (Moalem and Tracey, 2006). Resident immunocompetent cells include Schwann cells, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, and mast cells. Immunocompetent refers to cells that can respond to

inflammation, infection, and/or trauma by the production and release of inflammatory mediators classically thought of as immune-derived. In healthy nerves, these cells are "resting" in the sense that they provide active surveillance of the nerve's microenvironment but are not releasing proinflammatory mediators as they do upon activation. With the exception of circulating activated T lymphocytes (Watkins et al., 2007), blood-borne immune cells have relatively limited access to peripheral nerves under normal circumstances, due to the blood-nerve barrier (Olsson, 1990). This scenario changes dramatically upon trauma to peripheral nerves inflammation. Upon activation by nerve trauma or inflammation, a number of these immune cells release chemo attractant cytokines called "chemokines" (e.g., macrophage inflammatory protein-2 and monocyte chemo attractant protein-1 [MCP-1]) that recruit neutrophils and macrophages from the damage myelin, and disrupt the blood-nerve barrier, thus further facilitating the movement of immune products into damaged nerve. In addition, some activated resident immune cells release degradative enzymes and acids in response to nerve trauma that exposes peripheral nerve proteins (e.g., P0, P2). Nerve proteins such as P0 and P2 are responded to as "non-self" as they are normally buried within the myelin sheath and not detected by immune cells. Once released, immune derived enzymes and acids attack myelin and disrupt the blood-nerve barrier, again allowing increased access of the nerve to blood-borne immune cells (Olsson, 1990). Clinically relevant peripheral nerve damage can occur as a result of antibody attack, complement activation, and T-lymphocyte attack, in addition to frank trauma and inflammation. Immune cells activated as a result of partial nerve injury importantly contribute to the resultant exaggerated pain state as well as axonal hyper excitability and Wallerian degeneration (Moalem and Tracey, 2006; Watkins et al., 2007). Nerve injury leads to an immediate activation of calpain, a calciumactivated protease in Schwann cells and associated myelin. Calpain, in addition to destroying myelin, causes a rapid burst of proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine release from injured Schwann cells that, in turn, leads to the recruitment of circulating neutrophils and macrophages to the injury site and further proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine release (Moalem and Tracey, 2006; Watkins et al., 2007). Driven by TNF and IL-1, the extracellular protease matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) is induced in Schwann cells and macrophages, contributing to neuropathic pain, neurovascular permeability, immune cell recruitment, demyelination, and degeneration. The antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 also rapidly falls after injury, further disrupting the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine influences. Both trauma-induced Wallerian degeneration and enhanced pain (Moalem and Tracey, 2006; Watkins et al., 2007) have been associated with the activity of macrophages recruited to the site of injury. Simply delaying macrophage recruitment to the site of nerve injury delays both the development of neuropathic pain and Wallerian degeneration. Conversely, actively attracting macrophages to the injury site enhances neuropathic pain. Activated macrophages have been found to persist for years within human painful neuromas, suggestive that they may perseveratively influence pain from peripheral nerve damage (Durrenberger et al., 2006). Recent data have also provided evidence that, in addition to macrophages, mast cells, T lymphocytes, neutrophils, and schwann cells all contribute to neuropathic pain at the site of nerve injury. Also, products produced by immune cells beyond proinflammatory cytokines have now been implicated, including reactive oxygen species, NO, growth factors, prostaglandins, activation of the complement cascade, and mast cell products. Tryptase released from mast cells activates protease-activated receptor-2. This tryptase receptor modulates the function of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1) channels, lowering their threshold for activation from 42 °C to well below body temperature (Moalem and Tracey, 2006; Watkins et al., 2007). As functional TRPV1 channels are expressed mid axon, this provides a mechanism whereby mast cell degranulation could directly increase spontaneous activity and excitability of sensory neurons. This may have clinical relevance as mast cells remain elevated at sites of nerve trauma long after injury and mast cell degranulation/release has been proposed to contribute to neuroma pain in humans (Watkins et al., 2007). Further support for the importance of immune cells in neuropathic pain comes from the study of clonidine, an alpha2-adrenoceptor agonist. While alpha-2 adrenoceptors are absent from normal nerves, levels elevate in injured nerve due to expression by recruited macrophages, lymphocytes, and other immune cells (Watkins et al., 2007).

1.2.10 Management of pain

Various techniques have been employed in pain management including pharmacotherapy and non pharmacotherapy procedures. The correct diagnosis and proper treatment of pain is an important public health concern. Millions of people in the world with severe acute and chronic pain suffer because of the ignorance of doctors and the lack of a standardized scientific approach to pain management as reported in the WHO normative guidelines on pain management, Geneva, June, 2007.

Pharmacological management of pain is the mainstay of pain therapy. Almost half of individuals who suffer from pain choose a non prescription analgesic as their initial choice for pain relief. Up to one in five Americans take an over-the-counter or prescription analgesic on a daily basis (Berry *et al.*, 2001). Treatment of pain with analgesic is in three steps as recommended by WHO. The first step in this approach is the use of acetaminophen, aspirin, or another Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory drug for mild to moderate pain. Adjuvant drugs to enhance analgesic efficacy, treat concurrent symptoms that exacerbate pain, and provide independent analgesic activity for specific types of pain may be used at any step.

When pain persists or increases an opioid such as codeine or hydrocodone is added (not substituted) to the NSAID. Opioids at this step are often administered in fixed dose combinations with acetaminophen or aspirin. When higher doses of opioid are necessary, the third step is used. At this step separate dosage forms of the opioid and non-opioid are used.

Pain that is persistent or is of moderate to severe intensity from the outset should be treated by increasing the dosage or with more potent opioids. Drugs such as codeine or hydrocodone are replaced with more potent opioids like morphine, hydromorphone and methadone. Commonly prescribed drugs for pain are the NSAIDs. The primary mechanism of action of NSAIDs is inhibition of the enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX) which blocks prostaglandin synthesis. Acetaminophen, another nonopioid, appears to act mostly via a central mechanism (Kamal and Abdulrahman, 2002). All nonopioids have antiinflammatory, antipyretic, and analgesic effects, but the anti-inflammatory effect of acetaminophen is essentially negligible. The analgesic effect of NSAIDs is prompt (minutes to hours), whereas the anti-inflammatory effect may take longer (1-2 weeks or longer) (Field and Cassel, 1997). This latter effect can indirectly relieve some pain by reducing tissue swelling. NSAIDs relieve a variety of types of acute and chronic pain (e.g., trauma, postoperative, cancer, arthritis pain) and are especially effective for certain types of somatic pain. Acetaminophen and NSAIDs, alone, often relieve mild pain, and some NSAIDs relieve certain types of moderate pain (Besson and Chaouch, 1987).

Moderate to severe pain that does not respond to non opioids are treated with opioids as stand alone or with NSAIDs. Opioids play a major role in the treatment of acute pain (e.g., trauma, postoperative pain), breakthrough pain, cancer pain, and some types of chronic non cancer pain. Opioids bind to opioid receptors in the central and peripheral nervous system to inhibit the transmission of nociceptive input from the periphery to the spinal cord, activate descending inhibitory pathways that modulate transmission in the spinal cord, and alter limbic system (Ferreira and Nakamura, 1979; Price *et al.*, 1989).

Antiepileptic drugs such as pregabalin, gabapentin, carbamazepine, phenytoin and valproic acid are types of adjuvant analgesic approved for the management of trigeminal neuralgia, migraine prophylaxis and neuropathic pain especially lancinating (i.e., episodic shooting, stabbing, or knife-like) pain from peripheral nerve syndromes. They act to reduce pain by reducing membrane excitability and suppress abnormal discharges in pathologically altered neurons (Berry *et al.*, 2001).

1.3 JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY

Pain accompanies almost every disease state and it is usually the major factor of the disease that alerts the patient to seek medical treatment (Schim and Stang, 2004). Pain is the most common reason for medical appointments. Pain results in an estimated 40 million hospital visits annually costing an estimated \$100 billion each year in health care loss in United States. This has been attributed to the lack of effective analgesics or their inappropriate

usage (Kivell and Prisinzano, 2010). Pain is a leading cause of medically related work absenteeism and results in more than 50 million losses of work days per year in the United States. About 25% of the population in industrialized nations suffers from chronic pain severe enough that they miss days of work. Poorly treated pain can lead to metabolic disorders by altering the release of multiple hormones (e.g., ACTH, cortisol, catecholamines, insulin) manifesting clinically as weight loss, fever, increased respiratory and heart rate. On the cardiovascular system poorly managed pain can lead to unstable angina, myocardial infarction and deep vein thrombosis. On the Respiratory system, poorly managed pain leads to decreased air flow due to involuntary (reflex muscle spasm) and voluntary ("splinting") mechanisms that limit respiratory effort manifesting clinically as Pneumonia and Atelectasis (National Pharmaceutical Council, 2001). Individuals with chronic pain often face long-term or permanent unemployment or underemployment. Such loss can be recovered if analgesics of improved quality and less costly are developed This is because NSAIDs, steroids and opioids, most prescribed drugs for pain have limited. use due to their side effects (Kivell and Prisinzano, 2010). This underscores the need to search for newer therapeutic agents which are relatively safer and have improved efficacy. It is undisputable that plants have served as great stores of these active principles (therapeutic agents) and for that reason many plants are used extensively as drugs though without scientific evidence of safety or efficacy (Johnson et al., 2007). Interestingly, the predominant pathophysiological processes involved in pain are subject to modulation by several compounds or metabolites obtained from plants (Duwiejua and Zeitlin, 1993). One of such therapeutically useful medicinal plant in Ghana and other parts of Africa is the fruit of *Xylopia aethiopica* which is used traditionally to relieve arthritic and colic pain, rheumatism, headache and neuralgia (Igwe et al., 2003). Despite its local use as an analgesic, there is little scientific evidence to ascertain these claims. Interestingly, the traditional use of some herbs may just be based on community knowledge of existence and application of such herbs but not necessarily as a result of scientific validation of the herbs (Zhang, 2000) and the traditional use of X. aethiopica as analgesic is not an exception. This project therefore seeks to investigate the possible antinociceptive effect of ethanolic extract of the fruit of X. aethiopica thereby providing scientific evidence to the traditional use of the fruit as analgesic and further isolate and evaluate the antinociceptive potential of xylopic acid: the major compound in the fruit (Adosraku and Oppong, 2011) on which most of the properties of the fruits such as antibacterial, anti fungal, hypotensive and diuretic properties have been conferred. Dose and side effect determination can easily be carried out subsequently for xylopic acid and the extract thus standardizing the drug. Standardization and quality control of herbal products and herb-related investigations have been shown to proceed separation and determination of the active chemical constituents of the herbal product (Zhao *et al.*, 2006). This in effect will improve patient acceptability of the drug (xylopic acid) because of its plant origin, its use as a delicacy and predictable side effects.

1.3.1 Aim of the study

The aim of the study was to determine the antinociceptive activity of fruit extract of *Xylopia aethiopica* and xylopic acid and to provide scientific evidence to the use of the fruits as an analgesic.

1.3.2 Specific objectives of the study

To evaluate the antinociceptive activity of the ethanolic extract of the fruit of *Xylopia aethiopica* and xylopic acid using:

- ➢ Formalin test (Wilson *et al.*, 2002).
- ➤ Acetic acid-induced writhing test (Amresh *et al.*, 2007).
- Carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia model (Randall and Selitto, 1957).
- Musculoskeletal pain models (Radhakrishnan *et al.*, 2003; Sluka *et al.*, 2006).
- ▶ Vincristine –induced neuropathic pain model (Thibault *et al.*, 2008).

To investigate the mechanism(s) of action of the ethanolic fruit extract of *Xylopia aethiopica* and xylopic acid using the formalin test (Wilson *et al.*, 2002), glutamate and capsaicin induced—nociception (Wilhelm *et al.*, 2009), and epinephrine, bradykinin, and prostaglandin E_2 -induced mechanical hyperalgesia (Meotti *et al.*, 2006).

➤ To study the drug – drug interaction between xylopic acid-morphine and xylopic aciddiclofenac co administration using isobolographic analysis (Miranda *et al.*, 2007).

Chapter 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 PLANT COLLECTION AND EXTRACTION

The dried fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* were collected from the Botanical Gardens (06°41'6.39"N; 01°33'45.35"W) of Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST), Kumasi, Ghana between the months of August and December, 2008. The fruits were authenticated by Dr. Kofi Annan at the Department of Pharmacognosy, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, College of Health Sciences, KNUST. A voucher specimen (FP/09/77) has been kept at the herbarium of the Faculty.

2.1.1 Preparation of 70% ethanolic extract of Xylopia aethiopica (XAE)

Dried fruits of *X. aethiopica* (2 kg) were pulverized into fine powder. A quantity of 0.36 kg of the powdered material was placed in cylindrical jars and macerated with 70% $^{v}/v$ ethanol for three days. The filtrate was concentrated using a rotary evaporator at a temperature of 60 °C. This resulted in a greenish solid mass of ethanol extract of *Xylopia aethiopica* with a percentage yield of 34.8% ($^{w}/w$).

2.1.2 Extraction of xylopic acid (15β-Acetoxy-(-) - kaur-16-en-19-oic Acid)

The extraction process was similar to that as described by Ekoag and Ogan (1968). A quantity of the fruit (2 kg) was pulverized and 0.36 kg of the fine powder placed in cylindrical jars. This was soaked with 5 L of petroleum ether (40-60 °C) and allowed to stand for three days. The petroleum ether extract was collected and concentrated using a rotary evaporator at a temperature of 50 °C. Ethyl acetate (5 ml) was added to the concentrate to facilitate crystallization of xylopic acid. Crystals (xylopic acid) formed after the concentrate had been allowed to stand for five days were washed with petroleum ether (40-60 °C).

The xylopic acid obtained was purified by recrystalization in 96% ethanol. The resulting concentrated solution was filtered while hot and crystals of xylopic acid were

deposited after the solution cooled and stood for five days. The yield of the isolated/purified xylopic was 1.41% (^w/w).

The constituent(s) of the extract and xylopic acid were determined by thin layer chromatography. A number of solvent systems including ethyl acetate: petroleum ether (2:18) and hexane: ethyl acetate (1:9) were prepared and allowed to stand for 30 minutes. After dissolving the extract and xylopic acid in chloroform they were spotted on thin plates and allowed to stand in the tank until 10 cm mark was attained by the solvent front. Both thin plates were then sprayed with anisaldehyde.

Purity of the isolated xylopic acid was determined with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The chromatograph consisted of LC-10AT Shimadzu pump with programmable absorbance detector (783A Applied Biosystems) and Shimadzu CR501 Chromatopac. Phenomenex Hypersil 20 micron C18 200 \times 3.20 mm column was used. The mobile phase consisted of methanol and water (9:1) eluted isocratically at 0.5 ml min⁻¹. Portions of 20 µl of a suitable concentration of pure xylopic acid were loaded and injected unto the column after dissolving in the mobile phase at 60 °C. The eluent was monitored at 206 nm. Portions of the extract and xylopic acid were loaded and injected. The peak(s) were noted as component(s) of the extract and xylopic acid.

Melting point determination was carried out on the crystals as well as the solubility of the crystals in petroleum ether, ethanol, methanol, ethyl acetate and chloroform. The purity and structure of the isolated xylopic acid were confirmed by the method of HPLC, mass spectroscopy and nuclear magnetic resonance (Adosrako and Oppong, 2011).

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 Thin layer chromatography

The extract revealed several spots which indicate the presence of several compounds (Plate 1a). On the contrary, xylopic acid revealed a single spot indicating the presence of a single compound (Plate 1b). The spot for xylopic acid occurred at 5.3 ± 0.01 for both the isolated xylopic acid and the xylopic acid present in the extract after the solvent front had been allowed to travel a total distance of 10 cm.



Plate 1 TLC results of (a) extract revealing several spots indicating the presence of several compounds and (b) xylopic acid showing a single spot indicating the presence of a single compound.

2.2.2 High performance liquid chromatography and determination of some properties of xylopic acid

HPLC was further used for the determination of the purity of the isolated xylopic acid. Several peaks were observed after loading the extract indicating the presence of several compounds in the fruits (Fig. 2.1a). A single peak was observed for xylopic acid indicating the presence of a single compound (Fig. 2.1b). The purity of xylopic acid was determined to be 96%. Mass spectroscopic and nuclear magnetic resonance analyses indicated that the compound isolated was xylopic acid (Adosrako and oppong, 2011)

Melting point of the crystals (xylopic acid) was determined to be 260-261 °C. The crystals were sparingly soluble in petroleum ether, ethanol, methanol, ethyl acetate and soluble in chloroform.



Figure 2.1 HPLC finger print of (a) extract showing several peaks of the various compounds in the extract and (b) xylopic acid showing a single peak.

2.3 Discussion

Thin layer chromatography analysis of the extract revealed several spots indicating the presence of several compounds in the extract. On the contrary, a single spot was observed for xylopic acid indicating the presence of single compound. High performance liquid chromatographic analysis of the extract revealed several peaks. These may correspond to any of the various compounds such as essential oil, volatile oil, resin, rutheroside fat, bitter principles, alkaloids, glycosides, saponins, tannins, sterols, carbohydrate, protein, free fatty acid, mucilage, kaurenoic and xylopic acid (Somova *et al.*, 2001; Igwe *et al.*, 2003) which have been reported to be present in the fruits. Xylopic acid, showed a single peak indicating the purity of the isolated xylopic acid.

2.3.1 Conclusion

The isolated xylopic acid can be said pure and had a melting point of $260-261 \degree C$ (Ekoag and Ogan, 1968). The crystals were sparingly soluble in petroleum ether, ethanol, methanol, ethyl acetate and soluble in chloroform.

Chapter 3

ANTI-NOCICEPTIVE EFFECTS OF THE EXTRACT AND XYLOPIC ACID

3.1 INTRODUCTION

Nociception is one of the vital functions of the nervous system and by its inherent aversive nature, provides warning information about the occurrence or threat of injury (Rustoen *et al.*, 2008). Nociception resulting from tissue damage affects the total well being of patients (Gilchrist *et al.*, 1996; Millan, 1999) and patients often do not get satisfactory treatment. The question about the safety and side-effect profiles of the currently used analgesics make their clinical use problematic (Jage, 2005). The antinociceptive effect of extract of *X. aethiopica*, a fruit used in managing pain traditionally, and the major constituent, xylopic acid were therefore evaluated in animal models of nociception.

3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1 Animals

Sprague-Dawley rats (250–300 g) and ICR mice (20-25 g) were purchased from Noguchi Memorial Institute for Medical Research, University of Ghana, Legon, Ghana and housed in the animal facility of the Department of Pharmacology, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology (KNUST). The animals were housed in groups of six in stainless steel cages $(34\times47\times18 \text{ cm}^3)$ with soft wood shavings as bedding. The animals were fed with normal commercial pellet diet (GAFCO, Tema), given water *ad libitum* and maintained under laboratory conditions. All procedures and techniques used in these studies were in accordance with the National Institute of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publication No. 85 - 23, 1985, revised, 1996). All protocols used were approved by the Departmental Ethics Committee.

3.2.2 Drugs and chemicals

Diclofenac sodium and morphine hydrochloride served as reference drugs. Diclofenac sodium was purchased from Troge Medical GmbH, Hamburg, Germany; morphine hydrochloride was obtained from Phyto-Riker, Accra, Ghana; carrageenan sulphate, formalin and acetic acid were purchased from BDH, Poole, England.

3.2.3 Acetic acid-induced writhing test

The test was carried out as described earlier (Koster et al., 1959; Tang et al., 2007). Thirteen groups of female mice (n=8) received vehicle (10 ml kg⁻¹ of 0.9 % NaCl i.p.), the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ of tween 80 emulsion *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ of tween 80 emulsion p.o.), morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or diclofenac (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) 60 min (p.o.) or 30 min (i.p.) before intraperitoneal administration of acetic acid $(0.6 \%: 10 \text{ ml kg}^{-1})$. Drug solutions were prepared such that not more than 1 ml of extract or xylopic acid was given orally and not more than 0.5 ml of the standard drugs were injected intraperitoneally. All drugs were freshly prepared. Mice were then placed individually in a testing chamber (Perspex chamber, 15×15×15 cm). A mirror inclined at 45° below the floor of the chamber allowed a complete view of the mice. Injection of acetic acid induced a nociceptive behaviour, writhing, an exaggerated extension of the abdomen combined with the outstretching of the hind limbs. Responses were captured (30 min) for analysis by a camcorder (EverioTM, model GZ-MG1300, JVC, Tokyo, Japan) placed directly opposite the mirror and attached to a computer. Tracking of the behaviour was done using the public domain software JWatcherTM, Version 1.0 (University of California, LA, USA, and Macquarie University, Sidney, Australia, available at http://www.jwatcher.ucla.edu/) to obtain the frequency and duration of writhes per 5 min, starting 5 min after acetic acid administration. A nociceptive score was determined for each 5-min time block by multiplying the frequency and duration of writhes. These data were expressed in a time course which enabled the observation of changes in the writhing induced.

3.2.4 Formalin- induced nociception

The formalin test was carried out as described previously (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Woode et al., 2009). Each male mouse was assigned and acclimatized to one of 20 formalin test chambers (Perspex chamber 15×15×15 cm) for thirty minutes before formalin injection. Ten groups of male mice were then pre-treated with vehicle, the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.) or morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) 60 min (*p.o.*) or 30 min (i.p.) before intraplantar injection of 10 µl of 5% formalin. The animals were immediately returned individually into the testing chamber and their nociceptive behaviours captured (1 h) for analysis in the same way as described previously in the writhing test above. The pain response was scored for 1 h, starting immediately after formalin injection. A nociceptive score was determined for each 5-min time block by measuring the amount of time spent biting/licking of the injected paw. Tracking of the behaviour was done using public domain software JWatcherTM, Version 1.0. The average nociceptive score for each time block was calculated by multiplying the frequency and time spent in biting/licking. Data were expressed as the mean \pm SEM of scores between 0–10 min (first phase) and 10–60 min (second phase) after formalin injection.

3.2.5 Carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia

Mechanical nociceptive thresholds were measured in the Randall-Selitto test (Randall and Selitto, 1957; Villetti *et al.*, 2003; Stohr *et al.*, 2006) by using an analgesimeter (Model No.15776, Ugo Basile, Comerio, Varese, Italy)). The analgesimeter was used to apply a linearly-increasing pressure, by means of a blunt perspex cone, to the dorsal region of the right hind paw of the rat until the rat vocalized or withdrew the paw. Rats received two training seasons before the day of testing. Pressure was gradually applied to the right hind paw and paw withdrawal thresholds (PWTs) were assessed as the pressure (grams) required eliciting paw withdrawal. A 250 g cut-off point was chosen as the maximum weight to apply to prevent any tissue damage to the paw of the rats. A change in hyperalgesic state was calculated as a percentage of the maximum possible effect (% MPE). The maximal possible effect (% MPE) was calculated according to the formula:

% MPE = 100 x (PWT - CT)/(250g - CT)

Where PWT: paw withdrawal threshold and CT: control threshold.

On the test day, a baseline measurement was taken. Thirteen groups of animals (n=8) received carrageenan (100 μ l of a 20 mg ml⁻¹ solution) into the right hind paw 2.5 h before vehicle, the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (1- 10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) and diclofenac (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) treatments and PWT were taken again at 3.5, 4, 4.5, 5, 5.5 and 6 h post-carrageenan.

3.2.6 Evaluation of the analgesic effect of extract and xylopic acid in Hargreaves thermal hyperalgesia test

3.2.6.1 Thermal paw withdrawal test

Possible anti-hyperalgesic effect of the extract and xylopic acid was assessed by the Hargreaves model of thermal hyperalgesia (Galbraith et al., 1993). Hind paw and tail sensitivity to a noxious thermal stimulus was measured by means of radiant heat source using the IITC Model 336 Paw/Tail Stimulator Analgesia Meter (Woodland Hills, CA., USA). Male mice were individually placed in plexi glass cages on a clear glass platform and allowed to acclimatize for 15 min to the testing environment. The test head of the paw stimulator was used to present a focused beam of radiant light on to the mid plantar region of the right hind paws. The idle intensity (intensity of light innocuous to the mice) of the light was set at 10% of the maximum intensity and it was used to accurately direct the beam of light to the appropriate region of the hind paw: the active intensity of the light was set at 50% maximum. The thermal nociceptive stimulus was manually directed under the foot pad before and after the intra plantar injection of carrageenan (100 µl of a 2% solution) in to the right hind paw. A timer was set to automatically turn off the light source when the animal withdrew the tail or paw, and the paw withdrawal latencies (PWLs) and tail withdrawal latencies (TWLs) measured were defined as the time required for the paw or tail to show an abrupt withdrawal. A cut-off time of 25 s was chosen as the maximum time the animal's paw/ tail will be stimulated with the light in order to prevent tissue damage. Baseline measurements were taken followed by administration of carrageenan into the right hind paw one hour post treatment with vehicle, the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) and diclofenac (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.), (n=8). PWLs were taken again hourly for four hours.

3.2.6.2 Tail-flick test

Tail-flick latencies were determined with the IITC Analgesia Meter (Model 336, IITC Life Science Inc., Woodland Hills, CA, USA). A focused beam of radiant light (Active intensity: 50 % of maximum) was delivered to the mice's tail (Galbraith *et al.*, 1993; Fecho *et al.*, 2005). Basal reaction times of male mice (ten groups, n=8) were taken before the administration of vehicle, the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) or morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.). Tail-flick reflex latencies were then measured at 1 h, 2 h, 3 h and 4 h. A cut-off time of 25 s (the maximum time allowed to stimulate the tail of the mice with light) was chosen in order to prevent tissue damage. The analgesic effects exerted by drugs were calculated, from the tail-flick latencies, as a percentage of the maximum possible effect (% MPE) using the following formula: $[(T2-T1)/(T0-T1) \times 100]$, where T1 and T2 are the pre- and post-drug latencies, respectively, and T0 is the cut-off time.

3.2.7 Skeletal hyperalgesia

The analgesic effect of the extract and xylopic acid were evaluated in acute and chronic skeletal pain models as described by Skyba (2005) with modifications.

3.2.7.1 The effect of the extract and xylopic acid in acute skeletal pain

Acute skeletal hyperalgesia was measured by taking the baseline compression thresholds of the ipsilateral knees with an analgesimeter (IITC Life Science Inc. Model 2888, Woodland Hills, CA, USA). This was done by compressing the knee of the rat until the animal withdrew the limb forcefully or vocalized. The maximum compression force applied at withdrawal was recorded as the baseline compression threshold for the knee joint of the corresponding limb. Rats were then injected with 100 μ l of a mixture containing 3% kaolin and 3% carrageenan intra articularly into the left knee joint. Acute skeletal pain was established after 12 hours in ipsilateral limbs. Ten groups of male rats (n=8) received vehicle, extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o. 1 h), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹)

p.o. 1 h) or morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p. 30 min) after primary hyperalgesia confirmation and compression thresholds were taken again hourly for 5 hours.

3.2.7.2 The effect of extract and xylopic acid in chronic skeletal pain

To evaluate the analgesic effect of the extract and xylopic acid on bilateral hyperalgesia (chronic skeletal pain), baseline compression thresholds of both paws were taken using an analgesimeter (IITC Life Science Inc. Model 2888, Woodland Hills, CA, USA) which is based on the Randall-Selitto test (Randall and Selitto, 1957). Ten groups of rats (n=8) received intra articular injection of 100 μ l of a mixture containing 3% kaolin and 3% carrageenan. Animals were allowed 8 days to develop chronic-knee inflammation (Radhakrishnan *et al.*, 2003).

On the test day, chronic skeletal pain was established by measuring compression thresholds for both ipsilateral and contralateral paws. The ten groups of animals then received vehicle, extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) or morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) after bilateral hyperalgesia confirmation and compression thresholds were taken again hourly for 5 hours.

3.2.8 Muscle hyperalgesia

The effects of the extract and xylopic were determined in acute and chronic muscle pain models.

3.2.8.1 The effect of extract and xylopic acid in acute muscle pain

Assessment of the analgesic effect of the extract and xylopic acid in acute muscle pain was performed by measurement of hind limb grip strength using a grip force analyzer as described by Kehl *et al.*, (2003); Skyba (2005) ; Tillu *et al.*,(2008). The force analyzer measured the amount of tensile force each rat exerted against a wire mesh grid with its hind paws, and gently pulled in a caudal direction. The force each rat applied to the mesh grid was determined by the rat itself. Therefore, the amplitude of force exerted was subject to factors, such as hyperalgesia, which influenced the behavioural performance of each rat. The peak force exerted by the rat before it released its grasp from the wire mesh grid was registered by a force transducer and recorded. Three consecutive hind limb grip force measurements (10 s apart) were obtained for each rat



at each time point; the average of these three measurements was used to represent each rat's grip force for each time point. After baseline grip strength measurements, the animals received 100 μ l of 3% carrageenan percutaneously into their left gastrocnemius muscles. Ten groups of male rats (n=8) were then given the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.* 1 h), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p. 30 min) or vehicle after primary hyperalgesia (acute pain) confirmation at the 12 hour and grip strength measurements were taken again hourly for 5 hours.

Reduction in grip force after percutaneous administration of carrageenan relative to baseline grip force levels provides an index of the reduction in nociceptive threshold and was calculated as % MPE:

% MPE = 100

Groups I–IV	received vehicle.			
Groups V–VI	received extract (600 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o.</i> ,) and xylopic acid (200 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o.</i>) respectively.			
Groups VII-IX	received morphine 6 mg kg ⁻¹ , i.p.			
On day 9, these groups were treated in the following manner:				
Group I	was treated with vehicle			
Groups II–IV	were treated with extract (300 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o</i>), xylopic acid (100 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o.</i>) and morphine (3 mg kg ⁻¹ , i.p.) respectively			
Groups	V-VI received extract (300 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o.</i>) and xylopic acid (100 mg kg ⁻¹ , <i>p.o.</i>) respectively			
Group VII	was treated with morphine (3 mg kg ⁻¹ , i.p.).			

Formalin was injected 60 min for *p.o.* and 30 min for i.p. after the various drugs treatment. To ascertain the possibility of morphine-induced tolerance cross-generalizing with extract or xylopic acid, extract and xylopic acid were administered to animals which had been chronically treated with morphine in the following manner:

Groups VIII – IX were treated with extract (300 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.) and xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.) administered 60 min before formalin injection.

3.2.10 Test for catalepsy

Drugs such as opioids are known to produce catalepsy, a state of decreased responsiveness to external stimuli associated with a waxy rigidity of the extremities which may wrongly be interpreted as analgesia in the grip force test (Tzschentke and Schmidt, 1996). Therefore, the possibility existed, that increased hind limb muscle rigidity would result in increased grip force (i.e. reversing the reduction in grip force): after the various drug treatments and could mistakenly be interpreted as reversal of

hyperalgesia in the grip strength measurement. To distinguish between the antihyperalgesic and cataleptic effects of the extract and xylopic acid on grip force measurement and other nociceptive models, possible cataleptic effect of the extract and xylopic acid on grip force in rats that had not received carrageenan was measured. The rats were trained to place the fore limbs on the bar for 12 s for three consecutive days. On the test day, the test was performed by placing the forelimbs of each rat on a metal bar (diameter 1 cm) positioned 5 cm above and parallel to the base of the equipment with its hind paws resting on the base. The total amount of time each rat spent with its forelimbs on the bar in 3 consecutive 12 s trials was summed. To evaluate the effect of catalepsy on grip force, bar test measurements were collected just prior to grip force measurements at each time point. Eight groups of rats (n=8) were tested before and at 60 min after injection of vehicle, extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), and 30 min after morphine (40 mg kg⁻¹ i.p., a positive control).

3.2.11 Rota-rod

Drugs such as muscle relaxants used as 'adjuvant' in pain management exhibit antinociceptive activity in models such as the acetic acid-induced writhing test making the model non–specific for investigating the antinociception of drugs (Pietrovski *et al.*, 2006). In order to assess whether any of the observed antinociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid resulted from sensory blockade or from an impairment of motor function, motor performance of the mice was evaluated in the rota-rod test.

Naive mice were trained on three successive days on the rota-rod (Ugo Basile, model 7600, Comerio, Varese, Italy) at a speed of 25 rpm. On the test day (day 4), seven groups of animals (n=8) received the extract (30-300 mg kg-¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg-¹, *p.o.*) or vehicle. The animals were then repeatedly tested for their motor coordination performance on the rota-rod (cut of time 120 s) at 1, 2 and 3 h after drug injection. Impairment of coordinated motor movements was defined as the inability of the animals to remain on the rota-rod for a test period of 120 s (Gareri *et al.*, 2005).

3.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

In all experiments, a sample size of eight animals (n=8) were used. All data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M (n=8). Raw data for the tail-flick, musculoskeletal, carrageenan-induced mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia tests were calculated as the percentage change in maximum possible effect (% MPE).The time-course curves were subjected to two-way (treatment \times time) repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. Total nociceptive score for each treatment was calculated in arbitrary unit as the area under the curve (AUC). To determine the percentage inhibition for each treatment, the following equation was used.

% inhibition =
$$\left(\frac{AUC_{control} - AUC_{treatment}}{AUC_{control}}\right) \times 100$$

Differences in AUCs were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with drug treatment as a between subjects factor. Further comparisons between vehicle- and drug-treated groups were performed using the Newman–Keuls' test. Doses for 50 % of the maximal effect (ED_{50}) for each drug were determined by using an iterative computer least squares method, with the following nonlinear regression (three parameter logistic) using the equation:

$$Y = \frac{a + (b - a)}{\left(1 + 10^{(LogED_{50} - X)}\right)}$$

Where, X is the logarithm of dose and Y is the response. Y starts at a (the bottom) and goes to b (the top) with a sigmoid shape.

The fitted midpoints (ED₅₀s) of the curves were compared statistically using F test (Miller, 2003; Motulsky and Christopoulos, 2003). GraphPad Prism for Windows Version 4.03 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical analyses and ED₅₀ determinations. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.4 RESULTS

3.4.1 Acetic acid-induced writhing assay

Figure 3.1 shows the effect of various treatments on acetic acid-induced writhing during the 30-min observation period. The extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) significantly ($F_{3,27}$ =14.37, *P*<0.0001;Fig. 3.1a) reduced abdominal writhes induced by acetic acid in mice with the highest dose causing a reduction of 98.8 ± 0.8% (Fig. 3.1b). Xylopic acid (10 -100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also significantly ($F_{3,28}$ =20.56, *P*<0.0001; Fig. 3.1c) and dose-dependently reduced the writhes, with the highest dose causing a reduction of 93.8±1.4% (Fig. 3.1d). Morphine dose-dependently reduced ($F_{3,27}$ =9.77, *P*=0.00016; Fig. 3.2a) acetic acid-induced nociception with maximal percentage inhibition of 97.4±2.5 (Fig. 3.2b) at the dose of 10 mg kg⁻¹. Diclofenac also reduced the abdominal writhes dose (10 mg kg⁻¹) producing an inhibition of 90.4±2.6% (Fig. 3.2d). From the highest dose (10 mg kg⁻¹) producing an inhibition of 90.4±2.6% (Big. 3.2d). From the ED₅₀ values obtained by F-test (Table 3.1), xylopic acid (5.472±0.80 mg kg⁻¹) was more potent than the extract (37.56±7.82 mg kg⁻¹). Morphine was the most potent (0.80±0.26 mg kg⁻¹).



Figure 3.1 Effect of (a) Extract (XAE) $(30 - 300 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ and (c) xylopic acid (XA) $(10 - 100 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ on time course curve of acetic acid- induced writhing test in mice. Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8); * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$ compared to respective controls (Ctrl) (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc*), (b and d) AUC (total response). Each column in b and d represents the mean \pm S.E.M. ^{†††} $P \le 0.001$, (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' *post hoc*).



Figure 3.2 Effect of (a) morphine $(1 - 10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ and (c) diclofenac $(1 - 10 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ on the time course curve of acetic acid induced -writhing test in mice. Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8); $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$ compared to respective controls (two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc*) and (b and d) AUC (total response). Each column in b and d represents the mean \pm S.E.M. $^{\dagger}P \le 0.05$, $^{\dagger \dagger}P \le 0.01$, $^{\dagger \dagger \dagger \dagger}P \le 0.001$, (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' *post hoc*).

3.4.2 Formalin-induced nociception

Intraplantar injection of formalin produced a nociceptive behaviour in mice characterized by biting, flinching and licking. The first phase lasted for 10 min and the second phase started at about 15 min and lasted until 1 h. Administration of *X*. *aethiopica* extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) to the mice produced significant attenuation of formalin-induced nociception in both phases (Phase 1: $F_{3,28}$ =4.29, *P*=0.0131; Phase 2: $F_{3,28}$ =5.18, *P*=0.0056; Fig. 3.3a); with maximal antinociception of 57.3 ± 25.0% and 52.9 ± 34.1% respectively at the highest dose (Fig. 3.3b). Xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) also dose-dependently inhibited both phases of formalin-induced nociception (Phase 1: $F_{3,28}$ =7.85, *P*=0.0006; Phase 2 $F_{3,28}$ =7.68, *P*=0.0007; Fig. 3.3c), with the highest dose giving a maximal antinociception of 79.6 ± 17.5 % and 90.2 ± 4.9 % (Fig. 3.3d) in the early and late phases respectively. Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) produced a significant inhibition of both neurogenic phase ($F_{3,28}$ = 22.51, *P*<0.0001) and inflammatory ($F_{3,28}$ =4.76, *P*=0.0083; Fig. 3.3e) phases of the formalin test. Morphine reduced formalin-evoked nociceptive behaviour by maxima of 85.6 ± 12.7 % and 98.3 ± 3% in the early and late phases respectively (Fig. 3.3f).

Comparison of ED_{50} s obtained by F-test (Table 3.1) revealed that both the extract and xylopic acid were more potent in the second phase than the first. Morphine was more potent in the second phase ($ED_{50}=0.00039\pm0.0034$ mg kg⁻¹) compared to the first phase ($ED_{50}=0.15\pm0.20$ mg kg⁻¹). The potency order was: morphine >xylopic acid> the extract for both phases of the formalin test.



Figure 3.3 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and (e) morphine (1 - 10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on time course curve of formalininduced nociception in mice. Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8); **P* \leq 0.05, ***P* \leq 0.01, ****P* \leq 0.001 compared to respective controls (two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc*) and (b, d and f) the AUC (total response) for phase 1 and phase 2. Each column in b, d and f represent the mean \pm S.E.M.; [†]*P* \leq 0.05, ^{††}*P* \leq 0.01, ^{†††}*P* \leq 0.001 (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' *post hoc*).

3.4.3 Carrageenan-Induced Mechanical Hyperalgesia using Randall-Selitto

Two hours after carrageenan injection, the ipsilateral paw exhibited marked mechanical hyperalgesia and inflammation (Fig. 3.4). A change in hyperalgesic state was calculated as a percentage of the maximum possible effect. the extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) administered 2.5 h after carrageenan produced a

significant and dose-dependent attenuation of mechanical hyperalgesia (extract: $F_{3,28}$ =6.93, P=0.0012; xylopic acid: $F_{3,28}$ =4.86, P=0.0076; Fig. 3.4a-d) with maximal effects at 300 and 100 mg kg⁻¹ respectively. Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) and diclofenac (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) also dose-dependently attenuated mechanical hyperalgesia with maximal effects at 10 mg kg⁻¹ (Morphine: $F_{3,28}$ =10.67, P<0.0001; diclofenac: $F_{3,28}$ =5.86, P<0.0031 ; Fig. 3.5e-h).

From the ED_{50} values (Table 3.1); the extract was more potent than xylopic acid but less than diclofenac and morphine.



Figure 3.4 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and (c) xylopic acid (10 – 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) on the time course curve of carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rat in the Randall- Selitto model and the AUC (b and d). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 7-8); ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test); †*P* < 0.05, ††*P* < 0.01, †††*P* < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' post hoc test).



Figure 3.5 Effect of (a) morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) and (c) diclofenac (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on time course curve in carrageenan-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rat in the Randall- Selitto model and the AUC (b and d). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8); ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to control (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); [†]*P* ≤ 0.05, ^{††}*P* ≤ 0.01, ^{†††}*P* ≤ 0.001, compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).

3.4.4 Hargreaves Thermal hyperalgesia

3.4.4.1 Paw withdrawal test

Paw withdrawal latency measured was higher for the tested drugs compared to the control group. The hyperalgesia produced was calculated as % MPE [(extract:

 $F_{3,28}$ =5.44, P=0.0045; xylopic acid: $F_{3,28}$ =13.35, P<0.0001; morphine: $F_{3,28}$ =10.24; P=0.0001; Two-way ANOVA (*treatment* × *time*); Fig 3.7a,c & e]. The hyperalgesia was significantly ($F_{3,28}$ = 4.73, P=0.0086) and dose-dependently attenuated by the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) : with maximal effect at the dose of 300 mg kg⁻¹ (Fig. 3.7b). Xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also dose-dependently inhibited ($F_{3,28}$ = 12.56, P<0.0001; Fig. 3.7d) carrageenan-induced thermal hyperalgesia in the mice. The reference analgesic, morphine (1–10 mg kg⁻¹, *i.p.*), also showed significant, dose-dependent anti-hyperalgesic activity ($F_{3,28}$ = 9.30, P=0.0002; Fig. 3.7f) against the carrageenan-induced thermal hyperalgesia.

From the ED₅₀ values (Table 3.1) of the dose-response curves in the test, the extract $(46.82\pm35.92 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ was less potent than xylopic acid $(27.17\pm11.15 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ and morphine $(3.98\pm2.22 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$.

3.4.4.2 Tail flick test

All test drugs caused an increase in tail-flick latency, calculated as % MPE [(extract: $F_{3,28}=3.33$, P=0.0336; xylopic acid: $F_{3,28}=5.89$, P=0.003; morphine: $F_{3,28}=14.70$; P<0.0001; Two-way ANOVA (*treatment* × *time*); Fig 3.6a,c & e]. The extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) caused a significant, dose-dependent, attenuation of thermal nociception ($F_{3,28}=3.19$, P=0.0387) with maximum effect at the dose of 300 mg kg⁻¹(Fig. 3.6b). xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also dose-dependently inhibited ($F_{3,28}=5.16$, P=0.0058) thermal pain in the mice (Fig.3.6d). The reference analgesic, morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.), showed significant, dose-dependent anti-nociception ($F_{3,28}=13.23$, P<0.0001) with a maximum effect at 10 mg kg⁻¹(Fig. 3.6f).

By comparing the ED_{50} values (Table 3.1) of effects in the tail-flick test, the extract (72.17±76.77 mg kg⁻¹) was less potent than xylopic acid (8.61±6.87 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (11.67±9.88 mg kg⁻¹). Morphine was the most effective.



Figure 3.6 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of Hargreaves thermal paw withdrawal test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.001, ^{††}*P*<0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.7 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of tail withdrawal test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d, and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{††}*P*<0.01, [†]*P*<0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).

Test _	ED_{50} values (mg kg ⁻¹)				
	XAE	XA	Morphine	Diclofenac	
Acetic acid writhing test	37.56±7.8***	$5.47 \pm 0.8^{\dagger \dagger \dagger}$	0.80±0.2	1.95±0.5	
Formalin test	219.40±69.28 ^a 149.9±12.5 ^b	13.56±3.88 ^a 7.61±2.31 ^b	0.15 ± 0.2^{a} 0.00039 ± 0.0034^{b}	-	
Tail-flick test	72.2±76.77***	$8.61{\pm}6.87^{\dagger\dagger\dagger}$	11.67±9.88	-	
Mechanical hyperalgesia test	319.70±65.96	415.4±98.7 ^{†††}	4.37±0.90	10.84±2.62	
Hargreaves thermal paw hyperalgesia	46.82±35.92	27.2±11.15 ^{†††}	3.98±2.22	-	

Table 3.1 ED₅₀ values of drugs in the nociceptive tests.

 $ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression and comparison was made with F-test as described in material and methods. ***P < 0.001 compared to xylopic acid-treated group: ^{†††}P<0.001 compared to morphine-treated group.

^a First Phase of the formalin test

^b Second Phase of the formalin test

3.4.5 Skeletal hyperalgesia

The effects of the extract and xylopic acid in acute and chronic skeletal hyperalgesia are described below:

3.4.5.1 Acute skeletal hyperalgesia

Acute knee (skeletal) hyperalgesia induced by injecting mixture containing 3% kaolin and 3% carrageenan was measured using the Randall-Selitto model. The knee

withdrawal reflexes indicative of knee hyperalgesia was significantly ($F_{3,28}$ =14.74, P= 0.000006) and dose-dependently increased by the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) administration (Fig. 3.8a). The highest dose of extract produced acute knee anti-hyperalgesic effect of 181.50±11.2% (Fig. 3.8b). Pre-treatment with xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) significantly ($F_{3,28}$ =14.41, P=0.000007) and dose-dependently ameliorated acute knee hyperalgesia (Fig. 3.8c); with the highest dose of xylopic acid producing acute knee anti-hyperalgesia of 236.5±19.9% (Fig. 3.8d). Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) used as a positive control was effective at all the three doses producing a significant and dose-dependent acute knee anti-hyperalgesia ($F_{3,28}$ =11.55, P= 0.00004) (Fig. 3.8e); with the highest dose producing primary anti-hyperalgesia of 165.3±14.34% (Fig. 3.8f). The potency of drugs were in the order morphine > xylopic acid > extract (Fig. 3.9).

3.4.5.2 Chronic skeletal hyperalgesia

Chronic skeletal hyperalgesia was measured in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws on the eighth day after injection of a mixture containing 3% kaolin and 3% carrageenan. A decrease in paw withdrawal reflex of the ipsilateral paw and the contralateral (the inserted graph) paw to a mechanical source of stimulus was seen across all treatment groups on the test day indicating secondary skeletal hyperalgesia. This decrease in paw withdrawal reflexes remained significant for the control group throughout the experiment. Chronic skeletal hyperalgesia was significantly and dose-dependently attenuated by the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) (ipsi: $F_{3,28}$ =13.96, P= 0.000009, contra: $F_{3,28}$ =7.9, P=0.0006) in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws (Fig. 3.10a). Maximum anti-hyperalgesia was observed at the highest dose of the extract administration (Fig. 3.10b).

Xylopic acid administration produced a significant and dose-dependent (ipsi: $F_{3,28}=11.43$, P=0.00005, contra: $F_{3,28}=11.75$, P=0.00004) increase in paw withdrawal latency in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws (Fig. 3.10c). Maximum possible chronic skeletal anti-hyperalgesia was achieved at the highest dose (Fig. 3.10d). Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) significantly and dose-dependently attenuated chronic skeletal hyperalgesia (ipsi: $F_{3,28}=13.13$, P=0.00002, contra: $F_{3,28}=7.52$, P=0.0008) in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws (Fig. 3.10e); with the highest dose of morphine

producing the maximum possible effect (Fig. 3.10f). The rank of potency in the acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain was in the order morphine > xylopic acid > extract (Fig. 3.11).



Figure 3.8 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg-1 *p.o*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg-1 *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of paw withdrawal latency in the Randall-Selitto test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f) in acute knee pain. Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.001 ^{††}*P*<0.01 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.9 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in acute knee pain in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.


Figure 3.10 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of ipsilateral and contralateral paw (inserts) withdrawal latency in the Randall-Selitto test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f) in chronic knee pain. Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8); ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.001 [†]*P*<0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.11 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in chronic knee pain in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

3.4.6 Muscle hyperalgesia

The effects of the extract and xylopic acid in the acute and chronic muscle hyperalgesia are described below:

3.4.6.1 Acute muscle hyperalgesia

Acute muscle hyperalgesia induced with carrageenan was measured using grip strength assay. Muscle strength assessed twelve hours after the induction of muscle hyperalgesia after extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) administration significantly and dose-dependently increased ($F_{3,28}$ = 21.99, P=0.0000002) (Fig.3.12a). The extract produced anti-hyperalgesic effect of 245.2±21.7% (Fig.3.12b) was by the highest dose of 300 mg kg⁻¹.

Xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) significantly and dose-dependently reduced acute muscle hyperalgesia ($F_{3,28}$ =27.9., P=0.00000001, Fig.3.12c); producing possible maxima effect of 233.1±19.99% (Fig.3.12d) at the highest dose used.

Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) used as control was able to significantly and dose-dependently ameliorate acute muscle hyperalgesia ($F_{3,28}$ =21.86, P=0.00000017, Fig. 3.12e). Morphine also produced acute muscle anti-hyperalgesic effect of 342.3±18.70% (Fig. 3.12f) at the maximum dose. The order of potency was morphine > xylopic acid > extract, Fig. 3.13.

3.4.6.2 Chronic muscle pain

Chronic muscle hyperalgesia was measured from both the ipsilateral and contralateral (insets) paws eight days after pain induction. The hyperalgesia induced in the contralateral paws was indicative of referred pain from muscle injury and central pain mechanism. The extract, xylopic acid and morphine were effective in attenuating hyperalgesia in the ipsilateral (ipsi) paw than the referred hyperalgesia in the contralateral (contra) paws. Chronic muscle hyperalgesia was significantly and dose-dependently attenuated by the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) (ipsi: $F_{3,28}$ =8.37, P=0.00039427, contra: $F_{3,28}$ =18.25, P= 0.00000093, Fig. 3.14a) in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws. The maximum anti-hyperalgesic effect was achieved at the highest dose of the extract administration in both paws hyperalgesia measurement (Fig. 3.14b).

Xylopic acid attenuated chronic muscle hyperalgesia in both ipsilateral and contralateral paws significantly (ipsi: $F_{3,28}=15.42$, P=0.000004, contra: $F_{3,28}=14.99$, P=0.000005, Fig. 3.14c) in a dose-dependent manner attaining maximum possible effect at the highest dose used, Fig. 3.14d.

Morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) significantly and dose-dependently attenuated chronic muscle hyperalgesia (ipsi: $F_{3,28}=5.2$, P=0.0056, contra: $F_{3,28}=11.41$, P=0.00004610, Fig. 3.14e) in the ipsilateral and contralateral paws. Morphine exerted a maximum anti-hyperalgesic effect in both paws at the highest dose used (Fig. 3.14f). The order of potency was in the order morphine > xylopic acid > extract (Fig. 3.15).



Figure 3.12 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of grip strength test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f) in acute muscle pain. Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.13 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in the acute muscle pain in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.



Figure 3.14 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of ipsilateral paw and contralateral (insets) paw withdrawal latency in the Randall-Selitto test (a, c and e) and the AUC (b, d and f) in chronic muscle pain. Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8); ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.001, ^{††}*P*<0.01, [†]*P*<0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.15 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in the chronic muscle pain tests in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

3.4.7 Tolerance Studies

Morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) significantly attenuated the basal nociceptive response in both phases (Fig. 3.16c) of the formalin test in animals chronically-treated with vehicle for eight days. However, the same dose of morphine administered on day 9 in animals chronically-treated with 6 mg kg⁻¹, i.p. morphine failed to show such effect indicating the development of tolerance in first phase (Fig. 3.17a) and second phase (Fig. 3.17b) of the formalin test.

The extract (300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) exhibited antinociceptive activity in mice chronically-treated with the extract (600 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and xylopic acid (200 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) respectively or vehicle for 8 days (Fig. 3.16a and b respectively), indicating failure of tolerance development to the anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid in the first phase (Fig. 3.17a) and second phase (Fig. 3.17b) of the formalin test. The extract (300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) still demonstrated anti-nociceptive activity in mice chronically-treated with morphine (6 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) for eight days, indicating the absence of cross-tolerance development with morphine in the formalin test (Fig. 3.17).

3.4.8 Effect of extract and xylopic acid on motor coordination on the Rota-rod

Effect on motor coordination was measured as duration of stay on the rotating drum of the rota-rod. The results obtained indicated that there were no significant differences between xylopic acid-treated ($F_{3,28}$ =0.39, P=0.7635; table 2) groups compared to the control group. ANOVA did not reveal any significant effect of the extract on the time spent on the rota-rod ($F_{3,28}$ =2.44, P=0.0855; table 2). However, Bonferroni's *post hoc* analysis revealed significant effects (P<0.01, table 3.4) for the extract at the dose of 300 mg kg-1, when compared to vehicle treated controls.



Figure 3.16 Effect of (a) extract (300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), (b) xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) and (c) morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) challenge on the time course effect of the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking of mice chronically treated with vehicle, extract (600 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), xylopic acid (200 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) or morphine (6 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) for 9 days. Each point represents the mean \pm S.E.M. **P* \leq 0.05, **P \leq 0.01, ****P* \leq 0.001 compared to respective controls (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test).



Figure 3.17 Effect of extract (300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) challenge on mice chronically treated with vehicle, extract (600 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and xylopic acid (200 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) or morphine (6 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) for 9 days on the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test in mice AUC for (a) phase 1 and (b) phase 2 of formalin-induced pain respectively. Each column represent the mean \pm S.E.M. **P* \leq 0.05, ***P* \leq 0.01, ****P* \leq 0.001 compared to respective controls (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' *post hoc*).

3.4.9 Test for catalepsy and Grip strength assay

Post grip strength measured in the animals after the extract and xylopic acid administration did not differ from the baseline measurements (Table 3.2). Similar trends were observed for the extract and xylopic acid on the time spent on the bars (Table 3.3). The time spent on the bar by morphine treated mice however increased due to catalepsy (Table 3.3). The catalepsy induced in morphine treated mice affected grip strength measurement significantly (Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 Effect of XAE the (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), XA (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (40 mg kg⁻¹) on grip strength measurement before (B) and after (A) XAE, XA and morphine administration.

Dose	Control		XAE		XA		Morphine	
(mg/k							L	
g)								
	В	А	В	А	В	А	В	А
0	30.9±3.3	30.6±2.1	-	-	-	-	-	-
10	-	-	-	-	25.9±2.1	25.8±1.8	-	-
30	-	-	30.9±1.4	31.2±3.1	30.4±1.5	31.2±2.5	-	-
40	-	-	-	-	-	-	29.1±1	39.8±7*
100	-	-	31.7±2.9	31.3±2.8	29.7±2.5	31.4±3.2	-	-
300	-	-	32.1±5.0	32.3±3.3	-	-	-	-

All data are expressed as a mean \pm SEM. **P* < 0.05 represents significant difference from respective pre-treated group animals of the same drug (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).

Dose	Control		extract		xylopic acid		Morphine	
mg/kg								
	В	А	В	А	В	А	В	А
0	10.4±1.6	9.2±1.6	-	-	-	-	-	-
10	-	-	-	-	7.1±0.5	6.8±0.7	-	-
30	-	-	8.1±1.0	8.4±2.0	7.0±0.8	5.7±0.7	-	-
40	-	-	-	-	-	-	6.3±0.4	113.8±34***
100	-	-	6.4±0.7	6.0±0.5	6.8±0.7	6.1±1	-	-
300	-	-	7.7±0.7	7.9±2.5	-	-	-	-

Table 3.3 Effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (40 mg kg⁻¹) on the total time (in seconds) spent on the bar in the Bar test of catalepsy before (B) and after (A) extract, xylopic acid and morphine administration.

All data are expressed as a mean \pm SEM. ****P* < 0.001 represents significant difference from respective pre-treated group animals of the same drug (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).

D	Time spent on rod (s)						
Dose $(ma ka^{-1})$	Vehicle	XAE	XA				
(Ing kg)	$\mathrm{Oh}^{\#}$	1h	2h	3h			
0	120.0±0.0	116.0±2.1	118.6±0.9	118.0±2.0			
30	120.0±0.0	118.4±1.2	112.2±3.7	115.4±1.2			
100	120.0±0.0	110.6±5.3	113.6±4.4	116.8±1.6			
300	120.0±0.0	105.6±7.0	102.6±5.9**	116.8±1.8			
10	120.0±0.0	117.6±1.9	116.0±2.1	114.4±3.9			
30	120.0±0.0	116.4±2.2	116.4±1.5	117.0±2.0			
100	120.0±0.0	116.6±1.4	118.0±2.0	118.0±2.0			

Table 3.4 Effect of extract and xylopic acid on motor coordination measured as time spent on the rota-rod.

Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM (n=8). ***P*<0.01 compared to vehicle-treated control group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test). [#] Hours after treatment

3.5 DISCUSSION

A battery of tests was used to evaluate the antinociceptive properties of the extract and xylopic acid. The extract and xylopic acid were effective in all the pain models used. The models employed different stimuli types, intensity and sources in the induction of pain in order to provide a complete analgesic profile of the extract and xylopic acid. Acute, chronic, persistent and colic pain models were employed in order to evaluate centrally and peripherally mediated effects of the extract and xylopic acid. The acetic acid writhing test is useful in investigating visceral antinociceptive activity of drugs. Acetic acid injection causes the local release of pro-inflammatory substances, including prostaglandins, substance P, bradykinin, and/or cytokines (Raja et al., 1988) resulting in the activation and sensitization of peripheral nociceptive afferent neurons. The antinociception of the extract and xylopic acid in this test may be due to possible inhibition of the synthesis and/or release of pro-inflammatory substances peripherally similar to diclofenac used as control (Panthong et al., 2007). Both extract and xylopic acid inhibited prostaglandin E₂ (EP) and bradykinin (B 1 and/or B 2) receptors/ nociceptive pathways. Morphine exhibited similar effects and this agrees with other reports (Ferreira and Nakamura, 1979; Smith et al., 1982; Stein et al., 1988; Levine and Taiwo, 1989; Stein et al., 1989; Parsons and Herz, 1990). These effects (inhibition of prostaglandin and bradykinin receptors/ nociceptive pathways) also contributed to the observed antinociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid in this model.

Furthermore, the antinociceptive effects of extract and xylopic acid observed in this test may have occurred spinally through the inhibition of pro-inflammatory mediators – mediated central sensitization in the spinal cord. Central sensitisation causes altered responsiveness of dorsal horn neurons leading to the expansion of the receptive fields of the neurons (Devor and Wall, 1978; Woolf and Fitzgerald, 1983). This eventually manifests as hypernociception (an increased sensitivity to noxious stimuli) after the injection of acetic acid.

The acetic acid-induced writhing test therefore provided scientific evidence to the use of the fruits of *X. aethiopica* in management of colic pain, a form of visceral pain. In order to evaluate the antinociceptive effect of the extract and xylopic acid on other

forms of pain such as those arising from sensory nerves of which the fruits are reported to be used for, the formalin test was performed.

The formalin test is a tonic model of continuous pain resulting from formalin-induced tissue injury. Both extract and xylopic acid inhibited the neurogenic and inflammatory phases of the mouse formalin test. Morphine, an opioid analgesic used as control blocked both phases of the formalin test and this agrees with literature (Trongsakul et al., 2003). The formalin test is a useful model, particularly for the screening of novel compounds, since the nociception produced in this test involves inflammatory, neurogenic, and central mechanisms (Ellis et al., 1998). The formalin test was further used to evaluate the antinociceptive properties of the extract and xylopic acid because it is considered the most predictive of acute pain and is believed to be a more valid model for clinical pain (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977; Tjolsen et al., 1992). The possible mechanism(s) of analgesia produced by the extract and xylopic acid can be elucidated in formalin test (Hunskaar and Hole, 1987; Yun-Kyoung Yim, 1999; Tang et al., 2007). The first phase which is transient is caused by the direct effect of formalin on transient receptor potential ankyrin subtype 1 receptors (TRPA 1) and transient receptor potential vanniloid receptors (TRPV 1) which are cation channels on sensory C-fibres (Mcnamara et al., 2007). The second prolonged phase is associated with the combination of an inflammatory reaction in the peripheral tissue causing a release of nociceptive mediators such as serotonin, histamine, bradykinin and prostaglandins which subsequently cause sensitization of the central neurons leading to changes in central processing of pain (Da Rocha et al., 2011; Santa-Cecilia et al., 2011). The inflammatory pain has also been associated with higher brain centres like the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). Inhibition of ACC decreases inflammatory nociceptive response of the prolonged, tonic, inflammatory portion of the formalin test manifested as reduction in paw licking/biting behaviour (Donahue et al., 2001). The extract and xylopic acid like morphine acted peripherally by possibly inhibiting the activation of TRPA 1 receptors and centrally which may involve inhibition of the nociceptive effects of serotonin, adrenaline, nor adrenaline, prostaglandins, bradykinin, acetylcholine and adenosine to produce antinociception in the formalin test. The formalin test confirmed the traditional use of the fruits of X. aethiopica in the treatment of both neurogenic and inflammatory pain.

To further confirm the effect of the extract and xylopic acid on inflammatory pain the carrageenaninduced mechanical hyperalgesia and acute and chronic carrageenan/kaolin- induced musculosketal pain experiments were performed. Although these two experiments employ the same inflammation inducing agent, the pathophysiology underlining these two models vary and it has been demonstrated that the mechanisms of pain and hyperalgesia induced by injecting inflammatory agents into different tissues like muscle, joint and skin are different and may represent different pathophysiological processes (Radhakrishnan et al., 2003). The effect of the extract and xylopic acid on mechanical hyperalgesia was evaluated in the Randall-Selitto assay. Acute inflammatory pain assay was conducted employing the Randall-Selitto assay, a test for quantification of thresholds of rat hind paw withdrawal reflex to nociceptive pressure stimulation. The extract and xylopic acid were effective in this model. The hyperalgesia in the carrageenan-induced acute pain model is due to the activation of slowly-adapting mechanoreceptors with decreased thresholds, which are predominantly C-fibers located in cutaneous and subcutaneous structures that would have required greater stimulus intensities for activation (Birder and Perl, 1994; Lewin and Moshourab, 2004). The extract and xylopic acid together with the control drugs; morphine and diclofenac produced anti-hyperalgesic effect in this model by possibly raising the thresholds of various mechanoreceptors and mechano transduction pathways which were lowered by the carrageenan-induced inflammation and/or antagonizing the pain mediating agents responsible for lowering the pain threshold (Park et al., 2008).

The antinociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid in the musculoskeletal pain experiments were similar to the effects observed in the Randall–Selitto assay. Injection of 3% carrageenan into the muscle and a mixture of (3% carrageenan: 3% kaolin) into the knee provide a relevant model for assessing painful clinical conditions that are aggravated by mechanical pressure at the site of injury such as arthritis. Pain arising from musculoskeletal disorders is a major clinical problem globally and difficult to treat (Afable and Ettinger, 1993). The effectiveness of the extract and xylopic acid in this model give an indication that they may be useful in patients with musculoskeletal disorders such as arthritis and fibromyalgia (Skyba *et al.*, 2005). Histologically, there is an acute inflammatory response with neutrophilic infiltration for the first week. This converts to a macrophage-dominated chronic inflammation by 1 week that lasts through 8 weeks. Thus, carrageenan can be used as a model of acute inflammation of muscle or joint for the first 24 h and as a model of chronic inflammatory hyperalgesia after one week (Radhakrishnan et al., 2003). Acute musculoskeletal pain resulted from the activation of group III (Aδ-fiber) and group IV (C-fiber) polymodal muscle nociceptors. These nociceptors are sensitized by released pain mediators such as neuropeptides (substance P), citrulline and prostaglandins from the nerve endings eventually leads to peripheral sensitization and hyperalgesia in the ipsilateral limb (Schaible *et al.*, 1987; Mense and Simons, 2001; Sluka, 2002). Biochemically and histopathologically, the first 3 hours of the acute phase of knee joint inflammation is characterised by increased levels of cyclooxygenase enzyme-2 (COX-2 produces prostaglandin E₂) mRNA and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS produces proinflammatory chemical NO) mRNA in the synovial fluid. This result in the synthesis and release of inflammatory mediators such as histamine, 5-HT, bradykinin and prostaglandins at 4 hours causing mild haemorrhage, oedema and minimal cell infiltrates of polymorphonuclear granulocytes (Di Rosa and Willoughby, 1971). More neutrophils are seen in the ipsilateral knee at 8 hours and at 24 hours, the acute inflammation is severe, accompanied by fibrinous exudate in the knee joint. Increased levels of the excitatory amino acid, glutamate, and nitric oxide metabolites as well as other cytokines such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) have been observed in the in the ipsilateral synovium of the acute phase (Manni and Aloe, 1998; Bement et al., 2003).

The inflammation converts to a chronic state characterised by macrophage infiltration with a few scattered mast cells. The pain associated with the chronic inflammation involves central sensitization caused by glutamate, substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide and prostanoids on dorsal horn neurons and supraspinal structures Chronic musculoskeletal hyperalgesia is a result of sensitization of deep-tissue nociceptors, followed by temporal summation, wind-up and central sensitization by glutamate, substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide and prostanoids (synaptic plasticity and efficacy) leading to wide spread deep tissue hyperalgesia and expanded areas of referred pain (bilateral spread of pain) (Radhakrishnan *et al.*, 2003; Skyba *et al.*, 2005). In addition, descending inhibitory control of pain mediated via the descending inhibitory pain control system in the rostral ventral medulla (RVM), glutamate exitotoxity, increased descending facilitation of pain and destruction of K⁺/Cl⁻ pump of the neurons (this causes accumulation of Cl⁻ ions intracellularly via stimulation of NMDA situated on GABA receptors and further GABA activation results in Cl⁻ ions

efflux leading to paradoxical GABA mediated excitation of neurons) contribute to the hyperalgesia observed in chronic musculoskeletal pain. Clinically, it has been observed that the descending inhibitory pain control system in the rostral ventral medulla is impaired in people with chronic musculoskeletal pain (Herrero and Cervero, 1996; Yang *et al.*, 1996; Urban *et al.*, 1999; Sluka *et al.*, 2001). Therefore chronic musculoskeletal pain (contralateral hyperalgesia) induced in the deep tissues is independent of primary afferent drive or input from the site of injury once it has been developed (Coderre and Melzack, 1985; Sluka *et al.*, 2001). It is therefore plausible to state that the extract and xylopic acid acted peripherally by acting against the released pro-inflammatory mediators such as neutrophils and centrally by suppressing the effect of infiltrated macrophages as well as facilitating the inhibitory activities of the RVM to inhibit acute and chronic pain in this model similar to morphine used as control (Skyba *et al.*, 2005).

The paw withdrawal response in the Hargreaves (plantar) thermal hyperalgesia test is mediated peripherally. The hyperalgesia observed in the Hargreaves (plantar) thermal test can therefore be inhibited by peripherally acting drugs (especially drugs that inhibit COX enzymes or the effect of the inflammatory mediators) (Dirig *et al.*, 1997; Lavich *et al.*, 2005). The tail-flick response is believed to be a spinally mediated reflex (Chapman *et al.*, 1985) but the mechanism of response could also involve higher neural structures (Jensen and Yaksh, 1986). The hyperalgesia observed in the Hargreaves (tail) thermal test can therefore be inhibited by drugs that act spinally and supra spinally. Employing the tail and paw withdrawal tests allow for the detection of both peripherally, spinally and supra spinally acting drugs. The extract, xylopic acid as well as morphine (Lavich *et al.*, 2005) acted peripherally, spinally and supra spinally to inhibit thermal hyperalgesia.

The development of tolerance that necessitates dose escalation regardless of disease progression, greatly limit the effectiveness and usage of some important analgesics such as the opioids (Tang *et al.*, 2006; Chen *et al.*, 2008). The extract and XE were chronically administered to animals to determine whether tolerance will develop to the analgesic effects of the extract and xylopic acid respectively and also if morphine tolerance could cross-generalize to the analgesic effects of the extract and xylopic acid. The results suggest that, unlike morphine, the extract and xylopic acid do not induce tolerance to their analgesic effects after chronic administration in the formalin test. Also

morphine tolerance does not cross-generalize to the effects of the extract and xylopic acid. These are significant findings and imply that the extract and xylopic acid can be used to treat pain in opioid tolerant individuals.

In order to eliminate the possibility that decreased motor function is confounding the results obtained in the nociceptive test models, motor performance of the mice was evaluated using the rota-rod. Some of the models employed such as the abdominal writhing response and grip strength measurement may be suppressed by drugs like muscle relaxants, catalepsy-inducing agents and adrenergic agonists which can lead to the misinterpretation of results (Pietrovski *et al.*, 2006). Muscle rigidity (cataleptic state) did not confound the antinociceptive effect of the extract and xylopic acid in the grip strength assay. Again, xylopic acid did not compromise motor coordination hence the measurement of their antinociceptive activity in models such as acetic acid-induced writhing test was not a false positive due to impairment in motor activity of the animals. The extract at the highest dose tested (i.e. 300 mg kg⁻¹) exerted some effect on motor coordination.

3.6 CONCLUSION

The extract and xylopic acid acts both centrally and peripherally to inhibit acute and chronic pain of neurogenic and inflammatory origin without the development of tolerance to their antinociceptive effects.

Chapter 4 EFFECT OF EXTRACT AND XYLOPIC ACID ON NEUROPATHIC PAIN

4.1 INTRODUCTION

The formalin test can be used as a predictor of agents that may be effective in neuropathic pain (Ellis *et al.*, 1998; Vissers *et al.*, 2006). The extract and xylopic acid as noted earlier exhibited antinociception in this (formalin) test. The extract and xylopic acid therefore may be effective in neuropathic pain. To further evaluate this claim, the analgesic properties of the extract and xylopic acid were evaluated in chemotherapy-induced neuropathic pain.

Neuropathic pain is defined as a form of chronic pain that results from damage or abnormal function of the central or peripheral nervous system (Reyes-Gibby et al., 2009). Patients with neuropathic pain frequently report of sensory abnormalities including burning sensations, exaggerated responses to noxious stimuli (hyperalgesia), pain sensations resulting from innocuous stimuli (allodynia), an exaggerated response to touch such as to bed sheets (hyperesthesia), and spontaneous pain episodes (dysesthesia) (Schim, 2009). Neuropathic pain can also alter the patient's quality of life by interfering with emotional well-being. Cancer-related pain is a significant clinical problem and the two main sources of cancer-related pain are that from the malignancy itself and from the treatments utilized to alleviate the cancer (e.g. surgery, radiation and chemotherapy). Approximately one-third to half of all patients receiving anticancer treatment suffer from pain, and greater than two-thirds in the more advanced disease states (Lynch et al., 2005). Although there has been an increase in the survival rate of cancer patients transforming the formerly lethal diseases into a chronic disease state, peripheral neuropathy and subsequent neuropathic pain related to chemotherapeutic treatment has been the dose limiting and greatest set back. This type of pain is often resistant to standard analgesics and severe enough for patients to skip chemotherapy treatment (Lynch et al., 2005). To date no one drug or drug class is considered to be a 'safe and effective analgesic' in the treatment of chemotherapy-induced pain. Clearly the need exists for new pharmacotherapeutics for chemotherapy-induced neuropathic pain, either as stand-alone drugs or as supplements to already existing medications. Therefore, using doses of vincristine close to that used clinically, an animal model of vincristine-induced neuropathic pain was used to evaluate the effect of the extract and xylopic acid in neuropathic pain (Aley *et al.*, 1996; Thibault *et al.*, 2008).

Vincristine-induced painful neuropathy in rats was chosen to evaluate the effect of the extract and xylopic acid in neuropathic pain due to the common features this protocol shares with vincristine-induced neuropathic pain in humans, specifically:

(i) Experimentally and clinically observed manifestation of pain occur at similar doses,

(ii) At doses above those required to alter nociception, motor function is also affected,

(iii) Both rapid onset and delayed onset forms of painful neuropathy are observed (Sandler *et al.*, 1969; Casey *et al.*, 1973; Ashburn and Lipman, 1993; Aley *et al.*, 1996; Thibault *et al.*, 2008).

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1 Animals

Sprague-Dawley rats (100–150 g) were used in this experiment. The animals were provided with the necessary conditions as described previously under section 3.2.1.

4.2.2 Drugs and chemicals

The following drugs were used: Pregabalin, (Lyrica[®]), was purchased from Pfizer Pharmaceuticals, Arzneimittelwerk Godecke, Freiburg, Germany; vincristine sulphate from Celon laboratory Ltd, Gajularamaram, India.

4.2.3 Vincristine-induced neuropathic pain

Vincristine sulphate was dissolved in saline and stored as a stock concentration of 1 mg 10 ml^{-1} at 4 °C. The animals received i.p. injection of vincristine at a final concentration of 0.1 mg kg⁻¹ day⁻¹ in two cycles of five consecutive days (i.e. days 1–5 and days 8–12 with 2 days off). This dose was chosen because it produces hyperalgesia with no significant motor deficit (Aley *et al.*, 1996). On day 15 baseline nociception was measured in the Randall-Selitto test, Von Frey test (4 g, 8 g and 15 g) and cold

allodynia (cold water at 4.5 °C). The animals afterwards were treated with the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) or saline.

Three sets of experiments namely cold allodynia, Randall-Selitto mechanical hyperalgesia and Von Frey tactile, intermediate and mechanical hyperalgesia were then performed in order to evaluate the effects of the extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin on vincristine-induced painful neuropathy.

4.2.3.1 Assessment of tactile allodynia and mechanical hyperalgesia

To evaluate the effect of the extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin on mechanical allodynia/hyperalgesia, animals were placed in a restrainer and confined. Tactile allodynia was assessed using Von Frey filaments (IITC Life Science Inc. Model 2888, Woodland Hills, CA, USA) with bending forces of 4 g. Chemotherapy-induced responses to 4 g are best described as tactile allodynia (pain from a normally innocuous stimulus) because normal rats never withdraw from this stimulus (Flatters and Bennett, 2004; Siau *et al.*, 2006). Intermediate and mechanical hyperalgesia were assessed with Von Frey filaments of bending forces of 8 and 15 g respectively. Responses to 15 g are best described as hyperalgesia (heightened pain response from a normally painful stimulus) because normal rats withdraw from this stimulus 5–10% of the time. The responses to 8 g are intermediate (Flatters and Bennett, 2004; Siau *et al.*, 2006).

In ascending order of force, each filament was applied to the mid-plantar area (avoiding the base of the tori) of each hind paw five times, with each application held for 5 s. Withdrawal responses to the Von Frey filaments from both hind paws were counted and then expressed as an overall percentage response, e.g. if a rat withdrew to 6 out of the total 10 Von Frey applications, this was recorded as 60% overall response to that Von Frey filament (Flatters and Bennett, 2004; Siau *et al.*, 2006).

4.2.3.2 Cold allodynia

Cold allodynia was assessed by immersion of the rat's hind paw into a water bath containing cold water (4.5 °C) and latency to paw withdrawal was measured using a digital timer (Lynch *et al.*, 2005). Only one hind paw was tested during each immersion

at a time, with the maximum cut-off time limited to 20 s. For each animal, two recordings were made for each hind paw, and the data were reported as the mean of both hind paw values.

4.2.3.3 Mechanical hyperalgesia in the Randall-Selitto test

Mechanical nociception was measured with the IITC Life Science Model 2888 (Woodland Hills, CA, USA). Briefly, the rat's hind paw was placed into the pressure applicator, and a steadily increasing pressure stimulus (maximum cut-off of 250 g) was applied to the dorsal surface of the paw until withdrawal or vocalization occurred, at which weight the nociceptive threshold value was recorded. For each animal, two recordings were made for each hind paw, and the data were reported as the mean of both hind paw values (Stohr *et al.*, 2006; Woode *et al.*, 2009).

4.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data were analysed as described under section 3.3

4.4 RESULTS

4.4.1 Assessment of vincristine-induced cytotoxicity

Vincristine treated animals showed overt signs of toxicity which manifested as loss in body weight and death of some animals (Fig 4.1). The initial mean weight of the animals was 105.53 ± 3.25 which gradually reduced to a mean weight of 93.31 ± 3.88 . The percentage loss in body weight was 11.58%. Seven vincristine treated animals died: one animal died each on day six, eight and ten and four animals died on day nine.



Figure 4.1 Daily weights and survival curve for groups of rats (n = 100) receiving vincristine (0.1 mg kg⁻¹). The x-axis (time) indicates days of vincristine treatment. The left y-axis illustrates the mean daily weights (g) ± S.E.M.

4.4.2 Measurement of Tactile allodynia using Von Frey filaments of 4 g

Intraperitoneal injection of vincristine for two weeks produced a marked, prolonged dynamic tactile allodynia in rats. One hour after the various drug treatments, tactile allodynia was measured using Von Frey filament of 4 g and the control animals showed increase response to tactile allodynia compared to the treated animals. Extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) and xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) decreased the response to paw withdrawal ($F_{3,28}$ =5.12, P=0.006: $F_{3,28}$ =3.72, P=0.0229 respectively, Fig. 4.2a and c) producing tactile anti-allodynia of 61.3±11.4% and 65.8±23.8% respectively at the highest doses used (Fig. 4.2b and d).

The anticonvulsant, pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) significantly and dose-dependently inhibited tactile allodynia ($F_{3,28}$ =5.92, P=0.0029) (Fig. 4.2e):with the highest dose of pregabalin, 100 mg kg⁻¹ producing an anti-allodynic effect of 62.4±8.93% (Fig.4.2f).

Xylopic acid was more potent than pregabalin and the extract. Pregabalin was also more potent than the extract (Fig.4.3).

4.4.3 Measurement of intermediate hyperalgesia using Von Frey 8 g filament

Von Frey filaments of 8 g was used to assess the effect of the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-00 mg kg⁻¹) on mechanical hypernociception intermediate to tactile allodynia and mechanical hyperalgesia. The extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin produced significant anti-hyperalgesia (extract: $F_{3,28}=2.91$, P=0.0517, xylopic acid: $F_{3,28}=3.61$, P=0.0255, pregabalin: $F_{3,28}=2.40$, P=0.0889 Fig. 4.4a, c and e) respectively in this test. The highest doses of extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin produced possible maximum anti-hyperalgesic effects (Fig. 4.4b, d and f).

Xylopic acid was more potent and efficacious than pregabalin and the extract. Pregabalin was also more potent and efficacious than the extract (Fig.4.5).



Figure 4.2 Effect of (a) extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*), (c) xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and (e) pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) on the time course of vincristine-induced neuropathic pain (tactile allodynia, 4 g Von Frey filament) in rats. Each point represents Mean ± S.E.M (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.01 ^{††}*P*<0.01 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 4.3 Dose–response curves for the tactile anti-allodynic effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.



Figure 4.4 Effect of extract (a) (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.*o*.), (c) xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.*o*.) and (e) pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.*o*.) on the time course of vincristine-induced neuropathic pain (8 g Von Frey filament) in rats and the AUC (b, d and f). Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; **P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.01 ^{††}*P*<0.01 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 4.5 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effects of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain (8 g Von Frey filament). Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

4.4.4 Measurement of Mechanical hyperalgesia using Von Frey 15 g filament

Baseline mechanical hyperalgesia taken on day 15 using Von Frey 15 g filament revealed that both hind paws exhibited marked static mechanical hyperalgesia. The extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) produced a significant ($F_{3,28}$ =3.61, *P*=0.0255) and dosedependent inhibition of static mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4.6a). The highest dose of the extract decreased the overall response to mechanical hyperalgesia by 48.3 ± 32.5% (Fig. 4.6b).

Significant ($F_{3,28}$ = 11.76, P=0.00003) and dose-dependent mechanical hyperalgesia was produced after xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) administration (Fig. 4.6c): with the highest dose decreasing the overall mechanical hyperalgesia by 63.4 ± 25.5% (Fig. 4.6d).

The administration of pregabalin (10–100 mg kg⁻¹) significantly ($F_{3,28} = 10.87$, P = 0.00006) and dose-dependently inhibited mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4.6e) and a maximum anti-hyperalgesia of 72 ± 25.1% (Fig. 4.6f) was achieved at the highest dose administered.

Pregabalin was more efficacious than xylopic acid and extract. Xylopic acid was also more efficacious than the extract (Fig.4.7).



Figure 4.6 Effect of (a) extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.), (c) xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) and (e) pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ p.o.) on the time course of vincristineinduced neuropathic pain (15 g Von Frey filament) in rats and the AUC (b, d and f). Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. * $P \leq 0.05$, ** $P \leq 0.01$, *** $P \leq 0.001$ compared to respective controls (two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc); $^{\dagger}P \leq 0.05$, $^{\dagger\dagger}P \leq 0.01$, $^{\dagger\dagger}P \leq 0.001$ (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' post hoc).



Figure 4.7 Dose–response curves for the anti-hyperalgesic effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

4.4.5 Mechanical hyperalgesia in the Randall-Selitto test

Base line mechanical hyperalgesia taken on day 15 in the Randall-Selitto test revealed that both hind paws exhibited marked mechanical hyperalgesia. A change in hyperalgesic state was calculated as a percentage of the maximum possible effect. The extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) produced a significant ($F_{3,28} = 14.34$, P=0.000007) and dose-dependent inhibition of mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4.8a). The maximum possible effect was produced by the highest dose (Fig. 4.8b). Xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also produced a significant ($F_{3,28} = 14.85$, P=0.000006) and dose-dependent inhibition of mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4.58) at all the three doses used. The highest dose administered produces the maximum anti-hyperalgesic effect (Fig. 4.8d). The administration of pregabalin (10–100 mg kg⁻¹) significantly ($F_{3,28}$ = 9.64, P=0.0002) and dose-dependently attenuated mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4.8e); the maximum mechanical anti-hyperalgesic effect was achieved by the highest dose (Fig. 4.8f). Xylopic acid was more efficacious than pregabalin and the extract. Pregabalin was also more efficacious than the extract (Fig.4.9).

4.4.6 Cold allodynia

Base line cold allodynia was measured from both hind paws on day 15 using cold water at a temperature of 4.5 °C. The extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) produced a significant ($F_{3,28} = 18.74$, P=0.000002) and dose-dependent inhibition of cold allodynia (Fig.4.10a) which was demonstrated as increased latency to paw withdrawal. The highest dose of extract increased the latency to paw withdrawal to cold allodynia by 110.6 ± 5.13% (Fig. 4.10b).

Xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also produced a significant ($F_{3,28}$ =15.61, P=0.000003) and dose-dependent inhibition of cold allodynia (Fig. 4.10c). The time of paw withdraw after xylopic acid administration was increased by 91.8 ± 5.6% (Fig. 4.10d) which occurred at the highest dose. The administration of pregabalin (10–100 mg kg⁻¹) inhibited cold allodynia ($F_{3,28}$ =16.70, P=0.000002:Fig. 4.10e); the highest dose produced cold anti-allodynic effect of 111.4 ± 5.19% (Fig. 4.10f).

Pregabalin was more efficacious than extract. The extract was also more efficacious than xylopic acid (Fig.4.11).



Figure 4.8 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*), (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (e) pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) on the time course curve of vincristine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rat using the Randall- Selitto model and the AUC (b. d and f). Data is presented as mean ± S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); [†]*P* < 0.05, ^{††}*P* < 0.01, ^{†††}*P* < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 4.9 Dose–response curves for the anti-hyperalgesic effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain (Randall- Selitto). Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.



Figure 4.10 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*), (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) and (e) pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) on the time course curve of vincristine-induced cold allodynia and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); ^{††}*P* < 0.01, ^{†††}*P* < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 4.11 Dose–response curves for the cold anti-allodynic effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and pregabalin (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

4.5 DISCUSSION

The extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin ameliorated vincristine-induced tactile and cold allodynia, and mechanical hyperalgesia which constitute the major and common symptoms experienced by patients with chemotherapy-induced neuropathy. Systemic treatment with vincristine damages Schwann cells and dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons of the peripheral nervous system leading to degeneration of myelinated and unmyelinated fibres. Vincristine-induced neuropathic pain involves peripheral (IL-6-
janus kinase (Jak) - transcription-3 (STAT3) pathway) and central (TNF-α - p38 MAP kinase pathway) mechanisms (Siau et al., 2006; Kiguchi et al., 2009; Authier et al., 2003). The extract, xylopic acid and pregabalin may have exerted antinociceptive properties in this study through the inhibition of calcium channels on sensory nerves. It is generally admitted that small diameter C- and Aδ-sensory fibres are mainly involved in the response to cold and intense mechanical stimuli whereas large Aβ-fibres (low threshold fibres) response to tactile stimuli. Pregabalin an antagonist on α_2 - δ_1 subunit of voltage dependent calcium channels is reported to be effective both experimentally and clinically in managing neuropathic pain (Schim, 2009; Kumar et al., 2010). Also, Kaurenoic acid (present in the extract) and xylopic acid have been reported to posses calcium channel blocking effects (Somova et al., 2001). Increased expression and activity of α_2 - δ_1 Ca²⁺ channels (a subunit construct of N-type voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channel) have also been observed in neuropathic pain states (Mao et al., 1995; Yajima et al., 2005). Furthermore the changes in the PNS and CNS occurring after vincristine treatment lead to spontaneous activity of C- and A\beta-fibres that result in spontaneous pain and abnormal sensations both peripherally and centrally. Inhibition of calcium channels prevent neuronal excitability and other cellular enzymatic cascade reactions that lead to pain sensation (Schim, 2009; Kumar et al., 2010). It is therefore possible that the extract and xylopic acid may have blocked pain in this model by inhibiting calcium channels similar to pregabalin leading to inhibition of pain stimuli propagation in the affected unmyelinated and myelinated C-, A δ - and A β -fibres.

4.6 CONCLUSION

The extract and xylopic acid exhibited analgesic properties in vincristine-induced neuropathic pain by ameliorating tactile and cold allodynia as well as mechanical hyperalgesia which constitute common symptoms seen in patients undergoing chemotherapy treatment.

Chapter 5 MECHANISM OF ANTINOCICEPTION OF FRUIT EXTRACT OF *XYLOPIA AETHIOPICA* AND XYLOPIC ACID

5.1 INTRODUCTION

In the previous chapters the antinociceptive effect of the extract and xylopic acid were evaluated in several chemical, radiant and mechanical behavioural models of pain. In the first phase of the formalin test, substance P and bradykinin were involved in the nociceptors sensitisation while histamine, serotonin, prostaglandins, nitric oxide, bradykinin, TNF α , IL-6, noradrenalin, Ach and other pro-inflammatory pain mediators were involved in the late phase of the formalin test as well as the other models of pain used (Dalbo *et al.*, 2006; Lu *et al.*, 2007).

Again in the spinal cord the nociceptive information coming from gut, skin and other organs is submitted to a modulation by a great variety of transmitters that may filter and modulate the transmission of nociceptive impulses to the brain (Fürst, 1999; Millan, 2002). These modulating substances are able to act as pro- (descending facilitation) or antinociceptive (descending inhibition), depending on diverse factors, such as the type and intensity of the stimulation, the central region activated, receptor type, and others (Millan, 2002). The neurons projected by the central areas responsible for the control of the perception of pain (descending facilitation and descending inhibition) contain several transmitters, including noradrenalin, serotonin (5-HT), acetylcholine, γ -hydroxy-butyric acid (GABA), nitric oxide (NO), glutamate, dopamine and others (Fürst, 1999; Millan, 2002). In this context, the participation of the L-arginine/ nitric oxide pathway, opioidergic, adenosinergic, adrenergic, serotoninergic, muscarinic receptors or pathways in the antinociceptive effect of the extract and xylopic acid were investigated.

5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.2.1 Drugs and chemicals

Morphine hydrochloride was obtained from Phyto-Riker, Accra, Ghana: carrageenan, naloxone and N^G-Nitro-I-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME) from Sigma-Aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA: glibenclamide, Daonil[®] from Sanofi-Aventis, Guildford, UK: formalin and theophylline were purchased from BDH, Poole, England: Ondansetron from GlaxoSmithKline, Uxbridge, UK: Atropine sulphate was purchased from E. Merck AG-Darmstadt, Germany: yohimbine was obtained from Walter Ritter GmbH + Co. KG, Germany, L-glutamtic acid, prostaglandin -E₂, capsaicin and bradykinin acetate from Sigma-Aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA; adrenaline HCl from Wuhan Grand Pharm, Hubei, China; ketamine HCl from Brotex Medica, Trittau, Germany; propranolol from Ernest Chemist Ltd, Tema, Ghana and captopril from Teva UK Ltd, Eastbourne, UK. Tissue culture media, Geneticin, Fetal bovine serum (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA); [³H]diprenorphine (specific radioactivity of 29 Ci/mmol from Perkin-Elmer Life Sciences, Boston, MA) and Ecolume scintillation fluid (ICN, Aurora, OH). All other biochemicals used in the binding studies were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Inc. (St. Louis, MO, USA).

5.2.2 Animals

Male ICR mice (20-25 g) and Sprague Dawley rats (200-250 g) were used in this study. The animals were provided with the necessary conditions as described previously under section 3.2.1

5.2.3 Assessment of the mechanism of antinociception of extract and xylopic acid in the formalin test

The mechanism of analgesic action of the extract and xylopic acid was investigated using various antagonists in the formalin test. The receptor pathways investigated were the adenosinergic, opioid, adrenergic, serotoninergic, nitric oxide, ATP sensitive K^+ channels, and muscarinic receptors/pathways. The doses of antagonist, agonist and

other drugs were selected on the basis of previous literature data and in pilot experiments in the laboratory (Woode *et al.*, 2009; Woode and Abotsi, 2011).

5.2.3.1 Participation of the adenosinergic system

To investigate the role played by the adenosinergic systems in the anti-nociception caused by extract and xylopic acid, mice were pre-treated with theophylline (5 mg kg⁻¹, i.p., a non selective adenosine receptor antagonist). After 15 min the mice received extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) or xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle. The nociceptive response to the intraplantar injection of formalin was recorded 60 min after administration of the extract and xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) or vehicle and 30 min after morphine administration. The formalin test was then performed as described under section 3.2.4

5.2.3.2 Involvement of the ATP sensitive K⁺ channels

Mice were pre-treated with glibenclamide (an ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel inhibitor, 8 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), or vehicle and after 30 min received extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle and the nociceptive responses to formalin were recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4

5.2.3.3 Participation of the nitric oxide system

To verify the participation of nitric oxide/cyclic GMP pathway in the anti-nociceptive action caused by the extract or xylopic acid, mice were pre-treated with N^G-L-nitroarginine methyl ester (L-NAME, a NO synthase inhibitor; 10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle 30 min before extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle administration and the nociceptive responses to formalin were recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4.

5.2.3.4 Involvement of serotoninergic system

In order to determine the contribution of $5HT_3$ —receptors/pathway in the antinociceptive effects of xylopic acid and extract, mice were pre-treated with ondansetron ($5HT_3$ inhibitors; 0.5 mg kg⁻¹i.p.) or saline 30 min before extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle administration and the nociceptive responses to formalin were recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4.

5.2.3.5 Participation of the muscarinic system

Mice were pre-treated with atropine (non-selective muscarinic antagonist, 5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) 30 min before extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle administration and the nociceptive responses to formalin were recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4.

5.2.3.6 Involvement of the adrenergic system

To assess the possible involvement of the α_2 receptor/system, mice were pre-treated with yohimbine (an α_2 receptor antagonist 3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) 30 min before extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle administration and the nociceptive responses to formalin were recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4.

5.2.3.7 Assessment of the opioid pathway

Assessment of the opioid receptors or pathway involvement was done by pre-treating mice intraperitoneally with naloxone (2 mg kg⁻¹, a non selective opioid receptor antagonist). After 15 min the animals received extract (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (30 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle. The nociceptive response to intraplantar injection of formalin was recorded as described earlier under section 3.2.4.

5.2.4 Radioligand binding assay

Xylopic acid was examined for its μ -opioid receptor (MOR) binding in a [³H]diprenorphine ([³H] DPN) competition binding assay using membranes derived from C6 μ cells (Divin *et al.*, 2009).

Cell Culture

C6 glioma cells stably transfected with the u-opioid receptor (C6 μ) were maintained at 37 °C under 95% O₂/5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS) and 500 ug/mL Geneticin® (Invitrogen) to select for the μ -opioid receptor-expressing cells. Cells were grown in 10 cm² dishes to ~90% confluency on the day of the assay.

Membrane Preparation

C6 μ cells were washed twice with ice cold phosphate-buffered saline (0.9% NaCl, 0.61 mM Na₂HPO₄ and 0.38 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4), detached from the plate by incubation in warm harvesting buffer [20 mM (4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid) (HEPES), pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl and 0.68 mM EDTA) for 5 minutes, dispersed by agitation and pelleted by centrifugation at 1600 rpm for 3 min. The resulting cell pellet was resuspended in ice cold 50 mM Tris buffer, pH 7.4 and homogenized with a Tissue Tearor (Biospec Products Inc., Bartlesville, OK) for 20 s. The homogenate was centrifuged at 25000 g at 4 °C for 20 min. The resulting membrane pellet was resuspended in 50 mM Tris buffer, pH 7.4 and centrifuged as above. The final pellet was resuspended in 50 mM Tris, pH 7.4 with a Dounce homogenizer, and the homogenate was separated into 0.5 ml aliquots and stored at -80°C until use. Protein concentration was measured by the Bradford protein assay using bovine serum albumin as standard (Bradford, 1976).

Competition binding assay

For competition binding assays, cell membranes (15 ug protein) were incubated at room temperature (25 ° C) for 1 h with shaking with 0.2 nM [³H]diprenorphine ([³H]DPN) and increasing concentrations of unlabeled ligand [xylopic acid (0.1nM - 1mM) or ([D-Ala², N-MePhe⁴, Gly-ol]-enkephalin), a synthetic opioid peptide with high μ -opioid receptor specificity [DAMGO (0.001nM - 10 μ M)] in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4.

Nonspecific binding was determined in the presence of 10 μ M naloxone. The assay was stopped by rapid filtration through glass GF/C filters (Whatman, Clifton, NJ) using a Brandel harvester (MLR-24, Gaithersburg, MD), rinsing three times with ice-cold 50 mM Tris buffer, pH 7.4. Filters were dried at 50 °C for 20 min. Dried filters were saturated with EcoLume liquid scintillation mixture (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH), heat sealed in polyethylene bags, and radioactivity was counted in a Wallac 1450 MicroBeta Liquid Scintillation and Luminescence Counter (Perkin Elmer, Boston, MA).

5.2.5 Glutamate-induced neurogenic pain

The procedure used was similar to that described earlier by Beirith, (2002). Before testing, the animals were placed individually in 1 of 20 transparent Perspex chambers $(15 \times 15 \times 15 \text{ cm})$. Following a 1-h adaptation period in the chamber, ten groups of mice (males) were pre-treated with extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹, p.o.), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg^{-1} , p.o.) or ketamine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) or vehicle (normal saline, 10 ml kg⁻¹, i.p.) 30 min (i.p.) or 1 h (p.o.) before intraplantar injection of glutamate (10 μ mol/paw, 20 μ l) on the right hind paw. The nociceptive behaviour (biting/licking of the injected paw) of the animals was captured (15 min) for analysis by a camcorder (EverioTM, model GZ-MG1300, JVC, Tokyo, Japan) placed directly opposite the mirror and attached to a computer. Tracking of the behaviour was done using the public domain software JWatcherTM, Version 1.0 (University of California, LA, USA, and Macquarie University, Sidney, Australia, available at http://www.jwatcher.ucla.edu/) to obtain the frequency and duration of biting/licking per 5 min, starting immediately after glutamate injection. A nociceptive score for each time block was calculated by multiplying the frequency and time spent in biting/licking. Data were expressed as the mean \pm SEM of scores between 0 and 15 min after glutamate injection.

5.2.5.1 Capsaicin-induced nociception

The test was performed as described by Sakurada, (1992). After an adaptation period of 1 h in the test chambers, seven groups of mice (males) were pre-treated with the extract, xylopic acid or vehicle similar to that described for the glutamate test above. Mice were returned individually into the testing chambers immediately after intraplantar administration of capsaicin (1.6 μ g/paw, 20 μ l dissolved in 0.5% ethanol). The ethanol

did not cause any detectable analgesic effect on its own. The amount of time spent licking the injected paw was determined for 5 min following capsaicin injection and was considered as a nociceptive behaviour (section 3.2.4).

5.2.5.2 Bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia

Similar to that described by Meotti *et al.*,(2006) and Wilhelm *et al.*,(2009), seven groups of rats were pre-treated with the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and vehicle after baseline testing and one hour later received intraplantar injection of bradykinin (20 μ l: 10 nmol/ paw). Animals were pre-treated with captopril, 5 mg kg⁻¹ s.c. (an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor) 1 h the experiments to prevent bradykinin degradation. Mechanical nociceptive thresholds were measured in the rat paw pressure test using an analgesimeter (IITC Life Science Model 2888, Woodland Hills, CA, USA) which is based on the Randall–Sellito test (Randall and Selitto, 1957) as described previously under section 3.2.5.

5.2.5.3 Prostaglandin E₂- induced hyperalgesia

Similar to that described by Claudino, (2006) and Wilhelm *et al.*,(2009), baseline nociceptive testing was performed and ten groups of mice afterwards were treated with the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹). One hour later the mice received intraplantar injection of prostaglandin E_2 (20 µl: 1 nmol/ paw). Nociceptive threshold was determined as in the Randall and Selitto method as described earlier under section 3.2.5.

5.2.5.4 Epinephrine-induced hyperalgesia

Ten groups of rats were treated with the extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and propranolol (1-10 μ g/paw) after taking the baseline responses and one hour later received intraplantar injection of epinephrine (20 μ l : 450 nmol/paw) (Sakurada *et al.*, 1993 ; Meotti *et al.*, 2006). Nociceptive threshold was taken using the Randall and Selitto method as described earlier under section 3.2.5.

5.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism for Windows Version 4.03 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used for all data and statistical analyses. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. In all nociceptive tests, a sample size of seven animals (n=7-8) were used. The time-course curves were subjected to two-way (treatment × time) repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. Total nociceptive score for each treatment was calculated in arbitrary unit as the area under the curve (AUC). Differences in AUCs were analysed by ANOVA followed by Student-Newman-Keuls *post hoc* test. Doses for 50% of the maximal effect (ED₅₀) for each drug were determined by using an iterative computer least squares method, with the following nonlinear regression (three-parameter logistic) equation:

$$Y = \frac{a + (b - a)}{(1 + 10^{(LogED_{50} - X)})}$$

Where, X is the logarithm of dose and Y is the response. Y starts at a (the bottom) and goes to b (the top) with a sigmoid shape.

The fitted midpoints ($ED_{50}s$) of the curves were compared statistically using *F* test (Miller, 2003; Motulsky and Christopoulos, 2003).

In the binding studies, each data point represents the mean \pm S.E.M. of duplicate wells of at least two experiments. Specific binding of [³H]DPN was determined by subtracting non-specific binding counts from all values, and data were expressed graphically as a percentage of the total [³H]DPN binding ([³H]DPN binding in the absence of unlabeled ligand) against increasing concentration of unlabeled ligand (xylopic acid or DAMGO). Binding data were fitted by non-linear regression using oneor two-site binding models, and when possible the affinity of xylopic acid or DAMGO binding to the μ -opioid receptor (*Ki* or IC₅₀) was determined from the resulting curve fit. The IC₅₀ was defined as the concentration of drug that inhibited the specific [³H]diprenorphine binding by 50%.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Analysis of mechanism of action of extract and xylopic acid in the formalin test

Results presented in (Fig. 5.1-5.3) show the effect of naloxone, glibenclamide, L-NAME, yohimbine, atropine, theophylline and ondansetron on the antinociceptive effects of the extract (Fig. 5.1), xylopic acid (Fig. 5.2) and morphine (Fig. 5.3). Pretreatment of mice with 2 mg kg⁻¹ naloxone and 5mg kg⁻¹ theophylline reversed both phase 1 and phase 2 antinociception of extract (300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, Fig. 5.4a), xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, Fig. 5.4b) and morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p., Fig. 5.4c).

The antinociception of the extract (300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, Fig. 5.4a) and xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, Fig. 5.4b) in the first phase of the formalin test were blocked by 10 mg kg⁻¹ L-NAME and atropine (5 mg kg⁻¹). The same doses of L-NAME and atropine however blocked the antinociception of morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, i.p., Fig. 5.4c) in both phases of the formalin test.

Pre-treatment of the animals with ondansetron (0.5 mg kg^{-1}) blocked the second phase of the extract-induced anti-nociception (Fig. 5.4a). Ondansetron also antagonized xylopic acid and morphine-induced anti-nociception in the first phase of the formalin test (Fig. 5.4b & c).

Also, yohimbine (3 mg kg⁻¹) reversed the neurogenic anti-nociception of xylopic acid (Fig. 5.4b) but had no effect on analgesic activity of the extract and morphine in both phases of formalin-induced pain (Fig. 5.4a and c).

Glibenclamide (8 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) reversed the anti-nociception of morphine (Fig. 5.4c) in the first phase but failed to significantly block the anti-nociception of the extract and xylopic acid in both phases of the formalin test (Fig. 5.4a and b).



Figure 5.1 Effect of (a) naloxone (2 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (b) L- NAME (10 kg⁻¹ i.p.), (c) ondansetron (0.5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (d) theophylline (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (e) glibenclamide (8 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (f) yohimbine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) and (g) atropine (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p) on the antinociceptive effect of the extract (300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) on the time course effect of the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test. Each point represents the mean \pm S.E.M. **P* \leq 0.05, ****P* \leq 0.001 compared to respective controls (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.2 Effect of (a) naloxone (2 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (b) L- NAME (10 kg⁻¹ i.p.), (c) ondansetron (0.5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (d) theophylline (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (e) glibenclamide (8 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (f) yohimbine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) and (g) atropine on the antinociceptive effect of xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o.*) on the time course effect of the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test. Each point represents the mean \pm S.E.M. ***P* \leq 0.01 compared to respective controls (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.3 Effect of (a) naloxone (2 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (b) L- NAME (10 kg⁻¹ i.p.), (c) ondansetron (0.5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (d) theophylline (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (e) glibenclamide (8 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), (f) yohimbine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) and (g) atropine (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the antinociceptive effect of morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course effect of the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test. Each point represents the mean \pm S.E.M.



Figure 5.4 Effect of naloxone (2 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), L- NAME (10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), ondansetron (0.5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), theophylline (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), glibenclamide (8 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.), yohimbine (3 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) and atropine (5 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the antinociceptive effect of (a) extract (300 mg kg⁻¹), (b) xylopic acid (100 mg kg⁻¹) and (c) morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹) for phase 1 and phase 2 of formalin-induced pain. Each column represents the mean \pm S.E.M. * $P \leq 0.05$, ** $P \leq 0.01$, *** $P \leq 0.00$, [†] $P \leq 0.05$, ^{††} $P \leq 0.01$, ^{†††} $P \leq 0.001$, compared to respective controls (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls' *post hoc*).

5.4.2 Radioligand binding assay

Data for DAMGO was best fitted by a single binding site model. However, a comparison of the one-site/two-site model curve fits of the data for xylopic acid

revealed that the two-site model was better [$F_{1,12}$ = 5.533, P= 0.0366; R² (one-site) = 0.74, R² (two-site) = 0.82]. Xylopic acid and DAMGO were able to competitively displace the binding of [³H]DPN from the MOR (Fig 5.5). Table 5.1 shows the IC₅₀ values of the inhibitions. Xylopic acid appears to bind to two different sites with IC₅₀ values of 0.11 and 220.5 µM respectively. DAMGO showed very high affinity to the MOR with IC₅₀ and K_i values of 0.0014 µM and 0.47 nM respectively. The affinity of DAMGO (based on the IC₅₀ values) is about 100 times greater than xylopic acid at its high affinity binding site. There was also an apparent increase in [³H]DPN binding that occurred at low concentrations of xylopic acid (Fig. 5.5a).

5.4.3 Glutamate-induced nociception

Nociceptive behaviour characterized by biting, flinching and licking after intraplantar administration of glutamate was inhibited by the extract, xylopic acid and ketamine during the 10 min observational period. Treatment of mice with the extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, 60 min before) (Fig. 5.6a) produced a marked and dose-related inhibition of glutamate-induced neurogenic nociception ($F_{3,24}$ =10.02, *P*=0.0002). Neurogenic antinociception of 69.60±2.1% was produced by the highest dose of extract (Fig. 5.6b).

Xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, 60 min before) (Fig. 5.6c) also produced a marked and dose-related inhibition of glutamate-induced neurogenic nociception ($F_{3,24}$ = 32.52, P=0.00000001): the highest dose causing a possible maximal antinociception of 88.9±0.31% (Fig. 5.6d).

Ketamine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) produced marked and dose-related inhibition of glutamate-induced neurogenic nociception ($F_{3,24}$ = 24.31, P=0.0000002) (Fig. 5.6e). Ketamine reduced the nociception evoked by glutamate on neurogenic nociceptive behaviour by a maximum percentage effect of 77.4±1.20% (Fig. 5.6f).

The rank of potency was in the order ketamine > xylopic acid > extract as shown on Fig. 5.7.



Figure 5.5 Competition binding curve of $[^{3}H]$ Diprenorphine binding to the μ -opioid receptor in the presence of various concentrations of xylopic acid (a) or DAMGO (b). Each point represents the mean±S.E.M from two experiments. The one-site and two-site binding curves for xylopic acid were compared with the *F*-test.

Ligand	IC ₅₀ (µM)	
	One-site binding	Two-site binding
Xylopic acid	261.4	0.1087, 220.5
DAMGO	0.001443	-

Table 5.1 IC50 values from the competitive binding studies



Figure 5.6 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (e) ketamine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹, i.p.) on the time course curve of glutamate-induced neurogenic pain and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. ****P* < 0.001; compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); ^{††}*P* < 0.01, ^{†††}*P* < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.7 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and ketamine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in the glutamate-induced neurogenic pain assay in mice. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

5.4.4 Capsaicin-induced neurogenic pain

Intraplantar injection of capsaicin into the paws of the animals produced nociceptive behaviour which was characterized by biting and licking of the injected paw. This started shortly after the administration of capsaicin and diminished in effect after 5 min. Treatment of the animals with extract and xylopic acid all produced marked antinociception in this test. The antinociception produced by extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹,

p.o.) was dose-related peaking at the highest dose used with a maximal antinociception of 86.0±0.23% (Fig. 5.8a). Xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) also produced a marked and dose-related inhibition of capsaicin-induced nociception with the highest dose causing a maximal effect of 89.10±0.1% of the licking time (Fig. 5.8b). The order of potency was xylopic acid >extract (Fig.5.9).

5.4.5 Bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia

Hyperalgesia was induced in all the animals treated with bradykinin. A change in hyperalgesic state was calculated as a percentage of the maximum possible effect. Administration of extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) significantly ($F_{3,24} = 8.85$, P=0.0004) and dose-dependently inhibited mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 5.10a). The highest dose of extract produced maximum possible effect at the highest dose used (Fig. 5.10b).

The inhibition of mechanical hyperalgesia by xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) was also significant ($F_{3,24}$ =8.23, P=0.0006) and a dose-dependent effect was realized (Fig. 5.10c). A maximum possible mechanical anti-hyperalgesia induced by bradykinin was observed at the highest dose (Fig. 5.10d). Xylopic acid was more efficacious in this test than the extract as seen from Fig. 5.11.



Figure 5.8 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (b) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) on capsaicin-induced nociception. Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles respectively. Symbol represents outlier. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. [†]*P* < 0.05, ^{††}*P* < 0.01, compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.9 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) and xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in the capsaicin-induced neurogenic pain assay in mice. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.



Figure 5.10 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) on the time course curve of Bradykinin-induced mechanical hyperalgesia and the AUC (b and d). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. ****P* < 0.001; ** P < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test). ^{†††}*P*<0.01 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.11 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹) and xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) in the bradykinin-induced hyperalgesia in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

5.4.6 Prostaglandin E₂-induced mechanical hyperalgesia

Intraplantar administration of the algogen, prostaglandin E₂ caused a painful state which was assessed using a mechanical source of stimulus. All the animals exhibited some degree of mechanical hyperalgesia after intraplantar prostaglandin E₂ injection which was attenuated by all the reference drugs used. The hyperalgesia produced was lowered after extract, xylopic acid and morphine treatments compared to control. The anti-hyperalgesia (extract: $F_{3,24} = 3.72$, P=0.025, xylopic acid: $F_{3,24} = 5.0$, P=0.0078, morphine: $F_{3,24} = 6.45$, P = 0.0023) seen after the administration extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and morphine (1–10 mg kg⁻¹) (Fig. 5.12a, c and e) respectively increased dose-dependently and the maximum possible effect was attained at the highest doses used for all the drugs in (Fig. 5.12b, d and e). Xylopic acid exhibited the highest efficacy in this model. The extract was also more efficacious than the reference drug, morphine (Fig. 5.13).

5.4.7 Epinephrine-induced hyperalgesia

Mechanical stimulation of the hind paw of the rats after epinephrine injection revealed a state of hyperalgesia in all the animals which was seen as increase in paw withdrawal reflexes. Treatment of the animals with the test drugs extract (30–300 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*), xylopic acid (10–100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*) and propranolol (1–10 µg/paw) resulted in a decrease ($F_{3,24}$ =4.97, *P*=0.0080: $F_{3,24}$ =5.83, *P*=0.0038: $F_{3,24}$ = 4.62, *P*=0.0109 respectively) (Fig. 5.14a, c and e) paw withdrawal response to mechanical stimulation which was interpreted as anti-hyperalgesia produced by the various treatments. The possible maximum anti-hyperalgesia achieved at the highest doses of the various drug treatments (Fig. 5.14b, d and e) was in the order xylopic acid > extract > propranolol (Fig. 5.15).



Figure 5.12 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (e) morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹ i.p.) on the time course curve of Prostaglandin E₂-induced mechanical hyperalgesia and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); [†]*P* < 0.05, ^{††}*P* < 0.01, compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.13 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive activity of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and morphine (1-10 mg kg⁻¹) in the prostaglandin E_2 -induced hyperalgesia in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.



Figure 5.14 Effect of (a) extract (30 - 300 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*), (c) xylopic acid (10 - 100 mg kg⁻¹ *p.o*) and (e) propranolol (1-10 µg/paw) on the time course curve of epinephrine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia and the AUC (b, d and f). Data is presented as mean \pm S.E.M. (n = 8). The lower and upper margins of the boxes (b, d and f) represent the 25th and 75th percentiles, with the extended arms representing the 10th and 90th percentiles, respectively. The median is shown as the horizontal line within the box. Symbol represents outlier. ****P* < 0.001; ** *P* < 0.01; **P* < 0.05 compared to vehicle-treated group (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test); [†]*P* < 0.05, ^{††}*P* < 0.01, ^{†††}*P* < 0.001 compared to vehicle-treated group (One-way ANOVA followed by Neuman-Keuls' *post hoc* test).



Figure 5.15 Dose–response curves for the antinociceptive effect of extract (30-300 mg kg⁻¹), xylopic acid (10-100 mg kg⁻¹) and propranolol (1-10 μ g/paw) in the epinephrine-induced mechanical hyperalgesia in rats. Each point is the mean \pm S.E.M. of 8 animals.

5.5 DISCUSSION

In order to identify some possible mediators involved in the anti-nociceptive activity of the extract and xylopic acid, an antagonism study was carried out in the formalin test. The anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid were assessed in the presence of various antagonists including naloxone, theophylline, L-NAME, glibenclamide, atropine, ondansetron and yohimbine. Systemic administration of the opioid receptor antagonist naloxone inhibited the anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid in both phases of the formalin test. This strongly suggests an opioidergic involvement in the actions of the extract and xylopic acid.

Pre-treatment of the mice with N^G-Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME; NO synthase inhibitor) reversed the anti-nociception of extract and xylopic acid in the neurogenic phase of the formalin test. This finding implicates the involvement of the NO/cGMP pathway. Nitric oxide plays a complex and diverse role in the modulation of nociceptive transmission in both the peripheral and central nervous system (Cury *et al.*, 2011). NO exerts a dual effect on nociception and there are suggestions that this may be due to the existence of different subsets of nociceptive primary sensory neurons in which NO plays opposing roles (Vivancos *et al.*, 2003; Cury *et al.*, 2011). ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels seem not to be involved in the actions of the extract and xylopic acid since glibenclamide (ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel blocker) did not significantly alter their anti-nociceptive effects. Potassium channels other than the ATP sensitive K⁺ channels involvement may not entirely be excluded.

The anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid were reversed by preadministration of theophylline implicating the involvement of adenosinergic pathway in their actions. Adenosine acts at several P1 receptors (A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} , and A_3) all of which are coupled to G proteins (Fredholm *et al.*, 2001). In the periphery, adenosine A_1 receptor activation produces pain suppression, while adenosine A_2 receptor activation produces pain enhancement (Sawynok, 1998). Within the spinal cord, adenosine A_1 receptor activation produces anti-nociception (Sawynok, 1998). Adenosine A_3 receptor activation produces pro-nociception in the CNS (Pedata *et al.*, 2010) and also peripherally—secondary to mast cell degranulation and release of histamine and 5hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) that exert nociceptive actions at sensory nerve terminal (Sawynok, 1998). Since theophylline blocks adenosine A_1 and A_2 receptors, the antinociceptive effects may be due to activation of A_1 receptors and/or an increment in endogenous adenosine either centrally or peripherally. The finding that both opioidergic and adenosinergic mechanisms are possibly involved in the anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid is not surprising since both opioid and adenosine receptor agonists are known to share some similar anti-nociceptive mechanisms (Aley *et al.*, 1995; Sawynok, 1998). The A_1 receptor has been proposed to exist as part of a multireceptor complex, in association with μ -opioid and α_2 -adrenergic receptors on the basis of a demonstrated cross antagonism, cross tolerance and cross withdrawal between these systems (Aley and Levine, 1997; Sawynok, 1998) and activation of one of these receptors may affect the rest (Suh *et al.*, 1997).

Activation of muscarinic receptors induces anti-nociception in various pain paradigms including thermal, inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Wess *et al.*, 2003; Jones and Dunlop, 2007). M_1 , M_2 , M_3 and M_4 receptors are involved in mediating the analgesic effects of muscarinic agonists at the spinal and supraspinal level (Naguib and Yaksh, 1997; Ghelardini *et al.*, 2000; Honda *et al.*, 2000; Lograsso *et al.*, 2002; Wess *et al.*, 2003) while peripheral activation of M_2 receptors likely contributes to analgesia via reduced CGRP release (Bernardini *et al.*, 2002; Wess *et al.*, 2003). The anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid involve the muscarinic cholinergic pathway since it was antagonized by atropine. Atropine also blocked the analgesic effects of morphine. It is already well established that the analgesic effect of systemic morphine is mediated by a descending cholinergic pathway (Chiang and Zhuo, 1989) as well as spinal endogenous acetylcholine acting through muscarinic receptors (Chen and Pan, 2001; Radhakrishnan and Sluka, 2003; Honda *et al.*, 2004; Chen *et al.*, 2005).

Pre-treatment of mice with yohimbine (an α_2 -adrenoceptor antagonist) also reversed the anti-nociception of xylopic acid in the first phase of the formalin test but affected neither the extract nor morphine. This implicates the involvement of α_2 -adrenergic mechanisms in the anti-nociceptive activity of xylopic acid. Alpha-2-receptors are important in peripheral, spinal and supraspinal pain modulation. In the spinal cord, for instance, noradrenaline released from descending pathways suppresses pain by inhibitory action on α_{2A} -adrenoceptors on central terminals of primary afferent nociceptors (presynaptic inhibition) or by direct α_2 -adrenergic action on pain-relay neurons (postsynaptic inhibition)(Pertovaara, 2006). Serotoninergic neurons also play a crucial role in the control of pain (Fields *et al.*, 1991) and the diversity of subtype

receptors for serotonin, makes this system able to exert either facilitatory or inhibitory function (Bardin *et al.*, 2000). Spinal 5-HT₃ receptors haven been shown to mediate anti-nociception, possibly via GABA release (Alhaider *et al.*, 1991; Millan, 2002). Pre-administration of ondansetron attenuated the anti-nociceptive of the extract and xylopic acid in the formalin test. This implicates 5-HT₃-serotoninergic involvement in the anti-nociceptive activity of the extract and xylopic acid.

The μ -receptor subtype (MOR) is generally thought to be responsible for most of the analgesic effects of the opioids. Since antagonism in the formalin test revealed the involvement of opioidergic pathways, further study was performed to determine whether xylopic acid actually binds to opioid receptors via radioligand competitive binding studies. Considering, the IC₅₀ values of xylopic acid in comparison with DAMGO, it appears that xylopic acid has some (albeit moderately weak) affinity for MOR. Unfortunately, it is not yet clear what the binding sites actually represent. It could signify binding to more than one of the proposed µ-opioid receptor subtypes (Goldberg et al., 1998; Cadet, 2004) or it could represent both low and high affinity binding to the same µ-receptor (e.g. high affinity in the presence of G protein, low affinity in the absence). The involvement of other opioid receptor subtypes (i.e. δ or κ) in the analgesic actions of xylopic acid is also possible and this requires further investigation. Perhaps, the most interesting finding from the binding studies was the apparent increase in [³H]DPN binding that occurred at very low concentrations of xylopic acid. It suggests that xylopic acid may be able to enhance the binding of orthosteric ligands, such as DPN. Xylopic acid may, therefore, be producing its analgesic effects by acting as an allosteric modulator of the µ-opioid receptor in vivo to potentiate the anti-nociceptive effects of endogenous µ-opioid receptor ligands. Further studies are necessary to confirm this observation.

In order to ascertain the involvement of the glutamatergic system in the mechanism of action of extract and xylopic acid, the glutamate test was carried out with ketamine as a reference drug. The extract, xylopic acid and ketamine attenuated the nociceptive behaviour induced by glutamate. It has been shown that the nociceptive response induced by glutamate appears to involve peripheral, spinal and supraspinal sites of action and is greatly mediated by both NMDA and non-NMDA receptors by a mechanism which largely depends on the activation of L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway (Beirith *et al.*, 2002). The anti-nociceptive activity of the extract and xylopic acid in the

glutamate test, therefore, probably involves an inhibition of the production/action of NO, or an interaction with the glutamatergic system. This is a significant finding because glutamate and its receptors, both ionotropic and metabotropic, are critical for nociceptive processing. Hyperfunction or dysfunction of glutamatergic neurotransmission is known to be a key mechanism of pain-related plastic changes in the central and peripheral nervous system (Neugebauer, 2007). NMDA receptormediated mechanisms are particularly important as NMDA-receptor antagonists have been shown to effectively alleviate pain-related behavior, reduce opioid-induced hyperalgesia and retard opioid tolerance development in both animal models as well as in clinical situations (Mao, 1999; Price et al., 2000; Dupen et al., 2007).

The extract and xylopic acid suppressed nocifensive responses in the capsaicin test. Capsaicin activates the vanilloid receptor, TRPV1, a ligand-gated non-selective cation channel present in primary sensory neurons (Caterina *et al.*, 1997). This leads to the release of neuropeptides, excitatory amino acids, nitric oxide, and pro-inflammatory mediators from the periphery, and transmits nociceptive information to the spinal cord or causes spinal sensitization through protein kinase A and C activation (Calixto *et al.*, 2005; Meotti *et al.*, 2006). The anti-nociceptive effect of the extract and xylopic acid may therefore involve an interaction with TRPV1 or the inhibition of production or action of some of these mediators. It has been shown that μ -opioid receptor activation can inhibit the activity of TRPV1 via G_{i/o} proteins and the cAMP pathway (Endres-Becker *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, xylopic acid and the extract may have acted to inhibit capsaicin-induced nociception through the opioid pathway.

The extract and xylopic acid inhibit bradykinin-, prostaglandin E_2 -and epinephrineinduced hyperalgesia. Bradykinin, an important peripheral mediator of pain, elicits nociception or hyperalgesia by direct stimulation of the nociceptors A δ and C-fibers. Several inflammatory and algogenic substances such as products derived from arachidonic acid pathways, cytokines and nitric oxide as well as neuropeptides such as calcitonin gene-related peptide and substance P may also be released by bradykinin (Vasko *et al.*, 1994; Calixto *et al.*, 2001). The mechanical hyperalgesia induced by bradykinin involves a B₂ receptor-mediated direct activation of protein kinase C and the indirect activation of the protein kinase A (Ferreira *et al.*, 2004; Meotti *et al.*, 2006). Epinephrine and prostaglandin E₂ also act through β and EP receptors respectively, to activate cAMP/PKA and PKC pathways leading to hyperalgesia (Khasar *et al.*, 1999; Villarreal *et al.*, 2009). Xylopic acid and the extract may have acted directly or indirectly to inhibit $B_2/\beta/EP$ receptors or PKA and/or PKC pathways.

5.6 CONCLUSION

The antinociception mechanism of the extract and xylopic acid was mediated through the adenosinergic, muscarinic, serotoninergic and opioidergic-NO-cGMP pathways. Xylopic acid additionally acted on the α_{2-} adrenergic pathway to produce antinociception. The extract and xylopic acid produced antinociception by inhibiting B₂/ β /EP receptors or PKA and/or PKC pathways.

Chapter 6

ISOBOLOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF THE ANTINOCICEPTION OF XYLOPIC ACID, MORPHINE AND DICLOFENAC COMBINATIONS

6.1 INTRODUCTION

Combination of different analgesics is a common practice in Ghana and this strategy is aimed at achieving one or more therapeutic goals, such as facilitating patient compliance, improving efficacy without increasing adverse effects, or decreasing adverse effects without loss of efficacy (Tallarida, 2000). In Ghana a lot of combination drugs are in use including anti hypertensives such as Nilol (Nifedipine 20 mg : atenolol 50 mg), Caduet (Amlodipine besylate 5 mg : Artovastatin calcium 10 mg) and analgesics such as Efpac (Aspirin 150 mg : Paracetamol 250 mg : Caffeine 30 mg), APC (Aspirin 250 mg : Paracetamol 125 mg : Caffeine 25 mg), Parabru (Brufen 250 mg: Paracetamol 325 mg); Kwik Action (Ephedrine Hcl 10 mg : Paracetamol 500 mg : Caffeine 30 mg), Gebedol forte (Diclofenac 50 mg : Paracetamol 500 mg : Chlorzoxazone 250 mg) and Inflnil (Diclofenac 50 mg : Paracetamol 650 mg). Inappropriate combination of the constituents of a combination product may lead to antagonism or simple additive effect. Therefore strategic combination of the constituents is needed in order to achieve synergism. In order to determine the proportion of the constituents of combination products of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac that produced synergism, isobolographic analysis was employed.

Isobolographic analysis provides a fundamental basis for assessing whether biological responses induced by mixtures of agents are greater, equal or smaller than would have been expected on the basis of the individual activities of the component agents (Tallarida, 2000). The concept of dose additivity, antagonism or supra-additivity aimed at the development of novel pain relief strategies involving different combinations of analgesics that target both central and peripheral pain pathways and to produce greater analgesia at reduced and more tolerable doses of individual drugs has become important in disease treatment. Synergism when observed in isobolographic analysis may also provide information on mechanism of drug action (Tallarida *et al.*, 1999). The principle

of independent joint action (the two drugs should produce overtly similar effects through different mechanism) is used as a guide for selection of drugs for isobolographic analysis and the realization of addditivity indicates that the same pathway is activated by the constituents of the combination (Miranda *et al.*, 2007). Xylopic acid acted on opioidergic, serotoninergic, adenosinergic and NO- cAMP pathway to exert its antinociception. There is no single safe and effective analgesic for the treatment of pain although some of the reasons for this is attributable to inappropriate or insufficient use of existing therapies (Bandolier, 2003; Mcmahon and Koltzenburg, 2006; Chen and Tang, 2011). There is a possibility of the co administration of xylopic acid and other drugs such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and opioids. This may lead to potentiation or antagonism of the combination. Commonly used analgesics, opioids and NSAIDs come with severe side effects.

While opioids such as morphine are the most widely used and most effective drugs for the treatment of many pain syndromes, they have some well-known adverse effects, including sedation, respiratory depression, nausea and constipation. Furthermore, on long term administration, they can lose their efficacy through the development of tolerance and very high doses of the drug are necessary in these cases. A further important issue is that some chronic pain states, such as neuropathic pain, are not effectively treatable with opiates (Pelissier et al., 2003). NSAIDs are mainstays in acute and chronic pain management and their beneficial actions have been linked to their ability to inhibit cyclooxygenases: constitutive COX-1 and inducible COX-2 among others. Long term uses of the NSAIDs come with gastric ulceration which limits their usefulness (Miranda et al., 2007). Xylopic acid (15a-Hydroxy-ent-kaur-16-en-19-oic acid) belongs to diterpenoid class of compounds and a closely related diterpene (entkaur-16-en-19-oic acid) contained in the extract has been reported to be cytotoxic and embryotoxic. Kaurenoic acid at a concentration of 78 µM produced growth inhibition of leukemic cells by 95%, MCF-7 breast and HCT-8 colon cancer cells by 45% each. Furthermore, kaurenoic acid induced a dose-dependent hemolysis of mouse and human erythrocytes with an EC₅₀ of 74.0 and 56.4 µM, respectively (Costa-Lotufo et al., 2002). Xylopic acid however has been reported to be relatively safer in brine shrimp exhibiting a low toxicity with LC₅₀ of 0.5 ng/ml. Hexane extract of X. aethiopica has

also been reported to poses low toxicity with LC_{50} of 0.3 ng/ml in brine shrimp (Somova *et al.*, 2001).

In the light of the above it is obvious that alternative strategies based on drug combinations need to be considered in order to solve the drawbacks of opioids and NSAIDs especially with agents with low toxicity profile such as xylopic acid.

6.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.2.1 Animals

Male ICR mice (20-25 g) were used for this study. The animals were provided with the necessary conditions as described previously under section 3.2.1.

6.2.2 Drugs and chemicals

Diclofenac sodium was purchased from Troge Medical GmbH, Hamburg, Germany: morphine hydrochloride was obtained from Phyto-Riker, Accra, Ghana: formalin and acetic acid were purchased from BDH, Poole, England.

6.3 ISOBOLOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF XYLOPIC ACID/MORPHINE, XYLOPIC ACID/DICLOFENAC COMBINATIONS.

The method of isobolographic analysis was performed similarly as described (Pinardi *et al.*, 2005; Miranda *et al.*, 2007; Miranda *et al.*, 2002). The formalin test was chosen for this assay because of its ability to detect interaction of drugs both peripherally and centrally (Lapa Fda *et al.*, 2009). The acetic acid writhing assay was also employed due to its sensitivity to detect drugs of weak analgesic properties (Pietrovski *et al.*, 2006). The ED₅₀'s of xylopic acid, morphine and diclofenac were obtained from the formalin test and acetic acid writhing assay for isobolographic analysis. This was achieved by determining the dose–response curves for the administration of xylopic acid, morphine and diclofenac using eight animals (n=8) in the formalin and acetic acid-induced writhing test. A least-square linear regression analysis of the log dose–response curves

obtained from the two nociceptive tests allowed the calculation of the doses that produced 50% of antinociception when each drug was administered alone. ED_{50} was used in the formalin and acetic acid-induced writhing tests as the equieffective doses for isobolographic analysis since all the administered drugs attained maximum responses (full agonists on their receptors). Then dose response curves were also obtained and analyzed after the co-administration of xylopic acid with morphine or with diclofenac in fixed ratio (1:1) combinations based on the following fractions 1/2, 1/4, 1/8 of their respective ED₅₀ for both formalin and writhing tests (Tallarida, 2000; Miranda *et al.*, 2009).

To obtain the experimental ED_{50} for xylopic acid/morphine co-administration for isobolographic analysis, animals were grouped into thirteen with each group consisting of eight mice and were treated as follows in the formalin test:

Group I	were treated with 0.15 mg kg ⁻¹ morphine i.p. (ED ₅₀ of morphine)	
	and then received 10 μl of 5% formalin intraplantar 30 minutes	
	afterwards for the phase 1 analysis.	
Group II	were treated with 0.0004 mg kg ⁻¹ morphine i.p. (ED ₅₀ of	
	morphine) and then received 10 μ l of 5% formalin intraplantar	
	30 minutes afterwards for phase 2 analysis.	
Group III	were treated with 13.56 mg kg ⁻¹ xylopic acid p.o. (ED ₅₀ of	
	xylopic acid) and then received 10 μ l of 5% formalin intraplantar	
	1 hour afterwards for phase 1 analysis.	
Group IV	were treated with 7.61 mg kg ⁻¹ xylopic acid $p.o.$ (ED ₅₀ of xylopic	
	acid) and then received 10 μ l of 5% formalin intraplantar 1 hour	
	afterwards for phase 2 analysis.	
Group V-VIII	mice were treated with [morphine + xylopic acid]: (0.15 +	
	13.56) mg kg ⁻¹ , (0.15 + 13.56) mg kg ⁻¹ /2, (0.15 + 13.56) mg kg ⁻¹	
	/4, (0.15 + 13.56) mg kg $^{-1}$ /8 followed by administration of 10 μl	
	of 5% formalin intraplantar for phase 1 analysis.	
Group IX-XII	mice were treated with $(0.0004 + 7.61) \text{ mg kg}^{-1}$, $(0.0004 + 7.61)$	

 $mg kg^{-1}/2, (0.0004 + 7.61) mg kg^{-1}/4, (0.0004 + 7.61) mg kg^{-1}/8$
then received 10 μ l of 5% formalin intraplantar 1 hour afterwards for phase 2 analysis.

Group XIII mice were treated with vehicle (10 ml kg⁻¹ of p.o.) and 60 min afterwards received 10 µl of 5% formalin intraplantar.

Isobologram (a cartesian plot of pairs of doses that, in combination, yield a specified level of effect) was then built by connecting the theoretical ED_{50} of morphine plotted on the abscissa with that of xylopic acid plotted on the ordinate to obtain the additivity line. For each drug mixture, the ED_{50} (experimental) and its associated 95% confidence intervals were determined by linear regression analysis of the log dose–response curve (and compared by a 't'-test to a theoretical additive ED_{50}) obtained from the calculation;

 $Z_{add} = f (ED_{50})$ of morphine + (1-f) ED_{50} of xylopic acid

Where f is the fraction of the each component in the mixture and the variance (*Var*) of Z_{add} was calculated as:

Var
$$Z_{add} = f^2 (Var ED_{50} of morphine) + (1-f)^2 Var ED_{50} of xylopic acid.$$

From these variances S.E.M.'s were calculated and resolved according to the ratio of the individual drugs in the combination. A supra-additive or synergistic effect is defined as the effect of a drug combination that is higher and statistically different (ED_{50} significantly lower) than the theoretically calculated equieffect of a drug combination in the same proportion. If the ED_{50} 's are not statistically different, the effect of the combination is additive and additivity means that each constituent contributes with its own potency to the total effect. The degree of interaction was calculated using fractional analysis by dividing the experimental ED_{50} (Z_{mix}) by the theoretical ED_{50} (Z_{add}). A value close to 1 was considered as additive interaction. Values lower than 1 are an indication of the magnitude of supra-additive or synergistic interactions ($Z_{mix}/Z_{add} < 1$), and values higher than 1 correspond to sub-additive or antagonistic interactions (Miranda *et al.*, 2007).

Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/diclofenac combination was performed similarly as described above.

6.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

In all experiments, a sample size of eight animals (n=8) were used. All data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M (n=8). The time-course curves were subjected to two-way (treatment \times time) repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Bonferroni's post hoc test. Total nociceptive score for each treatment was calculated in arbitrary unit as the area under the curve (AUC). To determine the percentage inhibition for each treatment, the following equation was used.

% inhibition =
$$\left(\frac{AUC_{control} - AUC_{treatment}}{AUC_{control}}\right) \times 100$$

Differences in AUCs were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with drug treatment as a between- subjects factor. Further comparisons between vehicle- and drug-treated groups were performed using the Newman–Keuls test.

Doses for 50% of the maximal effect (ED_{50}) for each drug were determined by using an iterative computer least squares method, with the following nonlinear regression (three parameter logistic) using the equation:

$$Y = \frac{a + (b - a)}{\left(1 + 10^{(LogED_{50} - X)}\right)}$$

Where, X is the logarithm of dose and Y is the response. Y starts at a (the bottom) and goes to b (the top) with a sigmoid shape.

The fitted midpoints (ED₅₀s) of the curves were compared statistically using F test (Miller, 2003; Motulsky and Christopoulos, 2003). GraphPad Prism for Windows Version 4.03 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical analyses and ED₅₀ determinations. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Isobolographic calculations were performed with the program Pharm Tools Pro (version 1.27, the McCary Group Inc.). Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. or as ED₅₀ values with 95% confidence limits (95% CL). The statistical analysis of the isobolograms were performed according to Tallarida (Tallarida, 2006) and the statistical

difference between experimental and theoretical values was assessed by the Student's 't' test for independent means, and the P values < 0.05 were considered significant.

6.5 RESULTS

6.5.1 Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid and morphine

Xylopic acid, morphine and the fractions of xylopic acid and morphine combination inhibited both neurogenic and inflammatory pain in the formalin test (Fig. 6.1a). However the neurogenic inhibition of pain by both morphine and xylopic acid was higher than the inflammatory pain inhibition. Xylopic acid significantly inhibited neurogenic pain by $77.32\pm15.9\%$ for phase 1 and $79.9\pm15.90\%$ for phase 2 respectively (Fig. 6.1b). Morphine also inhibited neurogenic pain by $42.99\pm15.51\%$ for phase 1 and $34.4\pm17.50\%$ for phase 2 respectively (Fig. 6.1b). Morphine was however more potent than xylopic acid in both phases (Table 6.1).

Table 6.1 $ED_{50} \pm S.E.M.$ of morphine and xylopic acid for both phases of the formalin test.

Drugs	Phase 1 ED_{50} (mg kg ⁻¹)	Phase 2 ED_{50} (mg kg ⁻¹)
Morphine	0.15 ± 0.42	0.0004 ± 2.3
Xylopic acid	13.56 ± 4.5	7.61 ± 2.3

Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. (n=8).

 $ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression as described in materials and methods.



Figure 6.1 Effect of xylopic acid, morphine and fractions of their combination on (a) the time course curve of formalin-induced licking test. Each point represents the mean \pm S.E.M, $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$ compared to respective controls (Two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post hoc* test) and (b) the total nociceptive score of formalin-induced licking test in mice AUC for phase 1 and phase 2 of formalin-induced pain. Each column represent the mean \pm S.E.M. $^{\dagger}P \le 0.05$ and $^{\dagger\dagger\dagger}P \le 0.001$, compared to respective controls (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls *post hoc*).

6.5.2 Isobologram of xylopic acid and morphine

The experimental ED_{50} (Z_{mix}) obtained by non-linear regressional analysis for phase 1 (Fig.6.2a) was 2.58 ± 0.49 mg kg⁻¹ and 2.31 ± 0.81 mg kg⁻¹ for phase 2 (Fig. 6.2b) both indicating potentiation of the antinociceptive effect of the two drugs.

The degree of potentiation calculated as the interaction index by fractional analysis indicated synergism for phase 1 and phase 2 and graphically displayed as Z_{mix} 's lying below the line of additivity (Fig. 6.2 c and d respectively) of the isobologram.

The theoretical additive ED_{50} (Z_{add}) was computed as 6.86 ± 2.24 mg kg⁻¹ for phase 1 (Fig. 6.2c) and 3.81 ± 2.5 mg kg⁻¹ for phase 2 (Fig. 6.2d) and (Table 6.2).

1	1			
Combinations	xylopic acid /morphine	xylopic acid /morphine		
	phase 1	phase 2		
Theoretical ED_{50} (mg/kg)	6.86 ± 2.24	3.81 ± 2.5		
Experimental ED ₅₀	2.58 ± 0.49	2.31 ± 0.81		
(mg/kg)				
Interaction index	0.38	0.61		
Drugs ratio	89.7:1	19025:1		
Values are expressed a	s mean ± S.E.M. (n=8). The	values were obtained from		
experiments described earlier.				
$ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression as described in				

Table 6.2 Theoretical and experimental ED50 \pm S.E.M. of morphine and xylopic acid
for both phases of the formalin test with their computed interaction indices.

 $ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression as described in materials and methods.



Figure 6.2 Dose response curves for xylopic acid and morphine and fractions of their combination for (a) phase 1 and (b) phase 2 of the formalin-induced licking test respectively. Isobologram for the combination of morphine and xylopic acid in (c) phase I and in (d) phase II of formalin test in mice. Filled circles (\bullet) are the theoretical ED₅₀'s ± S.E.M. and open circles (o), the experimental ED₅₀'s ± S.E.M.

6.5.3 Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/diclofenac combination

6.5.3.1 Acetic acid-induced writhing assay

Xylopic acid and diclofenac inhibited visceral pain in the acetic acid-induced writhing test during the 30 min observational period. Xylopic acid (10 -100 mg kg⁻¹, *p.o.*, 60 min before) reduced the writhings induced by the acetic acid with the highest dose causing a reduction of 78.01 \pm 0.26%. Diclofenac reduced the total number of writhes with the highest dose a percentage inhibition of 91.8 \pm 0.27. The ED₅₀'s of xylopic acid and diclofenac were found to be 12.94 \pm 1.24 mg kg⁻¹ and 1.462 \pm 0.27 mg kg⁻¹ respectively (Table 6.3).

Table 6.3 $ED_{50} \pm S.E.M.$ of diclofenac and xylopic acid in the acetic acid-induced writhing test.

Drugs	$ED_{50} (mg kg^{-1})$
Xylopic acid	12.94 ±1.24
Diclofenac	1.462 ± 0.27

Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. (n=8).

 $ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression as described in materials and methods.

6.5.4 Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/ diclofenac and their fractions

Xylopic acid, diclofenac and the fractions profoundly inhibited visceral pain in the acetic acid-induced writhing test during the 30 min observational period (Fig. 6.3a). Xylopic acid inhibited nociception in this test by $84.81\pm3.82\%$ (Fig. 6.3b). Diclofenac also significantly inhibited visceral pain by $76.59\pm7.25\%$ (Fig. 6.3b). The fractions also inhibited visceral pain dose dependently with $Z_{mix}/8$ inhibiting nociception by $50.94\pm12.54\%$, $Z_{mix}/4$ exhibiting antinociception of 69.43113 ± 9.56 , $Z_{mix}/2$ and Z_{mix} inhibiting nociception by $89.17\pm6.065\%$ and $99.19\pm3.29\%$ respectively Fig. 6.3b.



Figure 6.3 Effect of (a) xylopic acid, diclofenac and fractions on time course curve of acetic acid- induced writhing test in mice in 5 min blocks up to 30 min post acetic acid injection. Each point represents Mean \pm S.E.M (n = 8). * $P \leq 0.05$, ** $P \leq 0.01$, *** $P \leq 0.001$ compared to respective controls (two-way repeated measures ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc) and (b) AUC (total response). Each column in b represents the mean \pm S.E.M. ^{†††} $P \leq 0.001$, (one-way ANOVA followed by Newman-Keuls *post hoc*).

6.5.5 Isobologram of xylopic acid and diclofenac

The experimental ED_{50} obtained after administration of xylopic acid and diclofenac and in fixed ratio of their combination in the acetic acid-induced writhing test was 1.944 \pm 0.97 Fig. 6.4a.

The degree of potentiation calculated as the interaction index by fractional analysis indicated synergism for the combination and graphically displayed as Z_{mix} 's lying below the line of additivity (Fig. 6.4 c and d respectively) of the isobologram. The theoretical additive ED₅₀ (Z_{add}) was computed as 6.86 ± 2.24 mg kg⁻¹ for phase 1 (Fig. 6.4c) and 3.81 ± 2.5 mg kg⁻¹ for phase 2 (Fig. 6.4d) and (Table 6.4).

Table 6.4 Theoretical and experimental $ED_{50} \pm S.E.M.$ of xylopic acid in the Acetic acid-induced writhing test and their computed interaction indices.

$Z_{add} (mg kg^{-1})$	$Z_{mix} (mg kg^{-1})$	Interaction index	Drug ratio
7.201 ± 0.403	1.944 ± 0.97	0.27	1:3.70

Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. (n=8). The values were obtained from experiments described earlier.

 $ED_{50}s \pm S.E.M.$ were obtained by least-square nonlinear regression as described in materials and methods.



Figure 6.4 Dose response curve for xylopic acid, diclofenac and fractions of their combination in the acetic acid-induced writhing test and (b) Isobologram for the combination of diclofenac and xylopic acid. Filled circles (\bullet) are the theoretical ED₅₀'s ± S.E.M. and open circles (o), the experimental ED₅₀'s ± S.E.M.

6.6 **DISCUSSION**

Co-administration of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac produced antinociceptive effects in the formalin and acetic acid-induced writhing tests. The observed antinociception was greater than would be achieved for the administration of the individual drugs alone.

The formalin test is considered to be one of the standard animal models for screening analgesics and it is considered to provide more validity to animal model of nociception. The first phase (neurogenic phase) of paw licking/biting response is generated in the periphery, and it is considered to be a result of the direct stimulation of C-fibre nociceptors by the injected formalin (Dubuisson and Dennis, 1977). The second phase (inflammatory phase), which appears later, is considered to be due to the combination of an inflammatory reaction in the peripheral tissue and changes in central processing (Yun-Kyoung Yim, 1999). The first phase is sensitive to drugs that interact with the

opioid system as well as local anaesthetics such as lidocaine and the second phase is inhibited by non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and narcotics. Inhibition of the late phase is due to inhibition of inflammatory mediators such as serotonin, histamine, bradykinin and prostaglandins, which at least to some degree, can cause sensitization of the central nociceptive neurons (Santa-Cecilia et al., 2011). Xylopic acid inhibited neurogenic pain in the formalin test by interacting with opioidergic- NO-cGMP, serotoninergic, adenosinergic and adrenergic system. Morphine inhibited neurogenic pain in this model by interacting with opioidergic-ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels-NOcGMP system. Xylopic acid and morphine co- administration produced synergistic antinociceptive effect in the first and second phase of formalin test. Based on the principle of independent joint action, co-administration of xylopic acid and morphine as a combination activated different pathways to produce synergistic effect in the first and second phase of the formalin test since additivity would at best be realized if only a single pathway was activated. Molecular interaction involving cAMP between xylopic acid and morphine though may have occurred considering the pathways xylopic acid and morphine activated to inhibit pain in both phases. Based on the elucidated mechanism of action of xylopic acid, it was possible that xylopic acid and morphine combination may activate G-protein coupled receptors and if they co-exist on neurons, they could share a common pool of G-protein and activation of one receptor may cause a redistribution of its G-protein, which will therefore lead to an increases in the sensitivity of the other receptor (Diaz-Reval et al., 2004) for the compounds.

Xylopic acid /morphine combination also exhibited synergism in the second phase of the formalin test. The synergism of the combination in the inflammatory phase was however lower than the neurogenic phase. The common pathway shared by xylopic acid and morphine in inhibition of inflammatory pain was mediated through the opioidergic, adenosinergic and muscarinic pathways. Additionally, xylopic acid acted on adrenergic pathway while morphine acted on serotoninergic pathway. One of the reasons for the observed greater antinociception of xylopic acid/morphine combination in the neurogenic pain compared to the inflammatory pain may be that considering the individual antinociceptive mechanistic pathways of xylopic acid and morphine, more pathways were activated in the first phase than the second phase. The combination may therefore have activated more pathways in the first than the second phase. It is worth noting that the explicit mechanism(s) of the combination however need to be elucidated. This study has made it obvious that lower doses of morphine and xylopic acid can be used to achieve greater analgesic effect at the same time minimizing their side effects.

Xylopic acid and diclofenac combination also produced synergism in the acetic acidinduced visceral pain and this is in agreement with the results obtained from the inflammatory phase of the formalin test. Diclofenac, an example of an NSAID is known to block pain through the inhibition of prostaglandin biosynthesis, modulations of endogenous opioids, serotoninergic and noradrenergic mechanisms, and the inhibition of NO/cGMP pathway (Fürst, 1999; Diaz-Reval *et al.*, 2004). Pain produced in this model was due to peripheral and central sensitization of nociceptors by inflammatory pain mediators.

The inhibition of pain in the acetic acid-induced writhing test was higher than that seen in the second phase of formalin test although both have similar pathophysiology. This may be due to the aptitude of xylopic acid/diclofenac combination to inhibit production of inflammatory pain mediators as well as inhibiting the neuronal sensitizing effect of prostaglandin if any is still produced providing an efficient and systematic pain inhibition compared to morphine/xylopic acid combination. xylopic acid has a low toxicity profile and further use of lower doses with morphine and diclofenac as seen from fractional analysis demonstrated that the extent of potentiation of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac combinations were synergistic. This makes the combinations useful agents compared to the use of the drugs individually for the treatment of both neurogenic and inflammatory pain conditions.

6.7 CONCLUSION

Xylopic acid/morphine combination exhibited marked potentiation after isobolographic analysis of the combination in both phases of the formalin test. The degree of potentiation calculated as the interaction index revealed synergism in both phases of the formalin test. Similarly, xylopic acid/diclofenac combination exhibited synergism in the acetic acid-induced writhing test.

Chapter 7

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The extract and xylopic acid exhibited both central and peripheral analgesic properties. Again this study has demonstrated that extract and XA are effective in acute and chronic pain conditions.

The fruit of *X. aethiopica* is used traditionally for the treatment of colic pain, rheumatism and neuralgia (Igwe *et al.*, 2003). The extract contains among other constituents kaurenoic and xylopic acid. Kaurenoic acid has been shown to possess anti-inflammatory and analgesic properties in animal models through the inhibition of NF- κ B (Castrillo *et al.*, 2001). The extract and xylopic acid inhibited visceral pain in the acetic acid - induced writhing test. This provided scientific evidence to the traditional use of the fruit of *X. aethiopica* as an analgesic for the treatment of visceral pain such as colic pain. Similarly, the extract and xylopic acid blocked thermal pain in the Hargreaves hyperalgesia model. The results obtained from the Hargreaves tail-flick test indicated the involvement of central mechanisms in the anti-nociceptive effects of the extract and xylopic acid. The tail-flick response is believed to be a spinally mediated reflex (Chapman *et al.*, 1985) but the mechanism of response could also involve higher neural structures (Jensen and Yaksh, 1986). The activity of the extract and xylopic acid in this model shows they act, at least in part, by spinally mediated central mechanisms.

Treatment of pain of neurogenic and inflammatory origin has been practiced using the fruit of *X. aethiopica* (Igwe *et al.*, 2003). Results obtained from the formalin-induced acute persistent pain model showed that the extract and xylopic acid inhibited both neurogenic and inflammatory pain. The inflammatory phase of the formalin test, similar to the inflammation induced by carrageenan involves the release of proinflammatory pain mediators such as iNOS, COX-2 products, TNF- α , serotonin, histamine and prostaglandins. Proinflammatory pain mediators have also been implicated in development of musculoskeletal pain. It is therefore not surprising that the extract and xylopic acid were effective in musculoskeletal pain, Hargreaves paw withdrawal test and phase 2 of the formalin test. In fact, a significant number of kaurene diterpenes, including kaurenoic acid are known to inhibit iNOS, COX-2 and TNF- α (Castrillo *et*

al., 2001; Leung et al., 2005; Park et al., 2007; Sosa-Sequera et al., 2010). Additionally, activation of the transcription factor NF-kB has been shown to be a key component in the expression of genes involved in the production of inflammatory mediators, which may exacerbate pain, hyperalgesia and nociception (Haddad; Baeuerle, 1998; Lee et al., 2004). Therefore, the inhibition of activation or action of NF-κB can effectively control inflammation and associated inflammatory pain. Castrillo et al (2001) have shown that kaurene diterpenes inhibit NF-kB activation through a mechanism that involves an impairment of IKK activity as a result of the inhibition of NIK and the lack of a coordinate activation of p38 and/or ERK1 and ERK2. This mechanisms possibly explains, at least in part, the observed analgesic actions shown by xylopic acid, a kaurene diterpene, and the extract (which contains at least two kaurenes: kaurenoic acid and xylopic acid) against inflammatory pain. The extract and xylopic acid were effective in acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain models. Kaolin/carrageenan injected into the joint of rats leads to biochemical and histopathological changes in the knee joint. The acute phase lasts for 24 hours. The first 3 hours of the acute phase of knee joint inflammation is characterised by increased levels of cyclooxygenase enzyme-2 (COX-2 produces prostaglandin E₂) mRNA and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS produces proinflammatory chemical NO) mRNA in the synovial fluid. This result in the synthesis and release of inflammatory mediators such as histamine, 5-HT, bradykinin and prostaglandins after 4 hours leading to mild haemorrhage, oedema and minimal cell infiltrates of polymorphonuclear granulocytes (Di Rosa and Willoughby, 1971). More neutrophils are seen in the ipsilateral knee at 8 hours and at 24 hours, the acute inflammation is severe, accompanied by fibrinous exudate in the knee joint. Increased levels of excitatory amino acids (glutamate and aspartate) and nitric oxide metabolites as well as other cytokines such as nerve growth factor (NGF) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) have been observed in the in the ipsilateral synovium of the acute phase (Manni and Aloe, 1998; Bement et al., 2003). The inflammation converts to a chronic state characterised by macrophage infiltration with a few scattered mast cells. The pain associated with the chronic inflammation involves central sensitization with spinal and supraspinal involvement associated with sensitisation of dorsal horn neurons by glutamate, substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide and prostanoids. Impairment in ionic conductance of the neurons due to calcium and potassium channels disturbance have been observed. Supraspinal involvement was due to descending facilitation of pain control system as a result of impaired descending inhibitory pain control system. Acute musculoskeletal pain is a major symptom of some disease states such as malaria and this will make the extract and xylopic acid good candidates for the treatment of malaria and its associated musculoskeletal pain due to reports of *X. aethiopica* being used to treat malaria traditionally (Tatsadjieu *et al.*, 2003). This in effect will reduce the cost and number of drugs used to treat malaria (Iwu *et al.*, 1992). The formalin test is a very useful test because not only can it detect drugs that inhibit neurogenic and/or inflammatory pain but can also predict drugs that may be effective in neuropathic and neurogenic painful conditions (Ellis *et al.*, 1998; Vissers *et al.*, 2006).

The extract and xylopic acid exerted potent neurogenic pain inhibition in the vincristine-induced neuropathic, formalin, glutamate and capsaicin models of pain. The pain induced by vincristine has been associated with damages inflicted on schwann cells and dorsal root ganglion (DRG) neurons of the peripheral nervous system resulting in the release of inflammatory mediators and further recruitment of macrophages in the peripheral nervous system (PNS). The recruited macrophages may also release the inflammatory cytokine IL-6, which elicits neuro-inflammation and activates janus kinase (Jak) - transcription-3 (STAT3) pathway (Jak-STAT3 pathway), leading to neuropathic pain. CNS sensitization due to secondary signal transduction of pain from the PNS to the CNS may activate microglia and astrocytes to release proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α which in turn activates the p38 MAP kinase pathway to contribute to the development and maintenance of neuropathic pain in the CNS (Siau et al., 2006; Kiguchi et al., 2009; Authier et al., 2003). Neuropathic pain, especially the cancer pain type is opioid resistant due to down regulation of mu-opioid receptors in dorsal spinal cord, mediated through the activation of NMDA receptors and protein kinase A (Mizoguchi et al., 2009). It was therefore unlikely that the extract and xylopic acid acted on the opioidergic receptors/pathways to block pain in this model. Again, at neuropathic pain states, there is an increase expression and activity of voltagedependent Na⁺ channels and α_2 - δ_1 Ca²⁺ channels (a subunit construct of N-type voltagedependent Ca^{2+} channel) as well as increased expression of α_2 – adrenergic receptors (indicating the maintenance of neuropathic pain by the sympathetic system) on neuronal terminals. This is supported by the fact that administration of NMDA receptor antagonists or protein kinase C inhibitors (Mao et al., 1995; Yajima et al., 2005) suppress the development of the hyperalgesia and allodynia in neuropathic pain states. The fruit and seeds of X. aethiopica have been used in the management of cardiac palpitation in Cameroon (Sandberga et al., 2005) as well as oedema (Somova et al.,

2001). Further research on the fruits and seeds revealed that extracts of fruits of *X*. *aethiopica* posses hypotensive, diuretic and naturetic properties (Somova *et al.*, 2001) and the hypotensive property of the fruits and extract of *X*. *aethiopica* was due to the calcium blocking effects of xylopic acid and kaurenoic acid. The diuretic and naturetic effects may account for the use of the fruit for managing oedema. Calcium channel antagonists such as pregabalin and gabapentin have proven beneficial in the management of neuropathic pain. Effectiveness of the extract and xylopic acid in the neuropathic pain model can be attributed to their inhibition of Ca²⁺ influx via calcium channel blockade and subsequently, inhibiting the release of excitatory neurotransmitters (e.g., glutamate, substance P) from the primary afferent nerve fibres which are sensitized during neuropathic pain states similar to pregabalin. Again, the extract and xylopic acid directly blocking the α_2 – adrenergic- protein kinase C and capsaicin –sensitive C-fibres- NMDA system further might have contributed to the resulted attenuation of the neuropathic pain.

Furthermore xylopic acid and extract may have inhibited pain in this model by possibly inhibiting COX-2 and TNF- α . Kaurene diterpenes, including kaurenoic acid are known to inhibit iNOS, COX-2 and TNF- α (Castrillo *et al.*, 2001; Leung *et al.*, 2005; Park *et al.*, 2007; Sosa-Sequera *et al.*, 2010) and this may have resulted in the inhibition of one of the essential pathways, p38 MAP kinase pathway in neuropathic pain generation.

Extract of *X. aethiopica* is reported to possess anticancer properties in rodents although the active constituent responsible for this effect has not been yet elucidated (Adaramoye *et al.*, 2010; Adaramoye *et al.*, 2011). This places the extract and xylopic acid in high priority of drug development consideration as it may not only be another source of anticancer agent but play the dual role of preventing or ameliorating neuropathic pain associated with anticancer therapy.

The antinociception of the extract and xylopic acid were mediated through the adrenergic, muscarinic, opioidergic-NO-cGMP, adenosinergic and serotoninergic pathways. The protein kinase A and Cɛ pathways may also be involved in the antinociception of the extract and xylopic acid. This finding was not surprising because the opioidergic, muscarinic, adenosinergic and adrenergic receptors are coupled to the PKA and PKC pathways. It is possible that aside the effect of the extract and xylopic

acid on these enzyme pathways, they may have exerted some effect on the receptors as well as demonstrated by the binding of xylopic acid on MOR receptors.

In spite of the observation that the extract and xylopic acid acts on the opioidergic as well as adenosinergic pathways to produce antinociception both peripherally and centrally, they do not induce tolerance to their antinociception. Tolerance has been a worrying side effect of opioids that has limited the use of opioids and the search for opioid agonists devoid of causing tolerance has been ongoing. The extract and xylopic acid can therefore be used in patients for the management of chronic pain without tolerance being produced to their antinociceptive properties. Again tolerance developed to the antinociceptive properties of opioids does not cross-generalize to the antinociception of the extract and xylopic acid. This implies that morphine can be substituted for the extract and xylopic acid in patients that have developed tolerance to the antinociception of morphine.

To further minimize the side effects of xylopic acid that may come with its use, minimize poly pharmacy and enhance the efficacy of xylopic acid, morphine and diclofenac, isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac were performed. Using relatively very low doses of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac combinations resulted in profound antinoception compared to the use of the individual drugs alone. The side effects of these drugs may have drastically been reduced due to smaller doses used.

CONCLUSION

This study has provided pharmacological evidence to support the use of the fruit of *X*. *aethoipica* as an analgesic. Furthermore it illustrated that the analgesic effect of the fruit was partly due to the presence of xylopic acid. The analgesic effect of the ethanolic extract of *X*. *aethoipica* was mediated by:

- Stimulation of opioid receptors-nitric oxide-cyclic GMP (NO/cGMP) pathway devoid of tolerance development to the analgesic effect of the extract.
- Stimulation of adenosinergic, muscarinic and 5HT₃ pathways.

 Inhibition of EP, B1 and B2, TRPV1 (vanilloid), glutamate, adrenergic receptors- cAMP-protein kinase A and protein kinase Cε pathways.

The analgesic effect of xylopic acid was partially or wholly due to:

- Stimulation of opioid receptors-nitric oxide-cyclic GMP-pathway as well as causing an increment in the binding of endogenous opioids devoid of tolerance development to the analgesic effect of xylopic acid.
- Stimulation of adenosinergic, muscarinic, adrenergic and 5HT₃ pathways.
- Inhibition of EP, B1 and B2, TRPV1 (vanilloid), glutamate, adrenergic receptors- cAMP-protein kinase A and/or protein kinase Cɛ pathways.

Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid/morphine and xylopic acid/diclofenac combination indicated synergism for both combinations.

7.1 RECOMMENDATIONS

This study has provided scientific evidence to the use of the fruits of *Xylopia aethiopica* and xylopic acid as analgesic in rodents. This cannot directly be extrapolated to human beings and therefore care should be taken when being used in human subjects. The following future works can be performed to improve upon the knowledge on the fruits and xylopic acid.

- Acute, sub acute and chronic toxicity profile of the extract and xylopic acid should be conducted to assess the safety of the extract and xylopic acid since the fruits of *X. aethiopica* is used as a delicacy.
- In order to elucidate the direct inhibition of PKA and PKCε as well as possible inhibition of COX-1 and COX-2, western blotting or ELISA should be employed.
- Bradykinin 1 (B1) and B2 specific agonists induced nociception should be employed to explicitly determine the bradykinin receptor(s) the extract and xylopic acid acted on.
- > The nociceptive pathways the extract and xylopic acid attenuated were associated with specific receptors. Binding studies should therefore be carried

out in order to elucidate the receptors and receptor subtypes the extract and xylopic acid acted upon.

- The extract should further be fractionated to isolate other compounds and kaurenoic acid derivatives and their antinociception determined. This will help fully characterize the extract both pharmacologically and phytochemically as any additional pure compounds would serve as marker compounds for the extract and this would enhance the finger print database on the extract.
- Isobolographic analysis of xylopic acid and other clinically used drugs for neuropathy should be performed so as to increase the efficacy of these drugs.
- This work should further be conducted in primates in order to extract relevant scientific data before use in man.

REFERENCES

- ABDEL-SALAM, O. M. and S. EL-BATRAN (2005). Pharmacological investigation of trimetazidine in models of inflammation, pain and gastric injury in rodents. Pharmacology 75(3): 122-132.
- ADARAMOYE, A. O., O. O. OSUME and E. O. FAROMBI (2010). Dried fruit extract from xylopia aethiopica (annonaceae) protects wistar albino rats from adverse effects of whole body radiation. Experimental andToxicologicPathology: 352-359.
- ADARAMOYE, A. O., J. SARKAR, N. SINGH, S. MEENA, B. CHANGKIJA, P. P. YADAV, S. KANOJIYA and S. INHA (2011). Antiproliferative action of xylopia aethiopica fruit extract on human cervical cancer cells. Phytother. Res 4(2): 123-134.
- ADOSRAKU, K. R. and J. K. OPPONG (2011). Characterization and hplc quantification of xylopic acid in the dried fruits of xylopia aethiopica. International Journal of Pure and Applied Chemistry **6**(2): 13-14.
- AFABLE, R. and J. W. ETTINGER (1993). Musculoskeletal disease in the aged: Diagnosis and management. Drugs Aging **3**: 49-59.
- ALEY, K. O., P. G. GREEN and J. D. LEVINE (1995). Opioid and adenosine peripheral antinociception are subject to tolerance and withdrawal. Journal of Neuroscience 15(12): 8031-8038.
- ALEY, K. O. and J. D. LEVINE (1997). Multiple receptors involved in peripheral alpha 2, mu, and a1 antinociception, tolerance, and withdrawal. Journal of Neuroscience 17(2): 735-744.
- ALEY, K. O., D. B. REICHLING and J. D. LEVINE (1996). Vincristine hyperalgesia in the rat: A model of painful vincristine neuropathy in humans. Neuroscience 73(1): 259-265.
- ALHAIDER, A. A., S. Z. LEI and G. L. WILCOX (1991). Spinal 5-HT₃ receptor-mediated antinociception: Possible release of gaba. Journal of Neuroscience **11**(7): 1881-1888.
- AMRESH, G., P. N. SINGH and V. RAO CH (2007). Antinociceptive and antiarthritic activity of cissampelos pareira roots. J Ethnopharmacol **111**(3): 531-536.

- ASEKUN, O. T. and B. A. ADENIYI (2004). Antimicrobial and cytotoxic activities of the fruit essential oil of xylopia aethiopica from nigeria. Fitoterapia **75**(3-4): 368-370.
- ASHBURN, M. A. and A. G. LIPMAN (1993). Management of pain in the cancer patient. Anesth Analg **76**(2): 402-416.
- AUTHIER, N., J. GILLET, J. FIALIP, A. ESCHALIER and F. COUDORE (2003). A new animal model of vincristine-induced nociceptive peripheral neuropathy. Neurotoxicology 24(6):(797-805.)..
- BACKONJA, M. M. and B. STACEY (2004). Neuropathic pain symptoms relative to overall pain rating. J Pain 5(9): 491-497.
- BAEUERLE, P. A. (1998). Ikappab-nf-kappab structures: At the interface of inflammation control. Cell **95**(6): 729-731.
- BALUNAS, M. J. and A. D. KINGHORN (2005). Drug discovery from medicinal plants. Life Sci **78**(5): 431-441.
- BANDOLIER (2003). Bandolier : Acute pain. Bandolier Extra February: 1-22.
- BARDIN, L., J. LAVARENNE and A. ESCHALIER (2000). Serotonin receptor subtypes involved in the spinal antinociceptive effect of 5-ht in rats. Pain **86**(1-2): 11-18.
- BEIRITH, A., A. R. SANTOS and J. B. CALIXTO (2002). Mechanisms underlying the nociception and paw oedema caused by injection of glutamate into the mouse paw. Brain Res 924(2): 219-228.
- BEMENT, M. K. H., A. D. SKYBA, R. RADHAKRISHNAN and A. K. SLUKA (2003). Review: Central sensitization and musculoskeletal pain. Seminars in Pain Medicine 1(3): 139-150.
- BENBOUZID, M., V. PALLAGE, M. RAJALU, E. WALTISPERGER, S. DORIDOT, P. POISBEAU, M. J. FREUND-MERCIER and M. BARROT (2008). Sciatic nerve cuffing in mice: A model of sustained neuropathic pain. Eur J Pain 12(5): 591-599.
- BENNETT, G. J. and Y. K. XIE (1988). A peripheral mononeuropathy in rat that produces disorders of pain sensation like those seen in man. Pain **33**(1): 87-107.
- BERNARDINI, N., C. ROZA, S. K. SAUER, J. GOMEZA, J. WESS and P. W. REEH (2002). Muscarinic m2 receptors on peripheral nerve endings: A molecular target of antinociception. Journal of Neuroscience 22(12): RC229.

- BERRY, H. P., R. CHAPMAN, COVINGTON C. EDWARD, L. J. DALH, A. J. KATZ, C. MIASKOWSKI and L. M. MCLEAN (2001). Pain: Current understanding of assessment, management, and treatments. Joint Commission on accreditation of haelthcare organisations and Nationa Pharmaceutical council INC monograph: 9-54.
- BESSON, J. M. and A. CHAOUCH (1987). A. Peripheral and spinal mechanism of nociception. Physiol Rev. 67: 67-186.
- BIRDER, L. A. and E. R. PERL (1994). Cutaneous sensory receptors. J Clin Neurophysiol 11(6): 534-552.
- BLOCK, L. C., A. R. SANTOS, M. M. DE SOUZA, C. SCHEIDT, R. A. YUNES, M. A. SANTOS, F. D. MONACHE and V. C. FILHO (1998). Chemical and pharmacological examination of antinociceptive constituents of wedelia paludosa. J Ethnopharmacol 61(1): 85-89.
- BOAKYE-YIADOM, K., N. I. FIAGBE and J. S. AYIM (1977). Antimicrobial properties of some west african medicinal plants iv. Antimicrobial activity of xylopic acid and other constituente of the fruits of xylopia aethiopica (annonaceae). Lloydia 40(6): 543-545.
- BRADFORD, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Analytical Biochemistry 72: 248-254.
- CADET, P. (2004). Mu opiate receptor subtypes. Med Sci Monit 10(6): MS28-32...
- CALIXTO, J. B., D. A. CABRINI, J. FERREIRA and M. M. CAMPOS (2001). Inflammatory pain: Kinins and antagonists. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol **14**: 519-526.
- CALIXTO, J. B., C. A. KASSUYA, E. ANDRE and J. FERREIRA (2005). Contribution of natural products to the discovery of the transient receptor potential (trp) channels family and their functions. Pharmacology and Therapeutics **106**(2): 179-208..
- CALVINO, B., J. M. BESSON, F. MOUNIER, C. KORDON and M. T. BLUET-PAJOT (1992). Chronic pain induces a paradoxical increase in growth hormone secretion without affecting other hormones related to acute stress in the rat. Pain **49** (1): 27-32.
- CASEY, E. B., A. M. JELLIFE, P. M. LE QUESNE and Y. L. MILLETT (1973). Vincristine neuropathy. Clinical and electrophysiological observations. Brain **96**(1): 69-86.

- CASTRILLO, A., B. DE LAS HERAS, S. HORTELANO, B. RODRIGUEZ, A. VILLAR and L. BOSCA (2001). Inhibition of the nuclear factor kappa b (nf-kappa b) pathway by tetracyclic kaurene diterpenes in macrophages. Specific effects on nf-kappa b-inducing kinase activity and on the coordinate activation of erk and p38 mapk. J Biol Chem 276(19): 15854-15860.
- CATERINA, M. J., M. A. SCHUMACHER, M. TOMINAGA, T. A. ROSEN, J. D. LEVINE and D. JULIUS (1997). The capsaicin receptor: A heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature **389**(6653): 816-824.
- CHAPMAN, C. (2005). Pain perception and assessment. Minerva Anestesiol **71**(7-8): 413-417.
- CHAPMAN, C. R., K. L. CASEY, R. DUBNER, K. M. FOLEY, R. H. GRACELY and A. E. READING (1985). Pain measurement: An overview. Pain. Pain 22(1-31).
- CHAPMAN, C. R., K. L. CASEY, R. DUBNER, K. M. FOLEY, R. H. GRACELY and A. E. READING (1985). Pain measurement: An overview. Pain 22 1-31.
- CHEN, C. H. and S. T. TANG (2011). Meta-analysis of cultural differences in western and asian patient-perceived barriers to managing cancer pain. Palliative Medicine **35**(3): 125-133.
- CHEN, S. R. and H. L. PAN (2001). Spinal endogenous acetylcholine contributes to the analgesic effect of systemic morphine in rats. Anesthesiology **95**(2): 525-530.
- CHEN, Y., C. GEIS and C. SOMMER (2008). Activation of trpv1 contributes to morphine tolerance: Involvement of the mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway. J Neurosci 28(22): 5836-5845.
- CHEN, Y. P., S. R. CHEN and H. L. PAN (2005). Systemic morphine inhibits dorsal horn projection neurons through spinal cholinergic system independent of descending pathways. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics **314**(2): 611-617.
- CHIANG, C. Y. and M. ZHUO (1989). Evidence for the involvement of a descending cholinergic pathway in systemic morphine analgesia. Brain Research **478**(2): 293-300.

CLANCY, J. and A. MCVICAR (1992). Subjectivity of pain. Br J Nurs 1(1): 8-10, 12.

- CLAUDINO, F. R., A. L. C. KASSUYA, J. FERREIRA and B. J. O. CALIXTO (2006). Pharmacological and molecular characterization of the mechanisms involved in prostaglandin e2-induced mouse paw edema. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics **318**(2): 611-618.
- CODERRE, T. and R. MELZACK (1985). Increased pain sensitivity following heat injury involves a central mechanism. Behav Brain Res 15: 259-262.
- COSTA-LOTUFO, L. V., G. M. CUNHA, P. A. FARIAS, G. S. VIANA, K. M. CUNHA, C. PESSOA, M. O. MORAES, E. R. SILVEIRA, N. V. GRAMOSA and V. S. RAO (2002). The cytotoxic and embryotoxic effects of kaurenoic acid, a diterpene isolated from copaifera langsdorffii oleo-resin. Toxicon 40(8): 1231-1234.
- COURTEIX, C., P. BOURGET, F. CAUSSADE, M. BARDIN, F. COUDORE, J. FIALIP and A. ESCHALIER (1998). Is the reduced eycacy of morphine in diabetic rats caused by alterations of opiate receptors or of morphine pharmacokinetics? J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. **285**: 63–70.
- CURY, Y., G. PICOLO, V. P. GUTIERREZ and S. H. FERREIRA (2011). Pain and analgesia: The dual effect of nitric oxide in the nociceptive system. Nitric Oxide 25(3): 243-254.
- DA ROCHA, C. Q., F. C. VILELA, G. P. CAVALCANTE, F. V. SANTA-CECILIA, L. SANTOS-E-SILVA, M. H. DOS SANTOS and A. GIUSTI-PAIVA (2011). Anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive effects of arrabidaea brachypoda (dc.) bureau roots. J Ethnopharmacol 133(2): 396-401.
- DALBO, S., S. JURGENSEN, H. HORST, D. N. SOETHE, A. R. SANTOS, M. G. PIZZOLATTI and R. M. RIBEIRO-DO-VALLE (2006). Analysis of the antinociceptive effect of the proanthocyanidin-rich fraction obtained from croton celtidifolius barks: Evidence for a role of the dopaminergic system. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 85(2): 317-323.
- DAVINO, S. C., A. M. GIESBRECHT and N. F. ROQUE (1989). Antimicrobial activity of kaurenoic acid derivatives substituted on carbon-15. Braz J Med Biol Res 22(9): 1127-1129.
- DECOSTERD, I. and C. J. WOOLF (2000). Spared nerve injury: An animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain **87**(2): 149-158.

DELEO, J. A. (2006). Basic science of pain. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 88(12).

- DESAI, A. K. and G. T. GROSSBERG (2003). Herbals and botanicals in geriatric psychiatry. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry **11**(5): 498-506.
- DEVOR, M. and P. D. WALL (1978). Reorganisation of spinal cord sensory map after peripheral nerve injury. Nature **276**(5683): 75-76.
- DI ROSA, M., J. P. GIROUD and D. A. WILLOUGHBY (1971). Studies on the mediators of the acute inflammatory response induced in rats in different sites by carrageenan and turpentine. J Pathol **104**(1): 15-29.
- DI ROSA, M. and D. A. WILLOUGHBY (1971). Screens for anti-inflammatory drugs. J Pharm Pharmacol 23(4): 297-298.
- DIAZ-REVAL, M. I., R. VENTURA-MARTINEZ, M. DECIGA-CAMPOS, J. A. TERRON, F. CABRE and F. J. LOPEZ-MUNOZ (2004). Evidence for a central mechanism of action of s-(+)-ketoprofen. Eur J Pharmacol 483(2-3): 241-248.
- DIRIG, D., M., A. SALAMI, L. M. RATHBU, T. G. OZAKI and L. T. YAKS (1997). Characterization of variables defining hindpaw withdrawal latency evoked by radiant thermal stimuli. Journal of Neuroscience Methods **76** 183–191.
- DIVIN, M. F., F. A. BRADBURY, F. I. CARROLL and J. R. TRAYNOR (2009). Neutral antagonist activity of naltrexone and 6beta-naltrexol in naive and opioid-dependent c6 cells expressing a mu-opioid receptor. British Journal of Pharmacology 156(7): 1044-1053.
- DONAHUE, R. R., S. C. LAGRAIZE and P. N. FUCHS (2001). Electrolytic lesion of the anterior cingulate cortex decreases inflammatory, but not neuropathic nociceptive behavior in rats. Brain Res **897**(1-2): 131-138.
- DUBUISSON, D. and S. G. DENNIS (1977). The formalin test: A quantitative study of the analgesic effects of morphine, meperidine, and brain stem stimulation in rats and cats. Pain **4**(2): 161-174.
- DUPEN, A., D. SHEN and M. ERSEK (2007). Mechanisms of opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. Pain Management Nursing **8**(3): 113-121.
- DURRENBERGER, P. F., P. FACER, M. A. CASULA, Y. YIANGOU, GRAY, R.A.,, I. P. CHESSELL, N. C. DAY, S. D. COLLINS, S. BINGHAM, A. W. WILSON, D. ELLIOT and

R. BIRCH, A (2006). Prostanoid receptor ep1 and cox-2 in injured human nerves and a rat model of nerve injury: A time-course study. BMC Neurol. **6**(1): 148-169.

- DUWIEJUA, M. and I. J. ZEITLIN (1993). Plants as sources of anti-inflammtory compounds. Drugs from natural products(pharmaceuticals & agrochemicals). A. L. HARVEY. London, Ellis Horwood.
- EKOAG, D. E. U. and A. U. OGAN (1968). Chemistry of the constituents of xylopia aethiopica: The structure of xylopic acid, a new diterpene. J. Chem. SOC. : 311-312.
- ELLIS, A., BENSON N., A. MACHIN I. and C. L. (1998). The rat formalin test: Can it predict neuropathic pain treatments? Pfizer Global Research and Development, Sandwich, UK, 7(1): 10-14.
- ENDRES-BECKER, J., P. A. HEPPENSTALL, S. A. MOUSA, D. LABUZ, A. OKSCHE, M. SCHAFER, C. STEIN and C. ZOLLNER (2007). Mu-opioid receptor activation modulates transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (trpv1) currents in sensory neurons in a model of inflammatory pain. Molecular Pharmacology **71**(1): 12-18.
- FECHO, K., G. NACKLEY, Y. WUB and W. MAIXNER (2005). Basal and carrageenaninduced pain behavior in sprague–dawley, lewis and fischer rats. Physiology & Behavior 85: 177 – 186.
- FERREIRA, J., G. L. DA SILVA and J. B. CALIXTO (2004). Contribution of vanilloid receptors to the overt nociception induced by b2 kinin receptor activation in mice. British Journal of Pharmacology 141(5): 787-794.
- FERREIRA, S. H. and M. NAKAMURA (1979). Ii prostaglandin hyperalgesia: The peripheral analgesic activity of morphine, enkephalins and opioid antagonists. Prostaglandins 18(2): 191-200.
- FIELD, M. J. and C. K. CASSEL (1997). Approaching death: Improving care at the end of life. Institute of Medicine, National Academy Press. Washington, D.C.: 5-13.
- FIELDS, H. L. and A. I. BASBAUM (1994). Central nervous system mechanisms of pain modulation. Textbook of Pain., Eds. P. D. Wall and R. Melzack. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh. 3rd edn,: 243-257.
- FIELDS, H. L., M. M. HEINRICHER and P. MASON (1991). Neurotransmitters in nociceptive modulatory circuits. Annu Rev Neurosci 14: 219-245.

- FLATTERS, S. J. and G. J. BENNETT (2004). Ethosuximide reverses paclitaxel- and vincristine-induced painful peripheral neuropathy. Pain **109**(1-2): 150-161.
- FREDHOLM, B. B., I. J. AP, K. A. JACOBSON, K. N. KLOTZ and J. LINDEN (2001). International union of pharmacology. Xxv. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 53(4): 527-552.
- FÜRST, S. (1999). Transmitters involved in antinociception in the spinal cord. Brain Research Bulletin **48**(2): 129-141.
- GALBRAITH, J. A., B. J. MROSKO and R. R. MYERS (1993). A system to measure thermal nociception. J Neurosci Methods **49**(1-2): 63-68.
- GARERI, P., D. CONDORELLI, N. BELLUARDO, R. CITRARO, V. BARRESI, A. TROVATO-SALINATO, G. MUDO`, G. F. IBBADU, E. RUSSO and G. DE SARRO (2005). Antiabsence effects of carbenoxolone in two genetic animal models of absence epilepsy (wag/rij rats and lh/lh mice). Neuropharmacology 49: 551-563.
- GHANA HERBAL PHARMACOPOEIA (2007). Science and Technology Policy Research Institute, Accra: 239-242.
- GHELARDINI, C., N. GALEOTTI and A. BARTOLINI (2000). Loss of muscarinic antinociception by antisense inhibition of m(1) receptors. British Journal of Pharmacology 129(8): 1633-1640.
- GILCHRIST, H. D., B. L. ALLARD and D. A. SIMONE (1996). Enhanced withdrawal responses to heat and mechanical stimuli following intraplantar injection of capsaicin in rats. Pain **67**(1): 179-188.
- GIRISH, D. and D. SHRIDHAR (2007). History of medicine: Sushruta the clinician teacher par excellence. National Informatics Centre (Government of India).
- GOLDBERG, I. E., G. C. ROSSI, S. R. LETCHWORTH, J. P. MATHIS, J. RYAN-MORO, L. LEVENTHAL, W. SU, D. EMMEL, E. A. BOLAN and G. W. PASTERNAK (1998).
 Pharmacological characterization of endomorphin-1 and endomorphin-2 in mouse brain. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 286(2): 1007-1013.
- GOLDMAN, P. (2001). Herbal medicines today and the roots of modern pharmacology. Ann Intern Med **135**(8 Pt 1): 594-600.

- HADDAD, J. J. (2009). Cellular and molecular regulation of inflammatory pain, nociception and hyperalgesia - the role of the transcription factor NF-KB as the lynchpin nocisensor: Hyperalgesic or analgesic effect? Current Immunology Reviews 3(2): 117-131.
- HERRERO, J. and F. CERVERO (1996). Supraspinal influences on the facilitation of rat nociceptive reflexes induced by carrageenan monoarthritis. Neurosci Lett **209**: 21-24.
- HIGUERA, E. S. and Z. D. LUO (2004). A rat pain model of vincristine-induced neuropathy. Methods Mol Med **99**: 91-98.
- HONDA, K., S. ANDO, K. KOGA and Y. TAKANO (2004). The spinal muscarinic receptor subtypes contribute to the morphine-induced antinociceptive effects in thermal stimulation in mice. Neuroscience Letters **371**(2-3): 235-238.
- HONDA, K., A. HARADA, Y. TAKANO and H. KAMIYA (2000). Involvement of m3 muscarinic receptors of the spinal cord in formalin-induced nociception in mice. Brain Research 859(1): 38-44.
- HUNSKAAR, S. and K. HOLE (1987). The formalin test in mice: Dissociation between inflammatory and non-inflammatory pain. Pain **30**(1): 103-114.
- IGWE, S. A., J. C. AFONNE and S. I. GHASI (2003). Ocular dynamics of systemic aqueous extracts of xylopia aethiopica (african guinea pepper) seeds on visually active volunteers. J Ethnopharmacol 86(2-3): 139-142.
- IRVING, G. A. (2005). Contemporary assessment and management of neuropathic pain. Neurology 64(12 Suppl 3): S21-27.
- ITO, S., E. OKUDA-ASHITAKA and T. MINAMI (2001). Central and peripheral roles of prostaglandins in pain and their interactions with novel neuropeptides nociceptin and nocistatin. Neuroscience Research **41**: 299–332.
- ITO, S., E. OKUDA-ASHITAKA and T. MINAMI (2001). Central and peripheral roles of prostaglandins in pain and their interactions with novel neuropeptides nociceptin and nocistatin. Neuroscience Research 41: 299–332.
- IWU, M. M., J. E. JACKSON, J. D. TALLY and D. L. KLAYMAN (1992). Evaluation of plant extracts for antileishmanial activity using a mechanism-based radiorespirometric microtechnique (ram). Planta Med 58(5): 436-441..

- JAGE, J. (2005). Opioid tolerance and dependence -- do they matter? Eur J Pain 9(2): 157-162.
- JENSEN, T. S. and T. L. YAKSH (1986). Comparison of antinociceptive action of morphine in the periaqueductal gray, medial and paramedial medulla in rat. Brain Res 363(1): 99-113.
- JOHNSON, Q., J. SYCE, H. NELL, K. RUDEEN and W. R. FOLK (2007). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of lessertia frutescens in healthy adults. PLoS Clin Trials 2(4): e16.
- JONES, P. G. and J. DUNLOP (2007). Targeting the cholinergic system as a therapeutic strategy for the treatment of pain. Neuropharmacology **53**(2): 197-206.
- JONES, S. L. (1992). Noradrenergic modulation of noxious heatevoked fos-like immunoreactivity in the dorsal horn of the rat sacral spinal cord. J. Comp. Neurol. 325: 435-445.
- KAMAL, E. H. E. T. and L. A. ABDULRAHMAN (2002). Pharmacotherapeutic management of nociceptive and inflammatory pain. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal 10(3): 595-603.
- KEHL, L. J., D. T. HAMAMOTO, P. W. WACNIK, D. L. CROFT, B. D. NORSTED, G. L. WILCOX and D. A. SIMONE (2003). A cannabinoid agonist differentially attenuates deep tissue hyperalgesia in animal models of cancer and inflammatory muscle pain. Pain 103(1-2): 175-186.
- KHASAR, S., G. MCCARTER and J. LEVINE (1999). Epinephrine produces a betaadrenergic receptor-mediated mechanical hyperalgesia and in vitro sensitization of rat nociceptors. Journal of Neurophysiology. 81(3): 1104-12.
- KIGUCHI, N., T. MAEDA, Y. KOBAYASHI, F. SAIKA and S. KISHIOKA (2009). Involvement of inflammatory mediators in neuropathic pain caused by vincristine. Int Rev Neurobiol 85: 179-190.
- KIM, S. H. and J. M. CHUNG (1992). An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental spinal nerve ligation in the rat. Pain **50**(3): 355-363.
- KIVELL, B. and T. E. PRISINZANO (2010). Kappa opioids and the modulation of pain. Psychopharmacology (Berl) **210**(2): 109-119.

- KONAN, N. D., B. A. KOUAME, M.-B. J.A, J. NEMLIN. and B. YVES-ALAIN (2009). Chemical composition and antioxidant activities of essential oils of xylopia aethiopica European Journal of Scientific Research 37(2): 311-318.
- KOSTER, R., M. ANDERSON and E. J. BEER (1959). Acetic acid for analgesic screening. Federal Proceedings 18: 412-418.
- KUMAR, N., A. LAFERRIERE, J. S. YU, T. POON and T. J. CODERRE (2010). Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mglurs) regulate noxious stimulus-induced glutamate release in the spinal cord dorsal horn of rats with neuropathic and inflammatory pain. J Neurochem 114(1): 281-290.
- LAJIDE, L. T., P. ESCOUBAS and J. MIZUTANI (1995). Termite antifeedant activity of xylopia aethiopica. Phytochemistry **40**(4): 1105-1112.
- LAPA FDA, R., V. M. GADOTTI, F. C. MISSAU, M. G. PIZZOLATTI, M. C. MARQUES, A. L. DAFRE, M. FARINA, A. L. RODRIGUES and A. R. SANTOS (2009). Antinociceptive properties of the hydroalcoholic extract and the flavonoid rutin obtained from polygala paniculata l. In mice. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol **104**(4): 306-315.
- LAVICH, T. R., R. S. CORDEIRO, P. M. SILVA and M. A. MARTINS (2005). A novel hotplate test sensitive to hyperalgesic stimuli and non-opioid analgesics. Braz J Med Biol Res 38(3): 445-451.
- LEE, K. M., B. S. KANG, H. L. LEE, S. J. SON, S. H. HWANG, D. S. KIM, J. S. PARK and H. J. CHO (2004). Spinal nf-kb activation induces cox-2 upregulation and contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. Eur J Neurosci 19(12): 3375-3381.
- LEUNG, C. H., S. P. GRILL, W. LAM, Q. B. HAN, H. D. SUN and Y. C. CHENG (2005). Novel mechanism of inhibition of nuclear factor-kappa b DNA-binding activity by diterpenoids isolated from isodon rubescens. Molecular Pharmacology 68(2): 286-297.
- LEVINE, J. D. and Y. O. TAIWO (1989). Involvement of the mu-opiate receptor in peripheral analgesia. Neuroscience **32**(3): 571-575.
- LEWIN, G. R. and R. MOSHOURAB (2004). Mechanosensation and pain. J Neurobiol **61**(1): 30-44.

- LIU, Y. and M. W. WANG (2007). Botanical drugs: Challenges and opportunities contribution to linnaeus memorial symposium 2007. Life Sci..
- LOESER, J. D. and R. D. TREEDE (2008). The kyoto protocol of iasp basic pain terminology. Pain **137**(3): 473-477.
- LOGRASSO, M., R. NADESON and C. S. GOODCHILD (2002). The spinal antinociceptive effects of cholinergic drugs in rats: Receptor subtype specificity in different nociceptive tests. BMC Pharmacology **2**: 20.
- LOPEZ-GARCIA, J. A. and A. E. A. KING (1996). Novel methodology for simultaneous assessment of the effects of 5-hydroxytryptamine on primary afferent polarisation and synaptic transmission in rat dorsal horn neurones in vitro. J. Neurosci. **68**: 1-6.
- LU, T., Y. KO, H. HUANG, Y. HUNG, Y. LIN and W. PENG (2007). Analgesic and antiinflammatory activities of aqueous extract from glycine tomentella root in mice. Journal of Ethnopharmacology. 13(1).
- LYNCH, J. J., 3RD, C. L. WADE, J. P. MIKUSA, M. W. DECKER and P. HONORE (2005). Abt-594 (a nicotinic acetylcholine agonist): Anti-allodynia in a rat chemotherapyinduced pain model. Eur J Pharmacol **509**(1): 43-48.
- MANNI, L. and L. ALOE (1998). Role of il-1 beta and tnf-alpha in the regulation of ngf in experimentally induced arthritis in mice. Rheumatol Int **18**(3): 97-102.
- MAO, J. (1999). Nmda and opioid receptors: Their interactions in antinociception, tolerance and neuroplasticity. Brain Research. Brain Research Reviews **30**(3): 289-304.
- MAO, J., D. D. PRICE and D. J. MAYER (1995). Experimental mononeuropathy reduces the antinociceptive evects of morphine: Implications for common intracellular mechanisms involved in morphine tolerance and neuropathic pain. Pain **61**: 353-364.
- MARTIN, T. J., S. A. KIM, N. L. BUECHLER, F. PORRECA and J. C. EISENACH (2007). Opioid self-administration in the nerve-injured rat: Relevance of antiallodynic effects to drug consumption and effects of intrathecal analgesics. Anesthesiology 106(2): 312-322.
- MCMAHON, S. B. and M. KOLTZENBURG (2006). Wall and melzack's textbook of pain. Edinburgh: Elsevier/Churchill Livingstone **5th edn.** 442-501

- MCNALLY, G. P. (1999). Pain facilitatory circuits in the mammalian central nervous system: Their behavioral significance and role in morphine analgesic tolerance. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 23: 1059–1078.
- MCNAMARA, R., J. MANDEL-BREHM, D. M. BAUTISTA, J. SIEMENS, L. DERANIAN, M. ZHAO, J. HAYWARD, A. CHONG, D. JULIUS, M. MORAN and FANGER (2007). Trpa1 mediates formalin-induced pain. PNAS, MC104(33): 13525-13530.
- MENSE, S. and D. SIMONS (2001). Muscle pain. Understanding its nature, diagnosis, and treatment Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: 20-130
- MEOTTI, F. C., A. P. LUIZ, M. G. PIZZOLATTI, C. A. KASSUYA, J. B. CALIXTO and A. R. SANTOS (2006). Analysis of the antinociceptive effect of the flavonoid myricitrin: Evidence for a role of the l-arginine-nitric oxide and protein kinase c pathways. J Pharmacol Exp Ther **316**(2): 789-796.
- MERSKEY, H. (1994). Logic, truth and language in concepts of pain. Qual Life Res **3 Suppl 1**: S69-76.
- MILLAN, M. (2002). Descending control of pain. Progress in Neurobiology. **66**(6): 355-474.
- MILLAN, M. J. (1997). The role of descending noradrenergic and serotonergic pathways in the modulation of nociception: Focus on receptor multiplicity in the pharmacology of pain. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology, Dickenson and J-M. Besson. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. **130**: 385-446.
- MILLAN, M. J. (1999). The induction of pain: An integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57(1): 1-164.
- MILLAN, M. J. (2002). Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66(6): 355-474..
- MILLER, J. R. (2003). Graphpad version 4.0. Step-by-step examples. San Diego, CA, GraphPad Software Inc.:12-159.
- MIRANDA, H., F. SIERRALTA and G. PINARDI (2002). Neostigmine interactions with non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Br J Pharmacol(135): 1591 1597.
- MIRANDA, H. F., M. M. PUIG, C. DURSTELER, J. C. PRIETO and G. PINARDI (2007). Dexketoprofen-induced antinociception in animal models of acute pain: Synergy with morphine and paracetamol. Neuropharmacology 52(2): 291-296..

- MIRANDA, H. F., F. SIERRALTA and J. C. PRIETO (2009). Synergism between NSAIDS in the orofacial formalin test in mice. Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior 92: 314–318.
- MIZOGUCHI, H., C. WATANABE, A. YONEZAWA and S. SAKURADA (2009). New therapy for neuropathic pain. International Review of Neurobiology **85**: 249-260.
- MOALEM, G. and D. J. TRACEY (2006). Immune and inflammatory mechanisms in neuropathic pain. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. **51**: 240–264..
- MOTULSKY, H. J. and A. CHRISTOPOULOS (2003). Fitting model to biological data using linear and nonlinear regression. A practical guide to curve fitting. San Diego, CA, GraphPad Software Inc.:52-112
- NAGUIB, M. and T. L. YAKSH (1997). Characterization of muscarinic receptor subtypes that mediate antinociception in the rat spinal cord. Anesthesia and Analgesia **85**(4): 847-853.
- NATIONAL PHARMACEUTICAL COUNCIL (2001). Pain: Current understanding of assessment, management, and treatments. monograph of Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations: 1-91..
- NEUGEBAUER, V. (2007). Glutamate receptor ligands. Handb Exp Pharmacol(177): 217-249.
- NNODIM, J., A. EMEJULU, A. AMAECHI and E. NWOSUNJOKU (2011). Influence of xylopia aethiopica fruits on some hematological and biochemical profile. Al Ame en J Med S c i **4**(2): 191-196.
- NORTHOVER, B. J. and G. SUBRAMANIAN (1962). A study of possible mediators of inflammatory reactions in the mouse foot. Br J Pharmacol Chemother **18**: 346-355.
- OGAN, A. U. (1971). Isolation of cuminal from xylopia aethiopia. Phytochemistry 5:12-19
- OLSSON, Y. (1990). Microenvironment of the peripheral nervous system under normal and pathological conditions. Crit. Rev. Neurobiol. **5**: 265–311.
- ORWA, C., MUTUA A, KINDT R, JAMNADASS R and S. A. (2009). A tree reference and selection guide. Agroforestree Database **4.0**: 2-15.

- PANTHONG, A., P. NORKAEW, D. KANJANAPOTHI, T. TAESOTIKUL, N. ANANTACHOKE and V. REUTRAKUL (2007). Anti-inflammatory, analgesic and antipyretic activities of the extract of gamboge from garcinia hanburyi hook f. J Ethnopharmacol 111(2): 335-340.
- PARK, H.-J., I.-T. KIM, J.-H. WON, S.-H. JEONG, E.-Y. PARK, J.-H. NAM, J. CHOI and K.-T. LEE (2007). Anti-inflammatory activities of ent-16[alpha]h,17-hydroxy-kauran-19-oic acid isolated from the roots of siegesbeckia pubescens are due to the inhibition of inos and cox-2 expression in raw 264.7 macrophages via nf-[kappa]b inactivation. European Journal of Pharmacology **558**(1-3): 185-193.
- PARK, S. P., B. M. KIM, J. Y. KOO, H. CHO, C. H. LEE, M. KIM, H. S. NA and U. OH (2008). A tarantula spider toxin, gsmtx4, reduces mechanical and neuropathic pain. Pain 137(1): 208-217.
- PARSONS, C. G. and A. HERZ (1990). Peripheral opioid receptors mediating antinociception in inflammation. Evidence for activation by enkephalin-like opioid peptides after cold water swim stress. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 255(2): 795-802.
- PEDATA, F., A. M. PUGLIESE, A. M. SEBASTIÃO and J. A. RIBEIRO (2010). Adenosine a3 receptor signaling in the central nervous system. A3 adenosine receptors from cell biology to pharmacology and therapeutics. P. A. BOREA, Springer Netherlands: 165-188.
- PELISSIER, T., C. LAURIDO, V. KRAMER, A. HERNANDEZ and C. PAEILE (2003). Antinociceptive interactions of ketamine with morphine or methadone in mononeuropathic rats. Eur J Pharmacol 477(1): 23-28.
- PERTOVAARA, A. (2006). Noradrenergic pain modulation. Prog Neurobiol 80(2): 53-83.
- PIETROVSKI, E. F., K. A. ROSA, V. A. FACUNDO, K. RIOS, M. C. MARQUES and A. R. SANTOS (2006). Antinociceptive properties of the ethanolic extract and of the triterpene 3beta,6beta,16beta-trihidroxilup-20(29)-ene obtained from the flowers of combretum leprosum in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 83(1): 90-99.
- PINARDI, G., J. PRIETO and H. MIRANDA (2005). Analgesic synergism between intrathecal morphine and cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 82(1): 120-124.

- PRICE, D. D., D. J. MAYER, J. MAO and F. S. CARUSO (2000). Nmda-receptor antagonists and opioid receptor interactions as related to analgesia and tolerance. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management 19(1 Suppl): S7-11.
- PRICE, D. D., J. G. MCHAFFIE and M. A. LARSON (1989). Spatial summation of heatinduced pain: Influence of stimulus area and spatial separation of stimuli on perceived pain sensation and intensity and unpleasantness. J Neurophysiol. 62: 1270-1279.
- RADHAKRISHNAN, R., S. A. MOORE and K. A. SLUKA (2003). Unilateral carrageenan injection into muscle or joint induces chronic bilateral hyperalgesia in rats. Pain 104(3): 567-577.
- RADHAKRISHNAN, R. and K. A. SLUKA (2003). Spinal muscarinic receptors are activated during low or high frequency tens-induced antihyperalgesia in rats. Neuropharmacology 45(8): 111-119.
- RAJA, S. N., R. A. MEYER and J. N. CAMPBELL (1988). Peripheral mechanisms of somatic pain. Anesthesiology 68(4): 571-590.
- RANDALL, L. O. and J. J. SELITTO (1957). A method for measurement of analgesic activity on inflamed tissue. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther **111**(4): 409-419.
- REYES-GIBBY, C. C., P. K. MORROW, A. BUZDAR and S. SHETE (2009). Chemotherapyinduced peripheral neuropathy as a predictor of neuropathic pain in breast cancer patients previously treated with paclitaxel. Journal of Pain **10**(11): 1146-1150..
- RUSTOEN, T., A. STUBHAUG, I. EIDSMO, A. WESTHEIM, S. M. PAUL and C. MIASKOWSKI (2008). Pain and quality of life in hospitalized patients with heart failure. J Pain Symptom Manage **36**(5): 497-504.
- SAKURADA, T., KATSUMATA K, YOGO H, TAN-NO K, SAKURADA S and K. K. (1993). Antinociception induced by cp 96,345, a non-peptide nk-1 receptor antagonist, in the mouse formalin and capsaicin tests. Neurosci Lett. **51**(2):142-5.
- SAKURADA, T., K. KATSUMATA, K. TAN-NO, S. SAKURADA and K. KISARA (1992). The capsaicin test in mice for evaluating tachykinin antagonists in the spinal cord. Neuropharmacology **31**(12): 1279-1285..
- SANDBERGA, F., PERERA-IVARSSONA PREMILA and H. R. EL-SEEDI (2005). A swedish collection of medicinal plants from cameroon..

- SANDLER, S. G., W. TOBIN and E. S. HENDERSON (1969). Vincristine-induced neuropathy. A clinical study of fifty leukemic patients. Neurology **19**(4): 367-374.
- SANTA-CECILIA, F. V., F. C. VILELA, C. Q. DA ROCHA, D. F. DIAS, G. P. CAVALCANTE, L. A. FREITAS, M. H. DOS SANTOS and A. GIUSTI-PAIVA (2011). Anti-inflammatory and antinociceptive effects of garcinia brasiliensis. J Ethnopharmacol 133(2): 467-473.
- SAWYNOK, J. (1998). Adenosine receptor activation and nociception. Eur J Pharmacol **347**(1): 1-11.
- SCHAIBLE, H., R. SCHMIDT and W. WILLIS (1987). Enhancement of the responses of ascending tract cells in the cat spinal cord by acute inflammation of the knee joint. . Exp Brain Res 66: 489-499.
- SCHIM, J. D. (2009). Neuropathic pain: Diagnosis and new treatment options. 22nd U.S. Psychiatric and Mental Health Congress..
- SCHIM, J. D. and P. STANG (2004). Overview of pain management. Pain Pract **4 Suppl 1**: S4-18.
- SCHIM, J. D. and P. STANG (2004). Overview of pain management. Pain Practice 4(1S): 4-18.
- SELTZER, Z., R. DUBNER and Y. SHIR (1990). A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. Pain **43**(2): 205-218.
- SHIVKAR, M. Y. and L. V. KUMAR (203). Histamine mediates the proinflammatory effect of latex of calotropis procera in rats. Taylor & Francis **12**(5): 299-302.
- SIAU, C., W. XIAO and G. J. BENNETT (2006). Paclitaxel- and vincristine-evoked painful peripheral neuropathies: Loss of epidermal innervation and activation of langerhans cells. Exp Neurol 201(2): 507-514.
- SIAU, C., W. XIAO and J. G. BENNETT (2006). Paclitaxel- and vincristine-evoked painful peripheral neuropathies: Loss of epidermal innervation and activation of langerhans cells. Experimental Neurology 201: 176-202.
- SKYBA, D. A., T. L. LISI and K. A. SLUKA (2005). Excitatory amino acid concentrations increase in the spinal cord dorsal horn after repeated intramuscular injection of acidic saline. Pain 119(1-3): 142-149.
- SKYBA, D. A., R. RADHAKRISHNAN and K. A. SLUKA (2005). Characterization of a method for measuring primary hyperalgesia of deep somatic tissue. J Pain 6(1): 41-47.
- SLUKA, K. (2002). Stimulation of deep somatic tissue with capsaicin produces longlasting mechanical allodynia and heat hypoalgesia that depends on early activation of the camp pathway. J Neurosci 22: 5687-5693.
- SLUKA, K., A. KALRA and S. MOORE (2001). Unilateral intramuscular injections of acidic saline produce a bilateral, long-lasting hyperalgesia. Muscle Nerve 24: 37-46.
- SLUKA, K. A., D. A. SKYBA, R. RADHAKRISHNAN, B. J. LEEPER and A. WRIGHT (2006). Joint mobilization reduces hyperalgesia associated with chronic muscle and joint inflammation in rats. J Pain 7(8): 602-607.
- SMITH, T. W., P. BUCHAN, D. N. PARSONS and S. WILKINSON (1982). Peripheral antinociceptive effects of n-methyl morphine. Life Sci **31**(12-13): 1205-1208.
- SOFOWARA, E. A. (1978). Medical plants and traditional medicine in africa. . The pitman Press, Bath, Avon.: 314-318.
- SOMOVA, L. I., F. O. SHODE, K. MOODLEY and Y. GOVENDER (2001). Cardiovascular and diuretic activity of kaurene derivatives of xylopia aethiopica and alepidea amatymbica. J Ethnopharmacol **77**(2-3): 165-174.
- SOSA-SEQUERA, M. C., O. SUAREZ and N. L. DALO (2010). Kaurenic acid: An in vivo experimental study of its anti-inflammatory and antipyretic effects. Indian J Pharmacol **42**(5): 293-296.
- STEIN, C., M. J. MILLAN, T. S. SHIPPENBERG, K. PETER and A. HERZ (1989). Peripheral opioid receptors mediating antinociception in inflammation. Evidence for involvement of mu, delta and kappa receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 248(3): 1269-1275.
- STEIN, C., M. J. MILLAN, A. YASSOURIDIS and A. HERZ (1988). Antinociceptive effects of mu- and kappa-agonists in inflammation are enhanced by a peripheral opioid receptor-specific mechanism. Eur J Pharmacol 155(3): 255-264.
- STOHR, T., E. KRAUSE and N. SELVE (2006). Lacosamide displays potent antinociceptive effects in animal models for inflammatory pain. Eur J Pain 10(3): 241-249.

- SUH, H. W., D. K. SONG and Y. H. KIM (1997). Differential effects of adenosine receptor antagonists injected intrathecally on antinociception induced by morphine and beta-endorphin administered intracerebroventricularly in the mouse. Neuropeptides 31(4): 339-344.
- TALLARIDA, J. R. (2000). Drug synergism and dose-effect analysis. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton London New York Washington, D.C.: 57-76.
- TALLARIDA, R. J. (2006). An overview of drug combination analysis with isobolograms.J Pharmacol Exp Ther **319**(1): 1-7..
- TALLARIDA, R. J., D. J. STONE, JR., J. D. MCCARY and R. B. RAFFA (1999). Response surface analysis of synergism between morphine and clonidine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289(1): 8-13.
- TANG, L., Y. CHEN, Z. CHEN, P. M. BLUMBERG, A. P. KOZIKOWSKI and Z. J. WANG (2007). Antinociceptive pharmacology of n-(4-chlorobenzyl)-n'-(4-hydroxy-3-iodo-5-methoxybenzyl) thiourea, a high-affinity competitive antagonist of the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther **321**(2): 791-798.
- TANG, L., P. K. SHUKLA, L. X. WANG and Z. J. WANG (2006). Reversal of morphine antinociceptive tolerance and dependence by the acute supraspinal inhibition of ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase ii. J Pharmacol Exp Ther **317**(2): 901-909.
- TATSADJIEU, L. N., J. J. ESSIA NGANG, M. B. NGASSOUM and F. X. ETOA (2003). Antibacterial and antifungal activity of xylopia aethiopica, monodora myristica, zanthoxylum xanthoxyloi;des and zanthoxylum leprieurii from cameroon. Fitoterapia 74(5): 469-472.
- THIBAULT, K., B. ELISABETH, D. SOPHIE, F. Z. CLAUDE, R. BERNARD and C. BERNARD (2008). Antinociceptive and anti-allodynic effects of oral pl37, a complete inhibitor of enkephalin-catabolizing enzymes, in a rat model of peripheral neuropathic pain induced by vincristine. Eur J Pharmacol 600(1-3): 71-77.
- TILLU, D. V., G. F. GEBHART and K. A. SLUKA (2008). Descending facilitatory pathways from the rvm initiate and maintain bilateral hyperalgesia after muscle insult. Pain 136(3): 331-339.

- TJOLSEN, A., O. G. BERGE, S. HUNSKAAR, J. H. ROSLAND and K. HOLE (1992). The formalin test: An evaluation of the method. Pain **51**(1): 5-17.
- TRONGSAKUL, S., A. PANTHONG, D. KANJANAPOTHI and T. TAESOTIKUL (2003). The analgesic, antipyretic and anti-inflammatory activity of diospyros variegata kruz. J Ethnopharmacol 85(2-3): 221-225.
- TZSCHENTKE, T. M. and W. J. SCHMIDT (1996). Morphine-induced catalepsy is augmented by nmda receptor antagonists, but is partially attenuated by an ampa receptor antagonist. Eur J Pharmacol **295**(2-3): 137-146.
- URBAN, M., P. ZAHN and G. GEBHRAT (1999). Descending facilitatory influences from the rostral medial medulla mediate secondary, but not primary hyperalgesia in the rat. Neuroscience **90**: 349-352.
- UZODIKE, E. B. and I. N. ONUOHA (2010). The effect of *x. Aethiopica* on intraocular pressure. JNOA **16**: 22-25.
- VASKO, M. R., W. B. CAMPBELL and K. J. WAITE (1994). Prostaglandin e2 enhances bradykinin-stimulated release of neuropeptides from rat sensory neurons in culture. J Neurosci 14: 4987-4997.
- VILLARREAL, C. F., M. I. FUNEZ, F. FIGUEIREDO, F. Q. CUNHA, C. A. PARADA and S. H. FERREIRA (2009). Acute and persistent nociceptive paw sensitisation in mice: The involvement of distinct signalling pathways. Life Sciences 85(23-26): 822-829.
- VILLETTI, G., M. BERGAMASCHI, F. BASSANI, P. T. BOLZONI, M. MAIORINO, C. PIETRA, I. RONDELLI, P. CHAMIOT-CLERC, M. SIMONATO and M. BARBIERI (2003). Antinociceptive activity of the n-methyl-d-aspartate receptor antagonist n-(2indanyl)-glycinamide hydrochloride (chf3381) in experimental models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther **306**(2): 804-814.
- VISSERS, C. P. K., F. GEENEN, R. BIERMANS and F. T. MEERT (2006). Pharmacological correlation between the formalin test and the neuropathic pain behavior in different species with chronic constriction injury. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 84(3): 479-486.
- VISSERS, K. C., F. GEENEN, R. BIERMANS and T. F. MEERT (2006). Pharmacological correlation between the formalin test and the neuropathic pain behavior in different species with chronic constriction injury. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 84(3): 479-486.

- VIVANCOS, G. G., C. A. PARADA and S. H. FERREIRA (2003). Opposite nociceptive effects of the arginine/no/cgmp pathway stimulation in dermal and subcutaneous tissues. British Journal of Pharmacology 138(7): 1351-1357.
- WATKINS, L. R., R. M. HUTCHINSON, D. E. MILLIGAN and M. F. M. STEVEN (2007). "Listening" and "talking" to neurons: Implications of immune activation for pain control and increasing the efficacy of opioids. Brain Research Reviews 56: 148-169.
- WESS, J., A. DUTTAROY, J. GOMEZA, W. ZHANG, M. YAMADA, C. C. FELDER, N. BERNARDINI and P. W. REEH (2003). Muscarinic receptor subtypes mediating central and peripheral antinociception studied with muscarinic receptor knockout mice: A review. Life Sciences 72(18-19): 2047-2054.
- WILHELM, E. A., C. R. JESSE, C. F. BORTOLATTO, C. W. NOGUEIRA and L. SAVEGNAGO (2009). Antinociceptive and anti-allodynic effects of 3-alkynyl selenophene on different models of nociception in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 93(4): 419-425.
- WILSON, S. G., E. J. CHESLER, H. HAIN, A. J. RANKIN, J. Z. SCHWARZ, S. B. CALL, M. R. MURRAY, E. E. WEST, C. TEUSCHER, S. RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, J. K. BELKNAP and J. S. MOGIL (2002). Identification of quantitative trait loci for chemical/inflammatory nociception in mice. Pain 96(3): 385-391..
- WINTER, C. A. and E. A. RISLEY, NUSS, G.W. (1962). Carrageenan-induced edema in hind paw of the rat as an assay for anti-inflammatory drugs. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 111: 544–547.
- WOODE, E. and W. K. ABOTSI (2011). Antinociceptive effect of an ethanolic extract of the aerial parts of hilleria latifolia (lam.) h. Walt. (phytolaccaceae). J Pharm Bioallied Sci 3(3): 384-396.
- WOODE, E., E. BOAKYE-GYASI, G. AINOOSON, C. ANSAH and M. DUWIEJUA (2009). Anti-nociceptive effects and the mechanism of palisota hirsuta k. Schum. Leaf extract in murine models. Int. J. Pharmacol 5: 101-113.
- WOODE, E., R. A. POKU, G. K. AINOOSON, E. BOAKYE-GYASI, W. K. M. ABOTSI, T. L. MENSAH and A. K. AMOH-BARIMAH (2009). An evaluation of the antiinflammatory, antipyretic and antinociceptive effects of ficus exasperata (vahl) leaf extract. J Pharmaco Toxicol. 4(4): 138-151..

- WOOLF, C. J. and M. FITZGERALD (1983). The properties of neurones recorded in the superficial dorsal horn of the rat spinal cord. J Comp Neurol **221**(3): 313-328.
- YAJIMA, Y., M. NARITA, A. USUI, C. KANEKO, M. MIYATAKE, M. NARITA, T. YAMAGUCHI, H. TAMAKI, H. WACHI, Y. SEYAMA and T. SUZUKI (2005). Direct evidence for the involvement of brain derived neurotrophic factor in the development of a neuropathic pain-like state in mice. J. Neurochem **93**: 584-594.
- YANG, L. C., M. MARSALA and T. L. YAKSH (1996). Characterization of time course of spinal amino acids, citrulline and pge2 release after carrageenanlkaolin-induced knee joint inflammation: A chronic microdialysis study. Pain 67: 345-354.
- YUN-KYOUNG YIM, B.-C. A., DONK-SUK PARK, SUNK-KEEL KANG, CHANG-HWAN KIM, YUN-HO LEE, DO-YOUNG CHOI (1999). Review of the formalin test to study analgesic effec and the m echanism of analgesic effect Talantae Journal of Korea acupunture on Moxibustion Society 16(4) 12-22
- ZHANG, W., B. SLUSHER, Y. MURAKAWA, K. M. WOZNIAK, T. TSUKAMOTO, P. F. JACKSON and A. A. SIMA (2002). Gcpii (naaladase) inhibition prevents long-term diabetic neuropathy in type 1 diabetic bb/wor rats. J. Neurol. Sci. 194: 194, 121– 128.
- ZHANG, X. (2000). General guidelines for methodologies on research and evaluation of traditional medicine, Department of Essential Drugs and Medicines Policy (EDM) World Health Organisation manual: 1-80.

APPENDIX

PREPARATION OF CARRAGEENAN SUSPENSION

A 2% carrageenan suspension was prepared by sprinkling small amounts of the powder (200 mg) evenly over the surface of 10 ml of 0.9% NaCl solution and left to soak between additions. It was then left for 2-3 hours before use.

PREPARATION OF PHOSPHATE BUFFER SALINE

One tablet of phosphate buffer saline was dissolved in 400 ml of distilled water to obtain 1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.4.

PREPARATION OF STOCK SOLUTION OF PROSTAGLANDIN E2

A stock solution of 1 M prostaglandin- E_2 was prepared by disolving 1 mg of prostaglandin - E_2 in 1 ml of PBS and stored at -20 ° C. Aliqoute of 0.5 ml of this solution was taken and diluted to 23 ml to obtain a 1 nM/ 0.02 ml solution.

PREPARATION OF STOCK SOLUTION OF BRADYKININ

A stock solution of 1 M bradykinin was prepared by dissolving 0.5 mg of bradykinin in 5 ml of PBS and stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C. Aliqoute of 0.5 ml of this solution was taken and diluted to 23 ml to obtain a 1 nM/ 0.02 ml solution.

PREPARATION OF EMULSION OF EXTRACT AND XYLOPIC ACID.

Emulsion of the extract and xylopic acid were prepared by tritrating the acid or extract into fine powder. This was followed by the addition of 0.2 ml tween 80 and tritrated further. Distilled water was then added while tritrating till an emulsion was formed.